s

o wnd

{3 &

i W P
RRSROVVA

e

~
T4

207
[ N

-

S

BKeE

oy
-

RN

Received SEC

=
e
-

3

007

t Corporation 2

ica

)

QuakerChem




Corporate Profile
Quaker Chemical Corporation is a leading global provider of process chemicals, chemical specialties,

. 'sérﬁée's,,ahﬂiﬁﬂ{diéql expertise to a wide range of industries—including steel, automotive, mining,
aerospéce, tube and pipe, coatings, and construction materials. Our products, technical solutions, and
chemical management services enhance our customers’ processes, improve their product quality, and

lower their costs. Quaker’s headquarters is located near Philadelphia in Conshohocken, Pennsylvania.

Financial Highlights

{In thousands except per share data) 2007 2006 2005
Net5aleS. . irerierrniermreerrniesreerereens . $545,597 $460,451 $424,033
Gross MArgin.....c..cormeveceerrecescreerreenmecreernaes 167,536 142,601 129,814
Operating iNCome ......oeovvvrersimsiiveisesnninnns 25,207 21,632 3,154
Net INCOMIE w.vvireereireererr v esseeneas 15,471 11,667 1,688
Per share data;
Net income basic..... . $1.55 $1.19 $0.17
Net income diluted. .- 1.53 1.18 0.17
Dividends declared . . 0.86 0.86 0.86
Dividends paid......... . 0.86 0.86 0.86
(In thousands) 2007 2006 2005
TOtAl ASSELS ettt annas $399,049 $357,382 $231,965
Working capital ..o 107,150 96,062 79,105
Shareholders’ equity 130,393 110,831 105,907
Number of shares outstanding ...........oeevveen 10,147 9,926 9,726

Certifications: Ronald ], Naples and Mark A. Featherstone have provided certifications to the Securities and Exchange Commission as required by Section 302
of the Sarbancs-Onxdey Act of 2002. These certifications are included as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 10 the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007,

As required by the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), on June 6, 2007, Ronald |. Naples submirzed his annual cenification to the NYSE thar stated he was not awarc
of any vicladon by the Company of the NYSE corporate governance listing standards.
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Dear Fellow Shareholders:

We had called together about 70 of
our top executives and managers
from around the world. It was August,
1999, and we had decided to remake
the Company's entire organizational
structure and approach o the world.
We saw the world changing around us and decided

that to create the unique competitive differentiation we
wanted and to serve our customers uniquely, we needed
to globally integrate all of our worldwide knowledge
and customer service capability 1o be delivered without

borders as a constraint.

Character is destiny. This mecting had far-reaching
and dramatic effects on our Company. Out of it came the
Destination Statement {which you'li find on page 1 of
this report) that s still our faithful compass and constant
touchstone oday. In the years since, we've been working
consistently to perfect what this calls on us to be, because
we know our destiny is directly tied to how we face our
world as a single worldwide company.

I note this piece of history because in the course of
my charge to the Company that day, in order to make clear
to people the profoundly transformative nature of our
undertaking, I went through the following litany (adapted
from and with apologics Lo the “Sayings of Buddha™):
Thoughts become words; words become actions; actions

become habit; habit becomes character; and character is

N

A Message from the Chairman

clestiny. I particularly focused on the
end of this—character is destiny—
because that day was precisely about
changing our corporate character,
that is, who we are and how we
behave in the Company and as a
Company. Changing our character was essential to
operating in a truly global way as we were determined to
do, so that we operated in many places as if we were in
one place with common purpose and common destiny.
All that we have done since has been focused on building
and reinforcing that corporate character.

By character [ mean our impulse to action, to make live
what we think is important in the Company. Indeed, this
report takes a closer look at elements of our character woday.
This is not just about what we think or believe, but about
how we actually operate in the Company. Qur Quaker Code
{see the inside back cover) articulates values to state clearly
what we stand for. But these have no meaning unless

translated into action. 2007 demonstrates the power of that.

Choices reveal character. So what kind of year was
20077 It was a year that saw us exceed half a billion
dollars in sales for the first time, by a lot. The year
included both the highest sales month and highest sales
quarter in the Company’s history; close to the highest
net income ever; the highest EBITDA by a considerable

margin. Operations generated almost $28 million in cash,
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pardy driven by dramatic improvement in working capital
even in the face of an $85 million sales increase. Our
balance sheet benefited from about §12 million less net
debt with a much improved net debt-to-total-capital ratio
and an adjusted EBITDA leverage ratio below two times.
Our sales were up over 18% and reported profit was up
almost 33%. Quite a year financially, and vet...

And yet, the real story of the year for me, and the
promise for you, is what this dramatically demonstrates
about the strength of Company character we've been
working hard to build. That's all important because
character will prevail long after the specifics of 2007 are
forgotten, and it’s character that will take us where we
want to go and allow us 1o create our future.

This is particularly worthy of note as we look back on
2007 and the few years that preceded it. It was character
that enabled us 10 weather the tough years of 2004 and
2005 and to achieve as we did in 2006 and 2007. The
unhappiness of these former two years was largely driven
by external events—particularly the unprecedented
price volatility of crude oil, derivatives of which are
among our largest raw material inputs. There will always
be things over which one has no control. But how one
reacts is always in one's power and cantrol, and it is in

these choices that character is revealed.

The constant quandary of the wish. The success of
2006 and 2007 was created out of the troubles of 2004
and 2005 by: being willing to take a cold, clear-cyed look
at realities; being unafraid to make the changes required
and having the tenacity to assure that these created progress;
having the courage to stick to fundamental principles,
even when it would have served shori-term interests 1o
walk away; being willing to challenge ourselves with high
expectations and demanding goals; holding ourselves
accountable; being pragmatic enough to deal with harsh
facts as we found them, but not surrendering the dream

of what we had chosen to be as a company.

N

For me, the heart of this Company character is
captured in something I call the Quandary of the Wish.
1U’s been my unspoken guide for a long time, and what
we've become as a company flows from it and the belief,
hard work, and commitment of Quaker people all over
the world. It’s a quandary because it speaks of an inherent
contradiction that all organizations must grapple with to
create long-term success. To succeed, we must deal with
the world as we find it, not as we wish it were. But to
know what is progress, we also must be unafraid to say
what we wish for, unconstrained by the limitadons of cwr-
rent reality. In this quandary lies the root of our ability to
act today in a way that will create the tomorrow we want.

AL Quaker we talk every day about the wish that’s
embodied in our Destination and about the realites we
have to deal with to have this wish turn into the fulure
we choose. We've come a long way in the size and global
reach of our Company, in how we relate to the world of
our customers, in how we collaborate and share common
cause in the Company around the globe. This is what has
made us the Company we've become, and this is what
will sustain us in the future. And that fuwure is brighter
than ever. We are poised today to create a future of new
opportunity, new promise, and lives filled with new growth.

On behalf of Quaker, I send thanks to all of you,
shareholders and associates alike, for your suppoert and
loyalty to our Company on iis journey, It is the Company
character we've built on this journey that is the rock on

which our future stands.
Best regards.

Sincerely,

Ronald J. Naples
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

/
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Purposetully.

Demonstrating our value every day.




“It’s not about heroics. It's about day-to-day effort

and the determination

to move our customers forward.”

It starts with confidence in what we do and in our ability
to create solutions. That’s how Quaker people go abowt
their work every day, focused on a clear purpose—creating
tangible value that carries through to a customer’s bottorn
line. This approach didn’t come about by accident. We're
constantly looking for beuwer ways to deliver resulis that

customers can sce and measure.

A roadmap to a better bottom line. Lscalating
competitive pressures force Quaker's customers to continu-
ally improve manufacturing cfficiency, extend equipment
life, reduce energy consumption and waste—all while
increasing product quality. Although Quaker’s advantaged
products can be significantly more expensive, we demon-

strate that we can deliver value

in customers’ products aned
financial resulis—that far ouiweighs direct costs. By sharing
our most relevant data, case histories, and experience,
we're turning companies that focus on low-priced materials
into producers that take a forward-thinking, total-operating-
cost view and embrace our value proposition.

For example, a long-time steel customer insisted that
we keep process fluid prices low even as our raw material
costs rose vear after vear. We proposed a solution from a
different dircction: working together with the customer
to improve their total operating costs. Confident that we
could save them as much as $1.1 million the first year,
Quaker associates reviewed every process methodically—
testing samples, collecting data, and running trials. We
recommended a number of improvemenis and helped
implement them. In the first vear, we exceeded the cus-
tomer’s savings target and inproved process elficiency,
while we simultaneously improved our margins despite

rising raw material costs.

A value equation driven by service. Customers get

the most out of Quaker’s process knowledge and advanced

technology, with our “boots-on-the-ground” approach.
Service—especially Chemical Management Services {CMS)
—is key to the value we deliver—and to our revenue stream.
We now have 76 CMS sites, mostly with global automakers.
A CMS contract puts Quaker in charge of virtually
all the chemicals used in a customer’s operation, whether
a single line or an entire plant, Our compensation, in
part, comes from the value we produce—in savings and
improvements. Intimate insight into our customers’ needs
gives us an advantage in keeping and winning business.
In 200607, we retained every CMS contract up for renewal
in North America. In 2007, we continued building our
CMS presence in China and Brazil, began our first CMS
relationship in Mexico, and we’re continuing to expand

into the steel sector with addidonal sites in the U5,

A powerful new perspective. Providing value is an
ongoing purpose, a basic building block for Quaker’s
success. We look at each of our businesses from different
angles, bringing new approaches and ncw solutions,
When we assembled our tube and pipe group, we set
out to be the only truly global supplier, supporting all
the manufacturing processes and offering the highest
possible level of service. In many cases, we assign global
key account managers to provide customers a single point
of contact. The goal is to provide our customer’s senior
management with information compiled from all their
sites worldwide. This helps customers achieve consistent
product standards everywhere in the world, and helps
them he competitive globally—not just locally. Now, when
our glohal customers grow, we do woo. In 2007, we gained
six new welded-tube plants in the U.S. and Canada from
a global customer who trusts in our approach. Our tube
and pipe strategy has brought us strong revenue growth—

more than 20% year over year.

/
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Quaker operates on a global scale, but refatively speaking,
we're a small company. Some of our competitors and
even more of our customers are global giants. Our success
requires ingenuity and cfficiency in how we allocate all

our resources: financial, human, and technological.

Discipline for flexibility when and where we need it.
It starts with our strong balance sheet, giving us the power
we need to seize opportunities. Whether we’re making a
strategic acquisition, teaming with a promising partner,

or investing in a growing market—it’s always with an eye
towards improving economics and getting the most out of
our resources. As an example, in 2007, we implemented a
number of initiatives—including improved measures for
monitoring capital worldwide—that significantly improved
our use of working capital and our cash flow.

We are continuing to make improvements in areas
where we have manufacturing facilities. In the booming
China market, for example, we are identifying local
raw material suppliers to reduce imports. This, in turn,
helps reduce foreign exchange impacts and frees up

working capital.

Ingenuity in using technology to create growth.
Careful, creative management of our technologies also
brings us opportunities. We get more value from our
R&D investments by transferring technology to new
applications, often in new industry sectors. Qur targeted
initiatives in coatings are one such area that is growing
fast—18% in 2007.

One reason for this growth is our development and
marketing of ultraviolet (UV} coatings technology. In our
first commercial application, a UV pipe coating, we saw
that these coatings brought customers significant savings

over traditional coatings because of dramatically faster

Cure time.

“What drives our business is how well we

develop, execute, and deliver on the litde things,

And each one is critical.”

The Quaker coatings team realized they could
extend our UV coatings technology Lo any metal or
concrete surface that needs a protective coating. So
our list of potential applications is long—{rom wire and
package strapping to cans and concrete—and brings us
into many new industry segments. In 2006, we introduced
a UV floor coating in the U.S. A key customer interested
in reducing plant downtime while recoating floors
helped us with further product development and trials.
Now, that customer is using our floor coatings at nine
manufacturing plants. In Europe, we are building a
distribution network of experienced floor contractors

to launch the product there in 2008,

Creativity in finding productive partnerships.
Teaming with partners helps us better penetrate smaller,
more diffused markets. In our growing Value Added
Representatives (VAR) program, we select high-qualiry
VARs and train them on our products and on attitude:
selling value, not price. The insight of our VARs helps
us grow in locations where local presence and long-term
relationships are key to winning business, VARs now account
for 20% of our metalworking sales in North America and
Europe; we doubled our VAR business in China in 2007.
To capitalize on promising technologies or markets,
we think creatively, We won't hesitate to leverage existing
relationships, such as collaborating with a customer for
R&D, or to enter into a partnership to scize an exciting
opportunity. For example, new European Union
regulations banned Chromium 6—traditionally used in
rust protection coatings for galvanized steel. Quickly,
we identified a company with alternative technologies,
partnered with them on development, and used our
global sales network to bring new solutions to marker—

and to our steel customers.

/

For more information, go to www.quakerchem.com
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Growth is adventure. It comes out of

tackling big challenges, paticntly winning trust

and, sometimes, journeys to remote places.

We continually find ways to reach deeper into our core
customer sectors—steel, auto, and metalworking—to
capitalize on strong relationships and uncover new sources
of revenue, Long-term success with large customers gives
us the position o find more ways to deliver value. In fact,
this tenacious attitude—constantly seeking to do more,

and better—drives growth in all our businesses.

A non-stop approach to booming markets.

Our relentless auitude is paying off in large, developing
markets, such as Brazil, Russia, India, and China. From the
older plants needing process and materials improvements
to the completely new, state-of-the-art facilities, we go
“door to door” to demonstrate our expertise and prove
that we can be a critical partner.

In China, Quaker’s revenues have tripled from 2004 10
2007 as a result of this one-by-onc approach. Similarly, in
India, where we forged a strong joint venture relationship,
we've seen our sales increase dramatically over the past 10
years. And, we are well positioned to take advantage of the
recent and future economic growth there. We currently
have mare than a 65% share in steel, and have succeeded
in establishing solid relationships in metalworking. It's a
winning combination: local presence and understanding
combined with global supportand knowledge,

Persistence is critical with bigger customenrs, too.

In certain cases, it can take years 1o displace an entrenched
competitor at a major manufacturer, We need to demon-
strate time and again what we can do for their plant. We
show them data from similar plants, compare it to their
own results, and show how we can do things beuwer. When
we get the business, we work hard to make ourselves
indispensable. So now, when contract renewals come,
they don’t ask, “Who else should we consider?” They look

to us and say, “How can we improve even more?”

\

Long-standing relationships yield new oppor-
tunities. Quaker's long and strong history with quality
original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) is another
advantage. In our {luid power business, a strong recommen-
dation from an OEM to a U.S. longwall mining company
gave us an entrée to compele against an existing supplicr
with virtually 100% market share. The OEM believed we
had a superior product, but to win the business, we had
to convince the customer that Quaker would provide
better delivery and service, help them extend equipment
life, and reduce energy consumption and waste. In 2007,
we won the business. And now we're gaining business in

other parts of the world with the same approach.

A culture fueled by consistent knowledge sharing.
Innovative and advantaged products grow out of our
immense knowledge and experience—shared continually
through global networking. From a chemist in Furope,

to a CMS specialist in Brazil, 10 an R&D team in the U.S,,
we have the unique expertise and tools to solve specilic
customer problems—and further demonstrate value.

We use standard tests and measures so our experts always
speak the same language and avoid duplication,

We don’t limit knowledge by its location in Qﬁaker.
For example, when a key European metalworking customer
cxperienced trouble with the aluminum chips that resulted
as a by-product of their machining processes, Quaker
created a dedicated 1eam of research chemists and U.S.
development experts to tackle the problem. Rather than
tinker with the formulation, they started from scraich,
inventing new processes that solved the persistent problems
and strengthened the customer relationship. Now we're
extending the benefits of this success, keeping this creative

team together to troubleshoot issues for other customers.

For more information, go to www,.quakerchem.com

)
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ourageously.

Confronting realities en route to our Destination.




We fervently believe in what we do and in the superior
value of Quaker products, services, and knowledge,
We pursue opportunities that may seem like long shots

to some, but our confidence drives us forward.

Value to stand by for the long haul. At times our
strong convictions clash with customers’ priorities, but we
stand by our approach. Such a tension occurred two years
ago with one of our largest customers. In two plants in
Eastern Europe, Quaker was replaced by the customer’s
global purchasing team who imposed a heightened focus
on the chemical budget. Subsequently, those plants
experienced persistent processing problems. We knew
because we had maintained close contact with local plant
managers. In fact, the local plant managers convinced
their company's global executives to give Quaker another
chance. We committed our people for a three-month trial,
with no guarantee of getting the business. It was a risk, but
we had faith in our products and our value. A successful
trial convinced the executives that Quaker’s total value—
in streamlined processes and higher quality finished

product—more than compensated for our higher costs.

A measured approach to raw material costs.
Continued price increases in our raw materials present
significant challenges, but a multi-pronged approach
mitigates, in part, the impact to Quaker’s bottom line. In
purchasing, we seek out reliable suppliers that work with
us on timing and intensity of price changes. Becausc we
purchase glohally, we can actively seek out new suppliers
where prices and exchange rates are advantageous. In
R&D, we are developing new formulations that use less
higher-priced materials and are searching for new raw
malterials to replace more costly ones. Whenever possible,

we consolidate the number of different formulations to

NS

“What we did required guts.

Most other suppliers would have

simply given up.”

simplify our inventory and apply new technologies to
improve long-standing formulations,

Of course, strong relationships with both suppliers
and customers are vital to these efforts. By constantly
demonstrating value and focusing on total operating costs,
we convince customers to share price fluctuations over
time. Here's one measure of the efficacy of these efforts:
in the face of a significant increase in raw material prices
since 2004, Quaker has been able to keep gross margin
as a percentage of sales relatively stable—even with

ongoing and unprecedented price increases in materials,

Future solutions now. We're confronting the realities
of rising material costs, but we're also boldly forging a path
to the future by actively developing the next generation of
lubricants and other technologies that have the potential
to transform the way our customers run their processes.

Environmental issues also will—and should—play an
increasingly important role in the future of the industries
we serve. Quaker is out in front in this area: we're a leader
in eliminating VOCs and developing water-based products,
with more advances coming from our labs all the time.

It takes courage to invest in new technologies, new
channels, and new regions. And we have it. We successfully
build on our experience, again and again. We continue
to create for ourselves a place in geographic regions where
economies are expanding, such as Russia and India. And
we continue to seek out channels where we can become
indispensable to our customers’ business, for example,
lightweight marine coatings and aerospace maskanis.

We’re facing formidable challenges in the global
economy and in our primary markets. But we’re moving
ahead with confidence—in our products, our expertise, and
our relationships, Quaker is stronger than at any time in our

history. We have the power to create the future we want.

/
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An At-a-Glance Guide to Qur Progress

Ultimate Destination

Progress in 2007

“A single worldwide company that delivers
everywhere the best from anywhere...”

& Seamless use of knowledge across all geographic

Held global technology exchange meetings, product
manager forums for steel and metalworking, and global
business unit meetings 1o strengthen surategic initiatives and
build a common purpose

o

— and echnological boundaries w Leveraged business relationships in Europe and US. for
I g m Thoroughly imegrated operations for global reporting, new opportunities in South America and China
= customer information, competitive information, & Coordinated with Japanese partner on key automotive
[da] H § e B
> - ind control initiative
<t
— @ a Expanded business development into new regions, including
:() S Poland, Ukruine, Czech Republic, Romania, Russia and the
o Middle East; extended global reach to smaller metalworking
<< customers through value added representatives
a Developed new and existing products and formulations 1o
support customers through R&D; wransferred technology
among all regions
“ [A COIUPH“)’] that creates value in everv ® Mainwined and grew current business with metalworking
;
process we serve, and that every customer and steel customers; strengthened position in faster-growing
W will find indispensable...” markets worldwide
o u Experienced growth of Chemical Management Services
— 1 T e il 1mi - 3 . . . . .
< 8 A unique sales offering combining advantaged products business adeding sites in North America, Europe, South
= - Sen Lo - a5 i SLET - - . - . A .
= > with application and process expertise for measurable America, and China; gained first CMS site in Mexico
— o= improvements in cost, productivity, and quality . . 3 . ,
[ I w Achicved doubleligit growth in fluid power, floor coatings,
- = o Compensation based on improvements in processes Epmar coatings and tube & pipe businesses
= = and linished products, rather than on costs of products A
[ = . ! ’ ’ P m Achieved strong growth in AC Products, Inc. subsidiary
w3 and services . ! -
= supplying chemical milling maskants to global acrospace
Y o Sharing of technical knowledge with customers— industry as only fulline supplier
including joint product development o . A . .
Bl ! P m Building can husiness in U.S., Europe, Middle East, and
Asia by offering expanded product porifolio
“We will be known widely for our growth 8 Reported record sales of $545.6 million: up 18.5% from
[do] and financial success...” 2006; more than doubled since 1999, the vear our global
g business unit organization established
4= ::_: B Consivient, significant sales and earnings growth 0 Grew earings per share 30% compared to 2006, from
= w»n a Consistent, significant increases in returns $1.18 1o $1.53 per diluted share
= > o Consistent, significant rewards for sharcholders 35 consecutive years of dividends to shareholders:
| ‘
<t <_I‘ o Personal growth and satisfaction for Quaker assockates announced dividend increase to $.23 per share from 3.215
== in funuary 2008
W
o o o Generated $27.5 mitlon in operating cash flow
<t
=z
e
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Corporate Headquarters
Quaker Chemical Corporation

One Quaker Park

901 Hector Street

Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428
Phone: 610-832-4000

Fax: 610-832-8682

Web site: wuno.quakerchem. com

Quaker Chemical Corporation

Wilmington, Delaware

North American Operations
Quaker Chemical Corporation

* Conshohocken, Pennsylvania

¢ Detroit, Michigan

* Middletown, Ohio

AC Products, Inc.
Macentia, California
Epmar Corporation

Santa Fe Springs, California

Q_2 Technologics, LLC
Conroe, Texas (70% owned)

Quaker Chemical Canada Limited

Toronto, Ontario

Monterrey, Mexico (40% owned)

H.L. Blachford, Ltd.
Mississauga, Ontario

Licensee

TecniQuimia Mexicana S.A. de C.V.

Global Operations

European Operations
Quaker Chemical B.V.
Uithoorn, The Netherlands

Quaker Chemical Europe BV,

Uithoorn, The Netherlands

Quaker Chemical Limited

Stonehouse, England

Quaker Chemical S.A.

Villeneuve la Garenne, France

Quaker Chemical, S.A.

Barcelona, Spain

Quaker Chemical Hungary Ltd.
Budapest, Hungary

Ouaker ltalia Sl

Tradate, laly

South African Operations
Quaker Chemical

South Africa (Prv.) Lid.

Jacobs, Republic of South Africa
(51 % ovwned)

Asia/Pacific Operations
Nippon Quaker Chemical, Lid.
Osaka, Japan (50% owned)

Quaker Chemical
(Australasia) Pty. Limited
Seven Hills, Australia (51 % owned)

Quaker Chemical {China} Co. Ltd.
Shanghai, China

Quaker Chemical India Limited
Calcutta, India (35 % owned)

Quaker Chemical Limited

Hong Kong, China

Quaker Shanghai Trading Co., Ltd.
Shanghai, China

Wuxi Quaker Chemical Co., Ltd.
Wuxi, China

Buhmwoo Company, Ltd.
Seoul, South Rorea

Licensee

South American Operations
Quaker Chemical
Indistna e Comércio Lida.

Rio de Janeiro, Brazit

Quaker Chemical Operagoes Ltda.

Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
Quaker Chemical Participagdes Lida.
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil
Quaker Chemical S.A.

Buenos Aires, Argentina

Kelko Quaker Chemical, S.A.

Caracas, Venczuela (30% owned)




Directors
Joseph B. Anderson, Jr.2*

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
TAG Holdings, LLC, a holding company

Patricia C. Barron 34

Corporate Director

Donald R. Caldwell 123

Chairman and Chiefl Exccutive Officer,
Cross Atlantic Capital Parmers, Inc.,

a venture capital fund with

offices in the U.S,, Ireland and

the United Kingdom; Executive

Committee Chairman

Robert E. Chappell '+

Chairman, President and Chief
Executive Officer, The Penn Mutual
Life Insurance Company, a mutual
life insurance company providing
life insurance and annuity products;

Governance Committee Chairman

William R. Cook 2

Former President and Chief Execudive
Officer, Severn Trent Services, Inc.,

a water purification products and
laboratory and operating services

company; Audit Committee Chairman

Edwin ]. Delattre 3*

Professor of Philosophy Emeritus,
College of Arts and Sciences,
Boston University

-

Directors and Officers

Jeffry D. Frisby ?

Group President, Triumph
Aerospace Systems Group, a group
of companies that design, engineer
and build aerostructures as well

as complete mechanical, elecuro-
mechanical, and hydraulic systems

for the aerospace industry

Ronald ]. Naples
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Robert H. Rock '?

President, MLR Holdings, L1.C,

an investment company with holdings
in the publishing and information busi-
nesses; Compensation/Management

Development Committee Chatrman

Chairman Emeritus

Peter A. Benoliel

Former Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer of

the Company

Directors Emeriti

Francis J. Dunleavy

Retired Vice Chairman of the Board,
International Telephone

and Telegraph Corporation

Frederick Heldring
Chairman Emeritus,

Global Interdependence Center

Officers

Ronald J. Naples

Chairman of the Board and

Chief Executive Officer

Michael F. Barry

Senior Vice President and
Managing Director—North America
D. Jeffry Benoliel

Vice President, Secretary

and General Counsel

José Luiz Bregolato
Vice President and Managing
Director-South America

Mark A. Featherstone
Vice President, Chief Financial

Officer and Treasurer

Mark A. Harris
Senior Vice President=Global
Strategy and Marketing

Jan F. Nieman
Vice President and
Managing Director-Asia/Pacific
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Corporate Information

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Two Commerce Square, Suite 1700

2001 Market Street

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103

Stock Transfer Agent

For address changes, dividend checks, lost stock
certificates, share ownership and other administrative
services, contact: American Stock Transfer & Trust
Company, 59 Maiden Lane, New York, New York 10038:
1-800-937-4160 or www.amstock.com,

Investor Relations

Security analysts, portfolio managers and representatives
of financial instuutions secking information about the
Company are invited to contact: Mark A. Featherstone,
Vice President, Chief Financial Gfficer and Treasurer
at 610-832-4160.

Copies of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
and other corporate filings will be provided without
charge upon request by contacting: Irene M. Kisleiko,
Assistant Corporate Secretary at 610-832-4119 or via email

to irene_kisleiko@quakerchem.com,

We also invite you to visit the Investor Relations section
of our Web site www. quakerchem.com for expanded
information about the Company and to view our online

interactive annual report.

Annual Mesting

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be held at the
Company’s headquarters located at One Quaker Park,
901 Hector Street, Conshohocken, Pennsylvania, on
May 7, 2008 a1 10:00 a.m.

Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
Quaker's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan
offers shareholders a convenient and economical way to
purchase additional Quaker Common Shares through the
reinvestment of dividends and/or voluntary cash contribu-
tions without commissions or transaction fees. For further
information concerning the Plan, contact American Stock
Transfer & Trust Company at 1-800-278-4353.

Quarterly Stock Information

The following table sets forth, for the calendar quarters
during the past two years, the range of high and low sales
prices for the common stock as reported on the NYSE
composite tape (amounts rounded to the nearest penny)

and the quarterly dividends declared:

[Jeclared

2007 2006 Dividends
High Low High Low 2007 2006
First Quintet.. ... $24.18 $21.01 $21.75 $1890 $0.215 $0.215
Second QUEITeE ... 2474 2210 2194 1670 0215 0215
Third Cuarter..... 2500 19.25 2024 1804 0215 0215
Fourth Chuarter......... 2440 1967 2249 1825 0215 0215

As of January 17, 2008, there were 930 shareholders of
record of the Company's common stock, $1.00 par value,
its only outstanding class of equity securities. This number

does not include sharcholders whose shares were held in

KWR
NYSE

nominee nare.
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Selected Financial Data

\

(In thousands except per share dita,
percentiges, and number of empleyres)

2007 2006 20059 2004

2003 2002 20014 20000 19991 1998(H 1997

Summary of Operations
.. 8545597

Netsalesa i
Income: (loss) before taxes........

22735 18,440 6,615 17457

Netincome (l088) .ocoovecrvieenene. 10,471 11,667 1,688 8,974
Per share

Net income {loss) basice.......... 1.55 1.19 0.17 0.93

Netincome (loss) diluted......... 1.23 1.18 0.17 0.90

Dividends declared.................. 0.86 0.86 0.86 0.86

Dividends paid................ 086 0.86 (.86 (.850
Financial Position
Current isets ceceevcnvcrnrnn,. 213,501 186,241 165,995 171,187
Current liabilities ..o, 106,351 90,179 86,888 195,618
Working capital oo 107,150 96,062 79,100 45,569
Property, plant, and

CQUIPIENL Nelonminn., 02,287 60,927  H68Y7 (2,888
Total ASSEL v, 399,049 357,382 331995 324,893
Long-term debt .. 78487 83,237 67410 14848
Shareholders’ equity.................. 130,393 110,831 105907 122,587
Other Data
CWITent Ao, o, 2.0/1 21/ 1.9/1 1.4/1
Capital expenditures 3,165 12,379 6,989 8.643
Net income {loss) as a

percentage of netsales............  2.8% 2.5% 0.4% 2.9%

Return on average

sharcholders” equity .. 128%  10.8% 1.5% 7.6%
Shareholders’ equity per
share at end of year.................  12.85 11.20 1090 12.68
Common stock per
share price range:
High e 2000 22,49 2507 30.70
LOW.ocrcrerreceemecisennneeene 19,25 16.70 15.80 21.84
Number of shares outstanding
at end of year...... 10,147 9,926 9,726 9.669
Number of employees
atend of year:
Consolidated subsidiaries... 1,335 1,287 1.226 1,235
Associated companies.......... 163 159 155 152

$460,451 $424033 $400,695 $340.192 $274.521 $251,074 $267570 $263,671 $264,453 $248,220

24118 24318 14430 26486 27151 16797 19,735
14833 14,297 7665 17,163 15651 10,650 12,611
1.58 1.56 0.85 194 1.76 1.2 145
1.52 151 0.84 1.93 1.74 1.20 1.45
0.84 0.84 0.82 0.80 0.77 0.74 0.71

0.84 (.83 0.82 0.79 0.765 0.73 0,705
142,942 103,673 92930 103,181 96,241 96,068 95857
105805 66144 45506 50200 44.657 50432 47,759
37187 37520 47424 52981 51584 45636 48,098
62301 48512 88244 42458 44,752 40622 40,654
289467 213,858 179,666 188,233 182213 191403 172463
15827 16590 19380 22295 25122 25544 25203
112,352 88,055  BOB9T 84907 81199 8373 74976
1.4/1 1.6/1 20/1 2171 22/1 1.9/1 2.0/1
12,608 10837 8,036 6,126 5,726 8,009 h,h80
44% 52% 31% 6.4% 59% 4.0% 5.1%
14.8% 17.0% 9.2%  207% 19.0% 134%  17.0%
11.69 943 8.85 9.59 909 9.41 5.60
3075 25.50 2230 19.25 18.38 21.00 19.81
18.07 18.22 16.12 13.38 13.50 13.00 15.00
3,610 3,340 9,137 8,851 8,934 8,804 8,720
1141 1,038 955 943 423 923 871
148 44 156 205 247 266 250

(1) The results for 2007 include a pre-tax environmental charge of $3,300 for the setlement
of the ACI litigation and onguing remediation activities at the site: a pre-tax ¢harge of §701
related 1o @ discentinued strategic initative; a pre-ax chasge al $187 related to certain
customer hankrupteies; 2 non-cash outof-period tax henefit adjustment of $993 pritarily
related 10 deferred tax accounting for the Company™ furcign pension plans; a 1ax refund
of $663 relating 1o the Company's increased investment in China; and a $391 wx charge
refated 10 the revaluation of deferred tax assets as @ result uf a ux law change.

2) The results of operations for 2003 inchxde restructsiring charges and related activities of
$10,320 pre tax, $6,677 afier wx, or $0.68 per diluted share; proceeds from the sale of real
estate by the Company’s real estate juint venture of $4.187 pre tax, $2,709 after tix, or $0.28
per diluted share: and a tax charge associated with the repatriation of accumulated carnings
of its foreign subsidiaries of §1,000 or $0.10 per diluted share,

(3) The resulty of operatons for 2001 include restructuring charges of $3.854 pre tix, $4.08 after
1ax, or $0.44 per diluted share; an additional provision for doubtfial accounts related an the poor
financizl condhion of certain custoners of $2.000 pre tax, $1,380 adter tax, or $0.15 per dilured
share; wn emvironmental charge of $500 pre tax, §345 after L, or $0.04 per dilned sluare; and
nonrecnrting organizational struceure charges of $267 pre: tax, $18 after tax, or §iL02 per diluted
share, Excluding these items, net income for 2004 was $13,613, or $1.19 per diluted share.

4} The results of operaticns for Y00 include an sdditional provision for deubtful accounts

(3} The resulls of operations fur 1999 include a net restructuring credit of $314 pre cax, §188

16} The results of operations or 19498 include net restructuring and integration charges of

() The resulis of operatons for 1997 inchude a gain un the sale of the European pulp and paper

relited s the puor financial conditdon of certain eustomers of §1,672 pre: tax, §1,154 after
Ly, or 30,13 per diluted share; a net gain on exit of businesses of $1,474 pre wax, $1,016 afier
tx, or $0.11 per diluted shared and an environmental charge of $1.50 pre tax, $1,033 after
uax, or 30.11 per diluted share, Excluding these items, net income for 2000 was $18,336, or
$2.06 per diluted shase.

ateer tax, or $0.02 per diluted! share. Excluding this credit, net income for 19 was §15.46%,
or $1.72 per diluted share.

$5,961 pre tax, §2.882 after ax and minority interesy, or §0.83 per dilued share, Excluding
these charges, net income for 1998 was $13,532, or §1,53 per diluted share,

business of $2,621 pre tix, $1,700% ufter wx. or $0.20 per dituted share and a litigation charge
of $2,000 pre tax, §1,520 after uix, or $0.16 per diluted share. Excluding these items, net
income was $12,228, or §1.41 per dilnted share,

For more information, go 10 www.quakerchem.com




oo

t

Net Salles Operating Cash Flow Net Income and EBITDA
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Revenue by hegion 2007 ’ Compounded Annual Growth Rate Revenue Growth 2001 vs. 2007
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North America, South Amarica, and Europa
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(1) Exrludes restructuring charge, allowance for doubtful accounts #nd environmental resene which reduced net income by §5.4 million xnd EBITDA by $8.6 million.

12) Excludes restructuring charges which reduced net incone by $6.7 million and EBITDA by $10.2 million and a gain in sale ol eal estate which increas«l net income by $2.7 million and EBITDA
by $1.2 million, and a one-time tax chaege which reduced net income by $1.0 million.

(3} Exeludes environmental litgation setthement of $3.3 million and out-of-prriod tax adjustment of $1.0 million which reduced net income by $1,1 million and EBITDA by $3,3 millon.
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PART 1

As used in this Report, the terms “Quaker,” the “Company,” “we” and “our” refer to Quaker Chemical
Corporation, its subsidiaries, and associated companies, unless the context otherwise requires.

Item 1. Business.
General Description

Quaker develops, produces, and markets a broad range of formulated chemical specialty products for
various heavy industrial and manufacturing applications and, in addition, offers and markets chemical
management services (“CMS”). Quaker’s principal products and services include: (i) rolling lubricants (used by
manufacturers of steel in the hot and cold rolling of steel and by manufacturers of aluminum in the hot rolling of
aluminum); (ii) corrosion preventives {used by steel and metalworking customers to protect metal! during
manufacture, storage, and shipment); (iii) metal finishing compounds (used to prepare metal surfaces for special
treatments such as galvanizing and tin plating and to prepare metal for further processing); (iv) machining and
grinding compounds (used by metalworking customers in cutting, shaping, and grinding metal parts which
require special treatment to enable them to tolerate the manufacturing process, achieve closer tolerance, and
improve tool life); (v} forming compounds (used to facilitate the drawing and extrusion of metal products),

(vi) hydraulic fluids (used by steel, metalworking, and other customers to operate hydraulically activated
equipment); (vii) technology for the removal of hydrogen sulfide in various industrial applications;

(viii) chemical milling maskants for the aerospace industry and temporary and permanent coatings for metal and
concrete products; (ix) construction products, such as flexible sealants and protective coatings, for various
applications; and (x) programs to provide chemical management services. Individual product lines representing
more than 10% of consolidated revenues for any of the past three years are as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Rolling lubricants ......... ... ... i 19.8% 21.0% 21.3%
Machining and grinding compounds . . ... ..o oo o i 17.6% 16.6% 164%
Chemical management SEeIvViCes . ............... . i iiuiiaerinneran. 122% 103% 11.7%
Hydraulic fluids . . .. .. .. e e 107% 10.8% 104%
COrToSion PrEVENtives . ..ottt et i 103% 10.6%  9.5%

A substantial portion of Quaker’s sales worldwide are made directly through its own employees and its
CMS programs with the balance being handled through value-added resellers and agents. Quaker employees visit
the plants of customers regularly and, through training and experience, identity production needs which can be
resolved or alleviated either by adapting Quaker’s existing products or by applying new formulations developed
in Quaker’s laboratories. Quaker makes little use of advertising but relies heavily upon its reputation in the
markets which it serves. Generally, separate manufacturing facilities of a single customer are served by different
personnel. As part of the Company’s chemical management services, certain third-party product sales to
customers are managed by the Company. Where the Company acts as a principal, revenues are recognized on a
gross reporting basis at the selling price negotiated with the customers. Where the Company acts as an agent,
such revenue is recorded using net reporting as service revenues, at the amount of the administrative fee earned
by the Company for ordering the goods. Third-party products transferred under arrangements resulting in net
reporting totaled $52.7 million, $62.8 million and $38.8 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, The
Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements, when title and risk of
loss have been transferred, collectibility is reasonably assured, and pricing is fixed or determinable. This
generally occurs for product sales when products are shipped to customers or, for consignment arrangements,
upon usage by the customer and when services are performed. License fees and royalties are recognized in
accordance with agreed-upon terms, when performance obligations are satisfied, the amount is fixed or
determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured, and are included in other income.
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Competition

The chemical specialty industry comprises a number of companies of similar size as well as companies
larger and smaller than Quaker. Quaker cannot readily determine its precise position in every industry it serves.
Based on information available to Quaker, however, it is estimated that Quaker holds a leading and significant
global position (among a group in excess of 25 other suppliers) in the market for process fluids to produce sheet
steel. It is also believed that Quaker holds significant global positions in the markets for process fluids in portions
of the automotive and industrial markets. Many competitors are in fewer and more specialized product
classifications or provide different levels of technical services in terms of specific formulations for individual
customers. Competition in the industry is based primarily on the ability to provide products that meet the needs
of the customer and render technical services and laboratory assistance to customers and, to a lesser extent, on
price.

Major Customers and Markets

In 2007, Quaker’s five largest customers (each composed of multiple subsidiaries or divisions with semi-
autonomous purchasing authority) accounted for approximately 29% of its consolidated net sales with the largest
customer {Arcelor-Mittal Group) accounting for approximately 10% of consolidated net sales. A significant
portion of Quaker’s revenues are realized from the sale of process fluids and services to manufacturers of steel,
automobiles, appliances, and durable goods, and, therefore, Quaker is subject to the same business cycles as
those experienced by these manufacturers and their customers. Furthermore, steel customers typically have
limited manufacturing locations as compared to metalworking customers and generally use higher volumes of
products at a single location. Accordingly, the loss or closure of a steel mill or other major customer site can have
a material adverse effect on Quaker’s business.

Raw Materials

Quaker uses over 1,000 raw materials, including mineral oils and derivatives, animal fats and derivatives,
vegetable oils and derivatives, ethylene derivatives, solvents, surface active agents, chlorinated paraffinic
compounds, and a wide variety of other organic and inorganic compounds. In 2007, three raw material groups
{mineral oils and derivatives, animal fats and derivatives, and vegetable oils and derivatives) each accounted for
as much as 10% of the 1otal cost of Quaker’s raw material purchases. The price of mineral oil can be affected by
the price of crude oil and refining capacity. In addition, animal fat and vegetable oil prices have increased due to
increased biodiesel consumption. Accordingly, significant fluctuations in the price of crude oil can have a
material effect upon the Company’s business. Many of the raw materials used by Quaker are “commodity”
chemicals, and, therefore, Quaker’s earnings can be affected by market changes in raw material prices. Quaker
has multiple sources of supply for most materials, and management believes that the failure of any single supplier
would not have a material adverse effect upon its business. Reference is made to the disclosure contained in
Item 7A of this Report.

Patents and Trademarks

Quaker has a limited number of patents and patent applications, including patents issued, applied for, or
acquired in the United States and in various foreign countries, some of which may prove to be material to its
business. Principal reliance is placed upon Quaker’s proprietary formulae and the application of its skills and
experience to meet customer needs. Quaker’s products are identified by trademarks that are registered throughout
its marketing area.

Research and Development—ILaboratories

Quaker’s research and development {aboratories are directed primarily toward applied research and
development since the nature of Quaker’s husiness requires continual modification and improvement of
formulations to provide chemical specialties to satisfy customer requirements. Quaker maintains quality control
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laboratory facilities in each of its manufacturing locations. In addition, Quaker maintains in Conshohocken,
Pennsylvania, Placentia, California and Uithoomn, The Netherlands, laboratory facilities that are devoted
primarily to applied research and development.

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses during
2007, 2006 and 2005 were $14.6 million, $13.0 million and $14.2 million, respectively.

Most of Quaker’s subsidiaries and associated companies also have l1aboratory facilities. Although not as
complete as the Conshohocken or Uithoomn laboratories, these facilities are generally sufficient for the
requirements of the customers being served. If problems are encountered which cannot be resolved by local
laboratories, such problems may be referred to the laboratory staff in Conshohocken or Uithoorn.

Regulatory Matters

In order to facilitate compliance with applicable Federal, state, and local statutes and regulations relating to
occupational health and safety and protection of the environment, the Company has an ongoing program of site
assessment for the purpose of identifying capital expenditures or other actions that may be necessary to comply
with such requirements. The program includes periodic inspections of each facility by Quaker and/or independent
experts, as well as ongoing inspections and training by on-site personnel. Such inspections are addressed to
operational matters, record keeping, reporting requirements, and capital improvements. In 2007, capital
expenditures directed solely or primarily to regulatory compliance amounted to approximately $0.9 million
compared to $0.8 million and $0.7 million in 2006 and 2003, respectively. In 2008, the Company expects to incur
approximately $2.6 million for capital expenditures directed primarily to regulatory compliance. Incorporated by
reference is the information regarding AC Products, Inc. contained in Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of this Report.

Number of Employees

On December 31, 2007, Quaker's consolidated companies had 1,335 full-time employees of whom 560
were employed by the parent company and its U.S. subsidiaries and 775 were employed by its non-U.S.
subsidiaries. Associated companies of Quaker (in which it owns 50% or less) employed 163 people on
December 31, 2007.

Product Classification
The Company’s reportable segments are as follows:

(1) Metalworking process chemicals—industrial process fluids for various heavy industrial and
manufacturing applications.

(2) Coatings—temporary and permanent coatings for metal and concrete products and chemical milling
maskants.

(3) Other chemical products—other various chemical products.

Incorporated by reference is the segment information contained in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Report. |

Non-U.S. Activities

Since significant revenues and earnings are generated by non-U.S. operations, Quaker’s financial results are \
affected by currency fluctuations, particularly between the U.S. dollar, the E.U. euro, the Brazilian real, and the |
Chinese renminbi and the impact of those currency fluctuations on the underlying economies. Incorporated by |
reference is the foreign exchange risk information contained in Item 7A of this Report and the geographic
information in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Report.
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Quaker on the Internet

Financial results, news and other information about Quaker can be accessed from the Company’s Web site
at http://www.quakerchem.com. This site includes important information on products and services, financial
reports, news releases, and career opportunities. The Company’s periodic and current reports on Forms 10-K,
10-Q and 8-K, including exhibits and supplemental schedules filed therewith, and amendments to those reports,
filed with the Securitics and Exchange Commission (“SEC") are available on the Company’s Web site, free of
charge, as socn as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.
Information that can be accessed through the Company’s Web site is not incorporated by reference in this Report
and accordingly you should not consider that information part of this Report.

Fuactors that May Affect Our Future Results
(Cautionary Statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995)

Certain information included in this Report and other materials filed or to be filed by Quaker with the SEC
(as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us) contain
or may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements can be
identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. We have based these forward-
looking staternents on our current expectations about future events. These forward-looking statements include
statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, intentions, financial
condition, results of operations, future performance, and business, including:

*  statements relating to our business strategy;

*  our current and future results and plans; and

LT LI 2 &

*  statements that include the words “may,” “could,” “should,” “would,”believe, anticipate,”

“estimate,” “intend,” “plan” or similar expressions.

expect,

Such statements include information relating to current and future business activities, operational matters,
capital spending, and financing sources. From time to time, oral or written forward-looking statements are also
included in Quaker’s periodic reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K, press releases, and other materials released to the
public.

Any or all of the forward-looking statements in this Report, in Quaker’s Annual Report to Shareholders for
2007, and in any other public statements we make may turn out to be wrong. This can occur as a result of
inaccurate assumptions or as a consequence of known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors
discussed in this Report will be important in determining our future performance. Consequently, actual results
may differ materially from those that might be anticipated from our forward-looking statements,

We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise. However, any further disclosures made on related subjects in Quaker’s
subsequent reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K should be consulted. These forward-looking statements are
subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and our operations that are subject to change based on
various important factors, some of which are beyond our control. A major risk is that the Company’s demand is
largely derived from the demand for its customers’ products, which subjects the Company to uncertainties related
to downturns in a customer’s business and unanticipated customer production shutdowns. Other major risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, significant increases in raw material costs, worldwide economic and
political conditions, foreign currency fluctuations, and terrorist attacks such as those that occurred on
September 11, 2001, each of which is discussed in greater detail in Item LA of this Report. Furthermore, the
Company is subject to the same business cycles as those experienced by steel, automobile, aircraft, appliance,




and durable goods manufacturers. These risks, uncertainties, and possible inaccurate assumptions relevant to our

business could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical resuits. Other factors

beyond those discussed in this Report could also adversely affect us, Therefore, we caution you not to place

undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. This discussion is provided as permitted by the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, :

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Changes 1o the industries and markets that Quaker serves could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s liguidity, financial position, and results of operations.

The chemical specialty industry comprises a number of companies of similar size as well as companies
larger and smaller than Quaker. It is estimated that Quaker holds a leading global position in the markets for
process fluids to produce sheet steel and in portions of the automotive and industrial markets. The industry is
highly competitive, and a number of companies with significant financial resources and/or customer relationships
compete with us to provide similar products and services. Our competitors may be positioned to offer more
favorable pricing and service terms, resulting in reduced profitability and loss of market share for us.
Historically, competition in the industry has been based primarily on the ability to provide products that meet the
needs of the customer and render technical services and laboratory assistance to the customer and, to a lesser
extent, on price. Success factors critical to the Company’s business include successfully differentiating the
Company’s offering from its competition, operating efficiently and profitably as a globally integrated whole, and
increasing market share and customer penetration through internally developed business programs and strategic
acquisitions.

The business environment in which the Company operates remains challenging. The Company is subject to
the same business cycles as those experienced by steel, automobile, aircraft, appliance, and durable goods
manufacturers. A major risk is that the Company’s demand is largely derived from the demand for its customers’
products, which subjects the Company to uncertainties related to downturns in our customners’ business and
unanticipated customer production shutdowns or curtailments. Customer production within the steel and
automotive industries has been recently slowing especially in the U.S. and European markets. This is further
impacted by the loss of market share of certain of the Company’s automotive customers in these markets. In
addition, consolidation in the steel industry is concentrating sales among certain of the Company’s key
customers. The Company has limited ability to adjust its cost level contemporaneously with changes in sales and
gross margins. Thus, a significant downturn in sales or gross margins due to weak end-user markets, loss of a
significant customer, and/or rising raw material costs could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
liquidity, financial position, and results of operations.

Our business depends on attracting and retaining qualified management personnel.

The unanticipated departure of any key member of our management team could have an adverse effect on
our business. Given the relative size of the Company and the breadth of its global operations, there are a limited
number of qualified management personnel to assume the responsibilities of management level employees
should there be management turnover. In addition, because of the specialized and technical nature of our
business, our future performance is dependent on the continued service of, and our ability to attract and retain
qualified management, commercial and technical personnel. Competition for such personnel is intense, and we
may be unable to continue to attract or retain such personnel.

Inability to obtain sufficient price increases or contract concessions te offset increases in the costs of raw
material could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity, financial position, and results of
operations. Price increases implemented could result in the loss of sales.

Quaker uses over 1,000 raw materials, including mineral oils and derivatives, animal fats and derivatives,
vegetable oils and derivatives, ethylene derivatives, solvents, surface active agents, chlorinated paraffinic
compounds, and a wide variety of other organic and inorganic compounds. In 2007, three raw material groups
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(mineral oils and derivatives, animal fats and derivatives, and vegetable oils and derivatives) each accounted for
as much as 10% of the total cost of Quaker's raw material purchases. The price of mineral oil can be affected by
the price of crude oil and refining capacity. In addition, many of the raw materials used by Quaker are
“commodity” chemicals. Accordingly, Quaker’s earnings can be affected by market changes in raw material
prices.

Over the past three years, Quaker has experienced significant increases in its raw material costs, particularly
crude oil derivatives. For example, the price of crude oil averaged $72 per barrel in 2007 versus $66 in 2006 and
$57 in 2005. In addition, refining capacity has also been constrained by various factors, which further contributed
to higher raw material costs and negatively impacted margins. Animal fat and vegetable oil prices have increased
due to increased biodiese! consumption. In response, the Company has aggressively pursued price increases to
offset the increased raw material costs. Alhough the Company has been successful in recovering a substantial
amount of the raw material cost increases, it has experienced competitive as well as contractual constraints
limiting pricing actions. In addition, as a result of the Company’s pricing actions, customers may become more
likely to consider competitors’ products, some of which may be available at a lower cost. Significant loss of
customers could result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations.

Bankrupicy of a significant customer could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial position,
and results of operations,

During 2007, our five largest customers (each composed of multiple subsidiaries or divisions with semi-
autonomous purchasing authority} together accounted for approximately 29% of our consolidated net sales with
the largest customer (Arcelor-Mittal Group) accounting for approximately 10% of consolidated net sales.

A significant portion of Quaker’s revenues is derived from sales to customers in the U.S, steel and
automotive industries, where a number of bankruptcies occurred during recent years and companies have
experienced financial difficulties. As part of the bankruptcy process, the Company’s pre-petition receivables may
not be realized, customer manufacturing sites may be closed or contracts vaided. The bankrupicy of a major
customer could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s liquidity, financial position, and results of
operations. Steel customers typically have limited manufacturing locations as compared to metalworking
customers and generally use higher volumes of products at a single location. The loss or closure of a steel mill or
other major customer site of a significant customer could have a material adverse effect on Quaker’s business.

Failure to comply with any material provisions of our credit facility could have a material adverse effect on
our liquidity, financial position, and results of operations.

The Company maintains a $125.0 million unsecured credit facility (the “Credit Facility”) with a group of
lenders, which can be increased to $175.0 million at the Company’s option if lenders agree to increase their
commitments and the Company satisfies certain conditions. The Credit Facility, which matures in 2012, provides
the availability of revolving credit borrowings. In general, the borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest
at either a base rate or LIBOR rate plus a margin based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio.

The Credit Facility contains limitations on capital expenditures, investments, acquisitions and liens, as well
as default provisions customary for facilities of its type. While these covenants and restrictions are not currently
considered to be overly restrictive, they could become more difficult to comply with as ocur business or financial
conditions change. In addition, deterioration in the Company’s results of operations or financial position could
significantly increase borrowing costs.

Quaker is exposed to market rate risk for changes in interest rates, due to the variable interest rate applied to
the Company’s borrowings under its credit facilities. Accordingly, if interest rates rise significantly, the cost of
debt to Quaker will increase, perhaps significantly, depending on the extent of Quaker’s borrowings under the
Credit Facility. At December 31, 2007, the Company had $73.8 million outstanding under its credit facilities. The
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Company has entered into interest rate swaps in order to fix a portion of its variable rate debt and mitigate the
risks associated with higher interest rates. The combined notional value of the swaps was $35.0 million at
December 31, 2007. In February 2007, the Company completed a refinancing of its existing industrial
development bonds to fix the interest rate of an additional $5.0 mitlion of debt.

Failure to generate taxable income could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results
of operations.

At the end of 2007, the Company had net U.S. deferred tax assets totaling $16.8 million, excluding deferred
tax assets relating to additional minimum pension liabilities. In addition, the Company has $4.9 million in
operating loss carryforwards primarily related to certain of its foreign operations. The Company records
valuation allowances when necessary to reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not
to be realized. The Company considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning
strategies in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. However, in the event the Company were to determine
that it would not be able to realize all or part of its net deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the
deferred tax asset would be a non-cash charge to income in the period such determination was made, which could
have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial statements. The Company continues 1o closely
monitor this situation as it relates to its net deferred tax assets and the assessment of valuation allowances.

Environmental laws and regulations and pending legal proceedings may materially and adversely affect the
Company’s liquidity, financial position, and results of operations.

The Company is a party to proceedings, cases, and requests for information from, and negotiations with,
various claimants and Federal and state agencies relating to various matters, including environmental matters. An
adverse result in any such matters may materially and adversely affect the Company’s liquidity, financial
position, and results of operations. Incorporated herein by reference is the information concerning pending
asbestos-related litigation against an inactive subsidiary and amounts accrued associated with certain
environmental non-capital remediation costs in Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements which
appears in Item 8 of this Report.

We might not be able to rapidly develop, manufacture and gain market acceptance of new and enhanced
products required to maintain or expand our business.

We believe that our continued success depends on our ability to continuously develop and manufacture new
products and product enhancements on a timely and cost-effective basis, in response to customers’ demands for
higher performance process chemicals, coatings and other chemical products. Our competitors may develop new
products or enhancements to their products that offer performance, features and lower prices that may render our
products less competitive or obsolete and, as a consequence, we may lose business and/or significant market
share. The development and commercialization of new products requires significant expenditures over an
extended period of time, and some products that we seek to develop may never become profitable. In addition,
we may not be able to develop and introduce products incorporating new technologies in a timely manner that
will satisfy our customers’ future needs or achieve market acceptance.

The scope of our international operations subjects the Company to risks, including risks from changes in
trade regulations, currency fluctuations, and political and economic instability.

Since significant revenues and earnings are generated by non-U.S. operations, Quaker’s financial results are
affected by currency fluctuations, particularly between the U.S. dollar, the E.U. euro, the Brazilian real, and the
Chinese renminbi and the impact of those currency fluctuations on the underlying economies. During the past
three years, sales by non-U.S. subsidiaries accounted for approximately 55% to 58% of the annual consolidated
net sales. All of these operations use the local currency as their functional currency. The Company generally does
not use financial instruments that expose it to significant risk involving foreign currency transactions; however,
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the size of non-U.S. activities has a significant impact on reported operating results and attendant net assets.
Therefore, as exchange rates vary, Quaker’s results can be materially affected. Incorporated by reference is the
foreign exchange risk information contained in Item 7A of this Report and the geographic information in Note 15
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in llem 8 of this Report.

Additional risks associated with the Company’s international operations include but are not limited to the
following:

*  Changes in economic conditions from country to country,

*  Changes in a country’s political condition,

*  Trade protection measures,

¢ Licensing and other legal requirements,

*  Local tax issues,

*  Longer payment cycles in certain foreign markets,

¢ Restrictions on the repatriation of our assets, including cash,

= Significant foreign and United States taxes on repatriated cash,

»  The difficulties of staffing and managing dispersed international operations,

*  Less protective foreign intellectual property laws, and

*  Legal systems which may be less developed and predictable than those in the United States,

Terrorist attacks, or other acts of vielence or war may affect the markets in which we operate and our
profitability.

Terrorist attacks may negatively affect our operations. There can be no assurance that there will not be
further terrorist attacks against the U.S. or U.S. businesses. Terrorist attacks or armed conflicts may directly
impact our physical facilities or those of our suppliers or customers. Additional terrorist attacks may disrupt the
global insurance and reinsurance industries with the result that we may not be able to obtain insurance at
historical terms and levels for all of our facilities. Furthermore, additional attacks may make travel and the
transportation of our supplies and products more difficult and more expensive and ultimately affect the sales of
our products. The consequences of terrorist attacks or armed conflicts are unpredictable, and we may not be able
to foresee events that could have an adverse effect on our business.

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

Quaker’s corporate headquarters and a laboratory facility are located in Conshohocken, Pennsylvania.
Quaker’s other principal facilities are located in Detroit, Michigan; Middietown, Ohio; Placentia, California;
Santa Fe Springs, California; Uithoorn, The Netherlands; Santa Perpetua de Mogoda, Spain; Rio de Janeiro,
Brazil; Tradate, Italy; and Qingpu, China, which commenced operations in January 2007. All of the properties
except Placentia, California and Santa Fe Springs, California are used by the metalworking process chemicals
segment. The Placentia, California and Santa Fe Springs, California properties are used by the coatings segment.
With the exception of the Conshohocken, Placentia, Santa Fe Springs and Tradate sites, which are leased, all of
these principal facilities are owned by Quaker and as of December 31, 2007 were mortgage free. Quaker also
leases sales, laboratory, manufacturing, and warehouse facilities in other locations.
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Quaker’s aforementioned principal facilities (excluding Conshohocken) consist of various manufacturing,
administrative, warehouse, and laboratery buildings. Substantially all of the buildings (including Conshohocken)
are of fire-resistant construction and are equipped with sprinkler systems. All facilities are primarily of masonry
and/or steel construction and are adequate and suitable for Quaker’s present operations. The Company has a
program to identify needed capital improvements that are implemented as management considers necessary
or desirable. Most locations have various numbers of raw material storage tanks ranging from 7 to 06 at each
location with a capacity ranging from 1,000 to 82,000 gallons and processing or manufacturing vessels ranging in
capacity from 15 to 16,000 gallons.

In January 2001, the Company contributed its Conshohocken, Pennsylvania property and buildings (the
“Site’”) into a real estate joint venture (the “Venture™) in exchange for a 50% interest in the Venture. The Venture
did not assume any debt or other obligations of the Company and the Company did not guarantee nor was it
obligated to pay any principal, interest or penalties on any of the Venture's indebtedness. The Venture renovated
certain of the existing buildings at the Site, as well as built new office space. In December 2000, the Company
entered into an agreement with the Venture to lease approximately 38% of the Site’s available office space for a
15-year period commencing February 2002, with multiple renewal options. The Company believes the terms of
this lease were no less favorable than the terms it would have obtained from an unaffiliated third party. In
February 2005, the Venture sold its real estate assets to an unrelated third party, which resulted in $4.2 million of
proceeds to the Company after payment of the Venture’s obligations.

In November 2006, the Company’s former Chinese joint venture partner purchased the Wuxi joint venture’s
manufacturing facility, and production was transferred to the Company’s Qingpu, China facility during 2007.

Each of Quaker’s 50% or less owned non-U.S. associated companies owns or leases a plant and/or sales
facilities in various locations.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The Company is a party to proceedings, cases, and requests for information from, and negotiations with,
various claimants and Federal and state agencies relating to various matters, including environmental matters.
Incorporated herein by reference is the information concerning pending asbestos-related litigation against an
inactive subsidiary and amounts accrued associated with certain environmental non-capital remediation costs in
Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears in Item 8 of this Report. The Company is
a party to other litigation which management currently believes will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s results of operations, cash flow, or financial condition.

Item 4, Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

No matters were submitied to a vote of security holders during the last quarter of the period covered by this
Report.




Item 4(a).

Executive Officers of the Registrant,

Set forth below are the executive officers of the Company. Each of the executive officers, with the exception
of Mr. Hill, is elected annually to a one-year term. Mr. Hill is considered an executive officer in his capacity as
principal accounting officer for purposes of this item.

Name, Age, and Present
Position with the Company

Ronald J. Naples, 62
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer, and Director

Mark A. Featherstone, 46
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
and Treasurer

Michael F. Barry, 49 ... ... .. ... ... ...
Senior Vice President and Managing
Director—North America

D. Jeffry Benoliel, 49
Vice President, Secretary
and General Counsel

Jose Luiz Bregolato, 62
Vice President and Managing
Director—South America

Mark A. Harris, 53
Senior Vice President—Global Strategy and
Marketing

George M. Hill,33 ........... ... ... .. ...
Global Controller

Jan F, Nieman, 47
Vice President and Managing
Director—Asia/Pacific

Wilbert Platzer, 46
Vice President and Managing
Director—Europe

Business Experience During Past Five
Years and Period Served as an Officer

Mr. Naples has served in his current position since 1997.

Mr. Featherstone was elected Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer, effective April 9, 2007 and Vice President in
March 2005. He held the position of Global Controller from
May 2001 to April §, 2007,

Mr. Barry assumed his current position in January 2006. He
was Senior Vice President and Global Industry Leader—
Metalworking and Coatings from July 2005 through
December 2005. He was Vice President and Global Industry
Leader—Industrial Metalworking and Coatings from January
2004 through June 2005 and Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer from 1998 to August 2004.

Mr, Benoliel has served in his current position since 2001.

Mr. Bregolato has served in his current position since 1993.

Mr. Harris assumed his current position in January 2006. He
was Senior Vice President and Global Industry Leader—Steel
from July 2005 through December 2005. He was Vice
President and Global Industry Leader—Steel from January
2001 through June 2005.

Mr. Hill assumed his current position on April 17, 2007. He
was Assistant Global Controller from May 2004 until he
assumed his current position and Manager, Financial
Reporting from October 2002 to May 2004.

Mr. Nieman was elected Vice President in February 2005, and
has held the position of Managing Director, Asia/Pacific since
August 2003. He was Global Business Unit Manager Value
Added Resellers—Metalworking, Quaker Chemical B.V., the
Company’s Dutch affiliate, from October 2000 through July
2003.

Mr. Platzer assumed his current position in January 2006. He
was Vice President—Global Industrial Metalworking from
July 2005 through December 2005. He was Vice President—
Worldwide Operations from January 2001 through June 2005.
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PART II

Item 5, Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

The Company’s common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE™) under the trading
symbol KWR. The following table sets forth, for the calendar quarters during the past two most recent fiscal
years, the range of high and low sales prices for the common stock as reported on the NYSE composite tape
(amounts rounded to the nearest penny), and the quarterly dividends declared and paid:

Price Range Dividends Dividends
2007 2006 Declared Paid
High  Low  High  Low 2007 2006 2007 2006
Firstquarter ..................... $24.18 $21.01 $21.75 $18.90 $0.215 $0.215 30215 $0.215
Secondquarter . .................. 2474 2210 2194 1670 0215 0215 0215 0215
Thirdquarter .................... 25.00 19.25 2029 18.04 0215 0215 0215 0215
Fourthquaster ................... 2440 19.67 2249 1825 0.215 0215 0215 0215

As of January 17, 2008, there were 930 shareholders of record of the Company’s common stock, its only
outstanding class of equity securities.

Every holder of Quaker common stock is entitled to one vote or ten votes for each share held of record on
any record date depending on how long each share has been held. As of January 17, 2008, 10,147,319 shares of
Quaker common stock were issued and outstanding. Based on the information available to the Company on
January 17, 2008, the holders of 1,040,064 shares of Quaker common stock would have been entitled to cast ten
votes for each share, or approximately 53% of the total votes that would have been entitled to be cast as of that
record date and the holders of 9,107,255 shares of Quaker common stock would have been entitled to cast one
vote for each share, or approximately 47% of the total votes that would have been entitled to be cast as of that
date. The number of shares that are indicated as entitled to one vote includes those shares presumed 1o be entitled
to only one vote. Because the holders of these shares may rebut this presumption, the total number of votes
entitled to be cast as of January 17, 2008 could be more than 19,507,895.

Reference is made to the information in Item 12 of this Report under the caption “Equity Compensation
Plans,” which is incorporated herein by this reference.
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The following graph compares the cumulative total return (assuming reinvestment of dividends) from
December 31, 2002 to December 31, 2007 for (i) Quaker's common stock, (ii) the S&P SmallCap 600 Stock
Index (the “SmaliCap Index”) and (iii) the S&P Chemicals (Specialty) Index-SmallCap (the “Chemicals Index™).
The graph assumes the investment of $100 on December 31, 2002 in each of Quaker's common stock, the stocks
comprising the SmallCap Index, and the stocks comprising the Chemicals Index.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth selected financial information for the Company and its consolidated

2006 2005

2004 2003

subsidiaries:
20{)‘7([)
Summary of Operations:
Netsales ..o oot et ce e $545,597
Income before taxes, equity income and minority
111051121 S PR 22,735
NetiNCOME . ...t it i it iieae e iaenann 15471
Per share:
Netincome-basic ................ounnn $ 155
Netincome-diluted . ................ ... 1.53
Dividendsdectared . ................... 0.86
Dividendspaid ............ ..ot 0.86
Financial Position:
Working capital .. ... ... $107,150
Total ASSELS & o oot e et et e 309,049
Long-termdebt ............... ... .. ... ... 78,487
Shareholders’ equity . ...................... 130,393

Following amounts in thousands

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$460,451  $424,033

18,440 6,615

11,667 1,688

$ L19 § 017
$ 118 0.17
0.86 0.86
0.86 0.86

$ 96,062 § 79,105
357,382 331,995
85,237 67410
110,831 105,907

$400,695 $340,192

17,457 24,118
8,974 14,833

$ 093 § 158

0.90 1.52
0.86 0.84
0.855 0.84

$ 45569 § 37.137
324,893  289.467
14,848 15,827
122,587 112,352

(1) The results of operation for 2007 include a pre-tax environmental charge of $3,300 for the settlement of the
ACP litigation and ongoing remediation activities at the site; a pre-lax charge of $701 related to a
discontinued strategic initiative; a pre-tax charge of $487 related to certain customer bankruptcies; a
non-cash out-of-period tax benefit adjustment of $993 primarily related to deferred tax accounting for the
Company’s foreign pension plans; a tax refund of $665 relating to the Company’s increased investment in
China; and a $391 tax charge related to the revaluation of deferred tax assets as a result of a tax Jaw change.

(2) The results of operation for 2005 include a net pre-tax charge for restructuring and related activities of
$10,320, proceeds from the sale of real estate by the Company’s real estate joint venture of $4,187, and a
$1,000 tax charge associated with the repatriation of accumulated earnings of its foreign subsidiaries.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Executive Summary

Quaker Chemical Corporation is a worldwide developer, producer, and marketer of chemical specialty
products and a provider of chemical management services (*CMS"™)} for various heavy industrial and
manufacturing applications around the globe with significant sales to the steel and automotive industries.

The revenue growth in 2007 was due to higher volumes, particularly in China and Europe, and increased
selling prices. CMS revenues were also higher due to the renewal and restructuring of several of the Company’s
contracts throughout the year. Higher selling prices, combined with improved CMS profitability, helped offset
higher raw material and third-party finished product costs, resulting in significantly higher gross margin dollars
but with a slight decrease in gross margin as a percentage of sales as compared 1o 2006. Raw material costs
continued to be higher as compared to the prior year and continued to steadily rise throughout the year. Factors
impacting higher selling, general and administrative costs in 2007 include continued expansion into Asia/Pacific,
higher commissions related to higher sales, higher incentive compensation as a result of higher earnings, higher
legal and environmental costs, foreign exchange rate translation, as well as inflationary increases.

The full year 2007 results included some unusual items as well. A $3.3 million environmental charge was
taken related to the settlement of environmental litigation involving AC Products, Inc. (“ACP™), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Quaker, as well as additional costs for the estimated future remediation costs. A $0.7 million charge
related to a discontinued strategic initiative and a $0.5 million charge related to certain customer bankruptcies
were also taken. The effective tax rate includes a $0.7 million refund of taxes in China as a result of the
Company’s increased investment and a non-cash out-of-period tax benefit adjustment of $1.0 million related to
certain deferred tax items, as well as a $0.4 million charge related to the revaluation of deferred tax assets due to
a tax law change.

The net result was a considerable improvement in earnings per diluted share of $1.53 for 2007, compared to
$1.18 for 2006. Notwithstanding the Company’s improved performance, the continued strength of the business
environment is subject to limited visibility due to continued raw material price volatility and an uncertain global
economic environment. With crude oil near $100 per barrel and animal fats and vegetable oils impacted by
increased biodiesel consumption, raw material prices continue to be a challenge. Any improvement in gross
margin as a percentage of sales will depend in part upon a sustained period of stable or declining raw material
costs. While demand is generally expected to remain stable, volume in certain markets was limited by customer
end-market issues, including reduced vehicle sales experienced by some automotive customers and reduced steel
demand, particularly in the U.S. With the settlement of the ACP environmental litigation, legat and
environmental costs are expected to decline in the future. The Company will remain focused on pursuing revenue
opportunities, managing its raw material and other costs, and pursuing pricing initiatives.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimaies

Quaker’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations are based upon Quaker's
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires Quaker to make estimates
and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing basis, Quaker evaluates its estimates, including
those related to customer sales incentives, product returns, bad debts, inventories, property, plant, and equipment,
investments, goodwill, intangible assets, income taxes, financing operations, restructuring, incentive
compensation plans (including equity-based compensation), pensions and other postretirement benefits, and
contingencies and litigation. Quaker bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

14




Quaker belicves the following critical accounting policies describe the more significant judgments and

estimates used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements:

1. Accounts receivable and inventory reserves and exposures—Quaker establishes allowances for
doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required
payments. If the financial condition of Quaker’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an irapairment of
their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. As part of its terms of trade, Quaker
may custom manufacture products for certain large customers and/or may ship product on a consignment
basis. Further, a significant portion of Quaker’s revenues is derived from sales to customers in the U.S. steel
and automotive industries, where a number of bankruptcies have occurred during recent years and
companies have experienced financial difficulties. When a bankruptcy occurs, Quaker must judge the
amount of proceeds, if any, that may ultimately be received through the bankruptcy or liquidation process.
These matters may increase the Company’s exposure should a bankruptcy occur, and may require write
down or disposal of certain inventory due to its estimated obsolescence or limited marketability. Reserves
for customers filing for bankruptcy protection are generally established at 75-100% of the amount
outstanding at the filing date, dependent on the Company’s evaiuation of likely proceeds from the
bankruptcy process. Large and/or financially distressed customers are generally reserved for on a specific
review basis while a general reserve is established for other customers based on historical experience. The
Company's consolidated allowance for doubtful accounts was $3.1 mitlion and $3.2 million at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Further, the Company recorded provisions for doubtful accounts
of $0.0 million, $0.0 million and $1.2 miltion in 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively. An increase of 10% to
the recorded provisions would have decreased the Company’s pre-tax earnings by $0.0 million, $0.0 million
and $0.12 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

2. Environmental and litigation reserves—Accruals for environmental and litigation matters are
recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be
reasonably estimated. Accrued liabilities are exclusive of claims against third parties and are not discounted.
Environmental costs and remediation costs are capitalized if the costs extend the life, increase the capacity
or improve the safety or efficiency of the property from the date acquired or constructed, and/or mitigate or
prevent contamination in the future. Estimates for accruals for environmental matters are based on a variety
of potential technical solutions, governmental regulations and other factors, and are subject to a large range
of potential costs for remediation and other actions. A considerable amount of judgment is required in
determining the most likely estimate within the range, and the factors determining this judgment may vary
over time. Similarly, reserves for litigation and similar matters are based on a range of potential outcomes
and require considerable judgment in determining the most probable outcome. If no amount within the range
is considered more probable than any other amount, the Company accrues the lowest amount in the range in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. An inactive subsidiary of the Company is
involved in asbestos litigation. If the Company ever concludes that it is probable it will be liable for any of
the obligations of such subsidiary, then it will record the associated liabilities if they can be reasonably
estimated. The Company will reassess this situation periodically in accordance with SFAS No. 5,
“Accounting for Contingencies.” See Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements which appears
in Item 8 of this Report.

3. Realizability of equity investments—Quaker holds equity investments in various foreign companies,
whereby it has the ability to influence, but not control, the operations of the entity and its future results.
Quaker records an investment impairment charge when it believes an investment has experienced a decline
in value that is other than temporary. Future adverse changes in market conditions, poor operating results of
underlying investments, or devaluation of foreign currencies could result in losses or an inability to recover
the carrying value of the investments that may not be reflected in an investment’s current carrying value.
These factors may result in an impairment charge in the future. The carrying amount of the Company’s
equity investments at December 31, 2007 was $7.3 million and was comprised of three investments totaling
$3.9 million, $2.4 million and $1.0 million, respectively.




4. Tax exposures, valuation allowances and uncertain tax positions—Quaker records expenses and
liabilities for taxes based on estimates of amounts that will be ultimately determined to be deductible in tax
returns filed in various jurisdictions. The filed tax returns are subject to audit, often several years subsequent
to the date of the financial statements. Disputes or disagreements may arise during audits over the timing or
validity of certain items or deductions, which may not be resolved for extended periods of time. Quaker
adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”) on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 applies to all income tax
positions taken on previously filed tax returns or expected to be taken on a future tax return. FIN 48
prescribes a benefit recognition model with a two-step approach, a more-likely-than-not recognition
criterion, and a measurement attribute that measures the position as the largest amount of tax benefit that is
greater than 50% likely of being realized upon effective settlement. FIN 48 also requires that the amount of
interest expense and income to be recognized related to uncertain tax positions be computed by applying the
applicable statutory rate of interest to the difference between the tax position recognized in accordance with
FIN 48, including timing differences, and the amount previously taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. Quaker also records valuation allowances when necessary to reduce its deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized. While Quaker has considered future taxable income and
ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in assessing the need for the valuation allowance, in the
event Quaker were to determine that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets in the future in excess
of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would increase income in the period such
determination was made. Likewise, should Quaker determine that it would not be able to realize all or part
of its net deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be charged to
income in the period such determination was made which could have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial statements, U.S. income taxes have not been provided on the undistributed earnings of
non-U.S. subsidiaries since it is the Company’s intention to continue to reinvest these earnings in those
subsidiaries for working capital needs and growth initiatives. U.S. and foreign income taxes that would be
payable if such earnings were distributed may be lower than the amount computed at the U.S. statutory rate
due to the availability of foreign tax credits.

5. Restructuring liabilities—Restructuring charges may consist of charges for employee severance,
rationalization of manufacturing facilities and other items. In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146,
“Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” and the Company adopted the
provisions of SFAS No. 146 effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. SFAS
No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the
liability is incurred.

6. Goodwill and other intangible assets—Goodwill and other intangible assets are evaluated in
accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Intangible assets, which do not
have indefinite lives, are recorded at fair value and amortized over a straight-line basis over the life of the
intangible asset based on third-party valuations of the assets. Goodwill and intangible assets, which have
indefinite lives, are not amortized and are required to be assessed at least annually for impairment. The
Company compares the assets’ fair value to their carrying value primarily based on future discounted cash
flows in order to determine if an impairment charge is warranted. The estimates of future cash flows involve
considerable management judgment and are based upon assumptions about expected future operating
performance. Assumptions used in these forecasts are consistent with internal planning. The actual cash
flows could differ from management’s estimates due to changes in business conditions, operating
performance, and economic conditions. The Company completed its annual impairment assessment as of the
end of the third quarter 2007, and no impairment charge was warranted. The Company's consolidated
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $44.4 million and
$39.3 million, respectively. The Company’s assumption of weighted average cost of capital and estimated
future net operating profit after tax (NOPAT) are particularly important in detertining whether an
impairment charge has been incurred. The Company currently uses a weighted average cost of capital of
12% and, at September 30, 2007, this assumption would have had to increase by more than 4.2 percentage
points before any of the Company’s reporting units would fail step one of the SFAS No. 142 impairment
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analysis. Further, at September 30, 2007, the Company’s estimate of future NOPAT would have had to
decrease by more than 26% before any of the Company’s reporting units would be considered potentiaily
impaired.

7. Postretirement benefits—The Company provides certain pension and other postretirement benefits to
employees and retirees. Independent actuaries, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States, perform the required valuations to determine benefit expense and, if necessary,
non-cash charges to equity for additional minimum pension liabilities. Critical assumptions used in the
actuarial valuation include the weighted average discount rate, rates of increase in compensation levels, and
expected long-term rates of return on assets. If different assumptions were used. additional pension expense
or charges to equity might be required. For 2006, the Company incurred such a non-cash charge to equity of
$9.3 million, in connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit and Other Postretirement Plans.” The Company’s pension plan year-end is November 30, which
serves as the measurement date. The following table highlights the potential impact on the Company’s
pre-tax earnings due to changes in assumptions with respect to the Company’s pension plans, based on
assets and liabilities at December 31, 2007;

V2 Percentage Point ¥ Percentage Point
Increase Decrease

Foreign Domestic Total Foreign Domestic Total

{Dollars in millions)
DiSCOUNtTAIE . ..ot e i eie e s $(0.5) $0.1)  $(0.6) %05 50.1 $0.6
Expected rate of return on plan assets . ... $(0.2) $0.2)  $04) 3502 50.2 $0.4

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS
No. 157 establishes a common definition for fair value to be applied to U.S. GAAP guidance requiring use of fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about such fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB No. 115" (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits
entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not
currently required to be measured at fair value. This statement also establishes presentation and disclosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparison between entities that choose different measurement attributes for
similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007. The application of SFAS No. 159 is elective and the Company has chosen not to measure any additional
financial instruments or any other items at fair value. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2007, EITF Issue 06-11 “Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based
Payment Awards” (EITF 06-11) was issued. EITF 06-11 should be applied prospectively to the income tax
benefits that result from dividends on equity-classified employee share-based payment awards that are declared
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, and interim periods within those years. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations (FAS 141(R))”
and SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, as amendment of ARB
No. 51 (FAS 160).” FAS 141(R) will significantly change how business acquisitions are accounted for and will
impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in subsequent periods. Some of the changes, such as
the accounting for contingent consideration, will introduce more volatility into earnings. FAS 160 will change
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the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and
classified as a component of equity. FAS 141(R) will be applied prospectively. FAS 160 requires retroactive
adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All other requirements of
FAS 160 shall be applied prospectively. FAS 141(R} and FAS 160 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008. The Company is currently assessing the impact of these standards on its financial
statements.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Quaker’s cash and cash equivalents increased to $20.2 million at December 31, 2007 from $16.1 million at
December 31, 2006. The $4.1 million increase resulted primarily from $27.5 million of cash provided by
operating activities, offset in part by, $9.4 million of cash used in investing activities and $15.9 million of cash
used in financing activities. The $27.5 million of cash provided by operating activities is the highest level the
Company has achieved in recent history.

Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $27.5 million in 2007, compared to $8.2 million in
2006. The increased cash flow was largely due to lower working capital requirements in 2007 compared to 2006.
Despite an $85.1 million sales increase, higher raw material costs, and increased business from our CMS
channel, all of which typically require incremental investments in working capital, the Company has made
significant progress around the globe in limiting the pace of such increased investment. In addition, the
Company’s higher net income, higher depreciation, and the 2006 completion of all restructuring activities were
also significant factors in the increased cash flow from operating activities.

Net cash flows used in investing activities were $9.4 millien in 2007, compared to $13.5 million in 2006.
The decreased use of cash was primarily due to lower capital expenditures as a result of reduced capital
expansion and replacement activities in North America, Europe and Asia/Pacific. Also contributing to the
decreased use of cash was higher cash inflow from the Company’s below-described restricted cash relating to
asbestos costs of an inactive subsidiary of the Company. This cash inflow is equally offset as an outflow of cash
in cash flows from operating activities as the inactive subsidiary makes payments for claims and costs of defense
in accordance with the settlement and release agreements. Also, contributing to the change in investing cash
flows are higher payments related to acquisitions in 2007. In the first quarter of 2007, the Company made the
second of four annual payments of $1.0 million related to the 2005 acquisition of the remaining 40% interest in
its Brazilian joint venture. In the second quarter of 2007, the Company’s Q2 Technologies joint veniure acquired
the oil and gas field chemical business of Frontier Research and Chemicals, Inc., for $0.5 million. In the fourth
quarter of 2007, the Company made the second payment related to the 2006 acquisition of the remaining
minority interest in its China joint venture for $0.8 million,

In January 2001, the Company contributed its Conshohocken, Pennsylvania property and buildings (the
“Site”) into a real estate joint venture (the “Venture”) in exchange for a 50% interest in the Venture. The Venture
did not assume any debt or other obligations of the Company and the Company did not guarantee nor was it
obligated to pay any principal, interest or penalties on any of the Venture’s indebtedness, The Venture renovated
certain of the existing buildings at the Site, as well as built new office space. In December 2000, the Company
entered into an agreement with the Venture to lease approximately 38% of the Site's available office space for a
15-year period commencing February 2002, with multiple renewal options. The Company believes the terms of
this lease were no less favorable than the terms it would have obtained from an unaffiliated third party. In
February 2005, the Venture sold its real estate assets to an unrelated third party, which resulted in $4.2 million of
proceeds to the Company after payment of the Venture’s obligations. The proceeds include a gain of $3.0 million
related to the sale by the Venture of its real estate holdings as well as $1.2 million of preferred distributions.

In the first quarter of 2007, an inactive subsidiary of the Company reached a settlement agreement and
release with one of its insurance carriers for $20.0 million. The proceeds of the settlement are restricted and can
only be used to pay claims and costs of defense assoctated with this subsidiary’s asbestos litigation, The
payments are structured to be received over a four-year period with annual installments of $5.0 million, the first
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of which was received in the second quarter of 2007. The subsequent installments are contingent upon whether or
not Federal asbestos legislation is adopted by the due date of each annual installment. If Federal asbestos
legislation is so enacted, and requires the carrier to contribute into a trust or similar vehicle as a result of the
policies issued to the subsidiary, then the insurance carrier’s obligation to make the subsequent installments will
be cancelled. During the third quarter of 2007, the same inactive subsidiary and one of its insurance carriers
entered into a Claim Handling and Funding Agreement, under which the carrier will pay 27% of the defense and
indemnity costs incurred by or on behalf of the subsidiary in connection with asbestos bodily injury claims for a
minimum of five years beginning July 1, 2007. See Notes 18, 19 and 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements which appears in Item 8 of this Report.

Net cash used in financing activities was $15.9 million in 2007, compared to $4.2 million of cash provided
by financing activities for 2006. The change was caused primarily by borrowings in the prior year used to fund
the Company’s working capital needs, as well as the restructuring activities taken in the fourth quarter of 2005,
compared to net repayments in 2007 on strong operating cash flow results. In 2007, the Company experienced a
high level of stock option exercises compared 1o the prior year, which contributed to the change in net cash flows
from financing activities.

ACP entered into a settlement agreement with the Orange County Water District, effective October 17,
2007, relating to environmental litigation initiated in late 2004. In the third quarter of 2007, the Company
recorded a $3.3 million charge to cover a payment of $2.0 million in settlement of the litigation, and $1.3 million
of increased reserves for its future expenditures for soil and water remediation program. See also Note 20 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements which appears in Item 8 of this Report.

On August 13, 2007, Quaker and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a second amendment
to the syndicated multicurrency credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing
line lender and letter of credit issuer, and certain other financial institutions as lenders. The amendment increases
the maximum principal amount available for revolving credit borrowings from $100 million to $125 million,
which can be increased to $175 million at the Company’s option if lenders agree to increase their commitments
and the Company satisfies certain conditions. The amendment also extended the maturity date of the credit
facility from 2010 to 2012. In general, borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at either a base rate or
LIBOR rate plus a margin based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. In February 2007, the Company
completed a refinancing of its existing industrial development bonds to fix the interest rate on an additional $5.0
million of debt. The provisions of the agreements require that the Company maintain certain financial ratios and
covenants, all of which the Company was in compliance with as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. Under its most
restrictive covenants, the Company could have borrowed an additional $67.6 million at December 31, 2007. At
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had approximately $73.8 million and $79.2 million outstanding on
these credit lines at a weighted average borrowing rate of 5.8% and 5.69%, respectively. The Company has
entered into interest rate swaps in order to fix a portion of its variable rate debt and mitigate the risks associated
with higher interest rates. The combined notional value of the swaps was $35.0 million at December 31, 2007.

The Company had a net debt-to-total-capital ratio of 32% at December 31, 2007, compared to 40% at
December 31, 2006. In connection with the first quarter 2007 adoption of FIN 48, the Company recorded a
non-cash charge to shareholders’ equity of $5.5 million, which negatively impacted the Company’s net
debt-to-total-capital ratio by approximately one percentage point. At December 31, 2007, the Company’s gross
FIN 48 liability, including accrued interest and penalties, was $12.9 million. The Company cannot determine a
reliable estimate of the timing of cash flows by period related to its FIN 48 liability. However, should the FIN 48
liability be paid, the amount of the payment may be reduced by $4.6 million as a result of offsetting benefits in
other tax jurisdictions. The Company believes it is capable of supporting its operating requirements, including
pension plan contributions, payment of dividends to shareholders, possible acquisitions and business
opportunities, capital expenditures and possible resolution of contingencies, through internally generated funds
supplemented with debt as needed.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s contractual obligations at December 31, 2007, and the
effect such obligations are expected to have on its liquidity and cash flow in future periods. Pension and other
postretirement plan contributions beyond 2008 are not determinable since the amount of any contribution is
heavily dependent on the future economic environment and investment returns on pension trust assets. The
timing of payments related to other long-term liabilities, which consist primarily of deferred compensation
agreements, cannot be readily determined due to their uncertainty. Interest obligations on the Company’s short
and long-term debt are excluded as the majority of the Company’s debt is subject to variable interest rates.
(Amounts in milltons)

Payments due by period
2013 and

Contractual Obligations Total 2008 2009 2010 201t 2012 Beyond
Short-termdebt . .................... $ 2533 $2533 § — $§ — § — $ — § —
Long-termdebt ..................... 79.040 1419 1,159 — — 71.462 5.000
Capital lease obligations ............. 1.375 0431 0369 0.558 0.017 — —
Non-cancelable operating leases ..... .. 19.188 4220 3060 2376 1.8364 1.822 5.846
Purchase obligations . . ............... 6.251 5710 (.541 — — — —
Pension and other postretirement plan

contributions . ......... ... ... 7.669 7.669 — — — — —
Qther long-term liabilities (see Note 19

of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statementsy . ............o0 i 7.398 — — — —_ — 7.398
Total contractual cash obligations . .. ... $123.454 321982 $5.129 $2934 351.881 $73.284 $18.244

Operations

CMS Discussion

In 2003, the Company began entering into new contracts under which it receives a set management fee and
the costs that relate to those management fees were and are largely dependent on how well the Company controls
product costs and achieves product conversions from other third-party suppliers to its own products. This
approach came with new risks and opportunities, as the profit earned from the management fee is subject to
movemenis in product costs as well as the Company’s own performance. The Company believes this expanded
approach is a way for Quaker to become an integral part of our customers’ operational efforts to improve
manufacturing costs and to demonstrate value that the Company would not be able to demonstrate as purely a
product provider.

Consistent with the foregoing approach, the Company was awarded a series of multi-year CMS contracts,
primarily at General Motors Powertrain, Chrysler and Ford manufacturing sites over the last several years. This
business was an important step in building the Company’s share and leadership position in the automotive
process fluids market and has positioned the Company well for penetration of CMS opportunities in other
metalworking manufacturing sites. This alternative approach had a dramatic impact on the Company’s revenue
and margins. Under the traditional CMS approach, where the Company effectively acts as an agent, revenues and
costs from these sales are reported on a net sales or “pass-through” basis. The alternative structure is different in
that the Company’s revenue received from the customer is a fee for products and services provided to the
customer, which are indirectly related to the actual costs incurred. As a result, the Company recognizes in the
alternative structure in reported revenues the gross revenue received from the CMS site customer, and in cost of
goods sold the third-party product purchases, which substantially offset each other until the Company achieves
significant product conversions. As some contracts have been renewed or renegotiated, some of the contracts
have reverted to a “pass-through™ basis, while others have remained on a gross basis. Currently, the Company
has a mix of contracts with both the traditional product pass-through structure and fixed priced contracts covering
all services and products, The Company’s offerings will continue to include both approaches to CMS depending
on customer requirements and business circumstances.
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Comparison of 2007 with 2006

Net sales for 2007 were $545.6 million, up 18.5% from $460.5 million for 2006. The increase in net sales
was attributable to a combination of higher sales prices and volume growth. Volume growth was realized across
all regions with strong gains in both Asia/Pacific and Europe, as well as higher revenue related to the Company’s
CMS channel. Foreign exchange rate translation increased revenues by approximately 5% for 2007 compared to
2006. Selling price increases were realized across all regions and market segments, in part as an ongoing effort to
offset higher raw material costs. CMS revenues were higher due to additional CMS accounts, as well as the
renewal and restructuring (pass-through to gross) of several of the Company’s CMS contracts.

Gross profit (net sales less cost of goods sold) in dollar terms was higher by more than $25.0 million, or
189, consistent with the increased sales. Higher selling prices and a stronger performance from the Company’s
CMS channel helped improve gross profit in dollar terms, while higher raw material costs and sales mix resulted
in a slightly lower gross profit percentage. Gross profit as a percentage of sales was 30.8% for 2007, as compared
to 31% for 2006.

Selling, general and administrative expenses (*SG&A”) for 2007 increased $18.5 million compared to 2006.
Foreign exchange rate translation accounted for approximately $5.6 million of the increase over the prior year.
Also negatively affecting the comparison with the prior year was a pension gain of $0.9 million recorded in the
first quarter of 2006, due to a legislative change. The remainder of the increase was due to continued planned
spending in higher growth areas, including China, higher incentive compensation as a result of higher earnings,
higher commissions as a result of higher sales, higher legal and environmental costs, and inflationary increases.
In addition, during the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a charge of $0.7 million related to a
discontinued strategic initiative and a $0.5 million charge related to certain customer bankruptcies.

In the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded environmental charges of $3.3 million as disclosed in its
press release dated October 23, 2007. The charges consisted of $2.0 million related to the settlement of
environmental litigation involving AC Products, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary, as well as an additional $1.3
million charge for the estimated future remediation costs.

The increase in other income was primarily due to foreign exchange gains recorded in 2007, compared to
losses in the prior year. The increase in net interest expense was attributable to higher average borrowings and
higher interest rates.

The Company's effective tax rate was 29.3% for 2007, compared to 33.8% in the prior year. The lower
effective tax rate includes a higher refund of taxes in China as a result of the Company’s increased investment
with $0.7 million received in 2007 versus $0.4 million received in 2006. In addition, the lower effective tax rate
includes a non-cash out-of-period tax benefit adjustment of $1.0 million related to certain deferred tax items. The
effective tax rate was also affected by a changing mix of income among tax jurisdictions as well as the
Company’s first quarter 2007 adoption of FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncentainty in Income
Taxes” (“FIN 48"). At the end of 2007, the Company had net U.S. deferred tax assets totaling $16.8 million,
excluding deferred tax assets relating to additional minimum pension liabilities. The Company records valuation
allowances when necessary 10 reduce its deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be
realized. The Company considers future taxable income and ongoing prudent and feasible tax planning strategies
in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. However, in the event the Company were to determine that it
would not be able to realize all or part of its net deferred tax assets in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax
assets would be a non-cash charge to income in the period such determination was made, which could have a
material adverse impact on the Company's financial statements. The continued price pressure in the Company’s
raw materials has been negatively impacting profitability in certain taxing jurisdictions. The Company continues
to closely monitor this situation as it relates to its net deferred tax assets and the assessment of valuation
allowances. The Company is continuing to evaluate alternatives that could positively impact taxable income in
these jurisdictions.
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Net income for 2007 was $15.5 million compared to $11.7 million for 2006. Increased sales and gross
margin were offset in part by higher selling, general and administrative expenses and a $3.3 million
environmental charge. In addition, the net income increase includes the higher tax refund in China as well as the
out-of-period tax benefit of $1.0 million,

Segment Reviews—Comparison of 2007 with 2006
Metalworking Process Chemicals:

Metalworking Process Chemicals consists of industrial process fluids for various heavy industrial and
manufacturing applications and represented approximately 93% of the Company’s net sales in 2007. Net sales
were up $80.3 million, or 19% compared to 2006. Foreign currency translation positively impacted net sales by
approximately 6%, driven by the euro to U.S. dollar and Brazilian real to U.S. dollar exchange rates. The average
euro to U.S. dollar exchange rate was 1.37 in 2007, compared to 1.26 in 2006, and the average Brazilian real
exchange rate was 0.52 in 2007, compared to 0.46 in 2006. Net sales were positively impacted by growth of
25.5% in Asia/Pacific, 14.0% in North America, 10.2% in Europe and 7.2% in South America, all on a constant
currency basis. The growth in sales was attributable to volume growth, higher sales prices, and higher CMS sales
due to the rencgotiation of certain contracts in 2007. The majority of the volume growth came from increased
demand in China, while price increases implemented across all regions helped, in part, to offset higher raw
material costs. The $12.3 million increase in this segment’s operating income compared to 2006 is largely
reflective of the Company’s pricing actions and improved performance from the Company’s U.S. CMS channel,
offset in part by higher selling costs.

Coatings:

The Company’s coatings segment, which represented approximately 7% of the Company’s net sales for
2007, contains products that provide temporary and permanent coatings for metal and concrete products and
chemical milling maskants. Net sales for this segment were up $4.0 million, or 12.1%, compared to 2006. The
increase in net sales was the result of increased demand both for coatings and chemical milling maskant product
sales sold to the aerospace industry. This segment’s operating income was up $0.5 million, consistent with the
increased sales offset by higher contract manufacturing and selling costs.

Other Chemical Products:

Other Chemical Products, which represented less than 1% of the Company’s net sales for 2007, consists of
sulfur removal products for industrial gas streams sold by the Company’s Q2 Technologies joint venture. Net
sales were up $0.9 million and operating income was up $0.1 million. The increase in sales is reflective of this
segment’s second quarter 2007 acquisition of Frontier Research and Chemicals Company, which were offset in
part by declines in this segment’s base business.

Comparison of 2006 with 2005

Net sales for 2006 were $460.5 million, up 8.6% from $424.0 million for 2005. The increase in net sales
was attributable to higher sales prices and volume growth. Volume growth was mainly attributable to market
share growth and increased demand in the U.S. and China offset by softening demand in Europe. Selling price
increases were broadly implemented across all regions and market segments 1o offset significantly higher raw
material costs.

Gross profit as a percentage of sales was 31.0% for 2006, compared to 30.6% for 2005. Higher selling
prices and a stronger performance from the Company’s CMS channel helped maintain margins notwithstanding
continued increases in raw material prices, particularly crude oil derivatives.
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Selling, general and administrative expenses for 2006 increased $4.6 million compared to 2005. Cost
savings from restructuring efforts completed in 2005 enabled increased spending in higher growth areas, higher
variable compensation, and higher professional fees. In addition, due to a legislative change, effective January 1,
2006, the Company recorded a pension gain in the first quarter of 2006 of $0.9 million relating to one of its
European pension plans. SG&A as a percentage of sales decreased from 27.4% to 26.3%.

In the first quarter of 2005, the Company incurred a net pre-tax charge of $1.2 million related to a reduction
in its workforce. During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company furthered this restructuring effort with the goal
of significantly reducing operating costs in the U.S. and Europe. The fourth quarter program included involuntary
terminations, a freeze of the Company’s U.S. pension plan, and a voluntary early retirement offering to eligible
U.S. employees. These actions resulted in a net pre-tax charge of $9.1 miilion.

The decrease in other income is largely due to $4.2 million of pre-tax gain relating to the Company’s real
estate joint venture recorded in 2005. The remainder of the decrease was the result of foreign exchange losses in
2006 compared to gains in 2005. The increase in net interest expense is attributable to higher average borrowings
and higher interest rates.

The effective tax rate was 33.8% for 2006, compared to 50.4% in 2005, with the decrease primarily due to
the tax charge taken in 2005 associated with the repatriation of accumulated foreign earnings.

The decrease in minority interest expense for 2006 was due to the acquisition of the remaining 40% interest
in the Company's Brazilian affiliate in March of 2005, the fourth quarter 2006 acquisition of the remaining
interest in the Company's China affiliate, and lower financial performance from most of the Company’s minority
affiliates.

Segment Reviews—Comparison of 2006 with 2005
Metalworking Process Chemicals:

Metalworking Process Chemicals consist of industrial process fluids for various heavy industrial and
manufacturing applications and represented approximately 92% of the Company’s net sales in 2006. Net sales for
this segment were up $32.0 million, or 8%, compared to 2005. Foreign currency translation positively impacted
net sales by approximately 1%, driven by the Brazilian real to U.S. dollar exchange rate. The average Brazilian
real to U.S. dollar rate was 0.46 in 2006, compared to 0.41 in 2005. Net sales were positively impacted by growth
of 4% in North America, 5% in Europe, 20% in Asia/Pacific and 2% in South America, all on a constant
currency basis. The growth in net sales was attributable to both higher sales and volume growth. The majority of
the volume growth came from increased demand in China, while price increases implemented across all regions
helped to restore margins despite higher raw material costs. The $12.6 million increase in this segment’s
operating income compared to 2005 is largely reflective of the Company’s pricing actions, improved
performance from the Company’s U.S. CMS channel, and savings generated from the Company’s 2005
restructuring actions.

Coatings:

The Company’s Coatings segment, which represented approximately 7% of the Company’s net sales for
2006, contains products that provide temporary and permanent coatings for metai and concrete products and
chemical milling maskants. Net sales for this segment were up $6.2 million, or 23% in 2006, compared with the
prior year. The increase in net sales was the result of increased demand for both coatings and chemical milling
maskants sold to the aerospace industry. This segment’s operating income increased $1.2 million, consistent with
the noted volume increases.
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Other Chemical Products:

Other Chemical Products, which represented approximately 1% of the Company’s net sales for 2006,
consists of sulfur removal products for industrial gas streams sold by the Company’s Q2 Technologies joint
venture. Net sales for 2006 decreased $1.8 million, or 47%, due to a variety of market conditions, including
reduced demand in the hydrocarbon and wastewater markets. This segment’s operating income decreased $0.4
million, as a result of the noted volume decreases.

Restructuring and Related Activities

In the first quarter of 2005, Quaker’s management approved a restructuring plan (2005 1% Quarter Program).
Inciuded in the first quarter 2005 restructuring charge were provisions for severance for 16 employees totaling
$1.4 million. At December 31, 2005, all severance payments were completed. The Company reversed $0.1
million of unused restructuring charges related to this program, which completed all actions contemplated by the
2005 1% Quarter Program.

In the fourth quarter of 2005, Quaker’s management approved a restructuring plan (2005 4t Quarter
Program) with the goal of significantly reducing operating costs in the U.S. and Europe. The restructuring plan
included involuntary terminations, a freeze of the Company’s U.S. pension plan, and a voluntary early retirement
window to certain U.S. employees, with enhanced pension and other postretirement benefits. Included in the
restructuring charges were provisions for severance (voluntary and involuntary) of 55 employees. Restructuring
and related charges of $9.3 million were recognized in the fourth quarter of 2005. The charge comprised $4.0
million related to severance for involuntary terminations, $1.0 million related to one-time payments for voluntary
early retirement, $2.7 million related to the U.S. pension plan freeze, and $1.6 miilion for the enhanced pension
and other postretirement benefits related to voluntary early retirement participants. See also Note 11 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements which appears in Item 8 of this Report. The Company completed the
initiatives contemplated under this program during 2006.

Environmental Clean-up Activities

The Company is involved in environmental clean-up activities in connection with an existing plant location
and former waste disposal sites. In April of 1992, the Company identified certain soil and groundwater
contamination at AC Products, Inc. (“ACP"), a wholly owned subsidiary. In voluntary coordination with the
Santa Ana California Regional Water Quality Board, ACP is remediating the contamination. Effective
October 17, 2007, ACP agreed to operate the two existing groundwater treatment systems associated with the
extraction wells P-2 and P-3 so as to hydraulically contain groundwater contamination emanating from ACP’s
site until such time as the concentrations of contaminants are below the Federal maximum contaminant level for
four consecutive quarterly sampling events. At December 31, 2007, the Company believes that the remaining
potential-known liabilities associated with the ACP contamination, including amounts owed to OCWD pursuant
to the settlement and estimated future cost of the soil and water remediation program, are approximately $3.7
million to $5.6 miilion, for which the Company has sufficient reserves. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Company cannot be certain that liabilities in the form of remediation expenses and damages will not be incurred
in excess of the amount reserved. See Note 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements which appears in
Item 8 of this Report.

General

The Company generally does not use financial instruments that expose it to significant risk involving
foreign currency transactions; however, the size of non-U.S. activities has a significant impact on reported
operating results and the attendant net assets. During the past three years, sales by non-U.S, subsidiaries
accounted for approximately 55% to 58% of the consolidated net annual sales. See Note 15 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements which appears in Item 8 of this Report.
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Factors that May Affect Our Future Results

(Cautionary Statements Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995)

Certain information included in this Report and other materials filed or to be filed by Quaker with the SEC
(as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us) contain
or may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements can be
identified by the fact that they do not relate stricily to historical or current facts. We have based these forward-
looking statements on our current expectations about future events. These forward-looking statements include
statements with respect to our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, intentions, financial
condition, results of operations, future performance, and business, including:

«  statements relating to our business strategy;

*  our current and future results and plans; and

LI LA

+  statements that include the words “may,” “could,” “should,” “would, “believe, anticipate,”

5 Ll

“estimate,” “intend, “plan” or similar expressions.

expect,

Such statements include information relating to current and future business activities, operational matters,
capital spending, and financing sources. From time to time, oral or written forward-looking statements are also
included in Quaker’s periodic reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K,, press releases and other materials released to the
public.

Any or all of the forward-looking statements in this Report, in Quaker’s Annual Report to Shareholders for
2007 and in any other public statements we make may turn out to be wrong. This can occur as a result of
inaccurate assumptions or as a consequence of known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors
discussed in this Report will be important in determining our future performance. Consequently, actual resulis
may differ materially from those that might be anticipated from our forward-looking statements.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise., However, any further disclosures made on related subjects in Quaker’s
subsequent reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K should be consulted. These forward-looking statements are
subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and our operations that are subject to change based on
various important factors, some of which are beyond our control. A major risk is that the Company’s demand is
largely derived from the demand for its customers’ products, which subjects the Company to uncertainties related
to downturns in a customer’s business and unanticipated customer production shutdowns. Other major rtsks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to, significant increases in raw material costs, worldwide economic and
political conditions, foreign currency fluctuations, and terrorist attacks such as those that occurred on
September 11, 2001, each of which is discussed in greater detail in Item 1A of this Report. Furthermore, the
Company is subject to the same business cycles as those experienced by steel, automobile, aircraft, appliance,
and durable goods manufacturers. These risks, uncertainties, and possible inaccurate assumptions relevant to our
business could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical resuits. Other factors
beyond those discussed in this Report could also adversely affect us. Therefore, we caution you not to place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. This discussion is provided as permitted by the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Quaker is exposed to the impact of interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations, changes in commaodity
prices, and credit risk.

Interest Rate Risk. Quaker’s exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to
its short and long-term debt. Most of Quaker’s debt is negotiated at market rates. Accordingly, if interest rates
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rise significantly, the cost of debt to Quaker will increase. This can have an adverse effect on Quaker, depending
on the extent of Quaker’s borrowings. As of December 31, 2007, Quaker had approximately $73.8 million in
borrowings under its credit facilities at a weighted average borrowing rate of approximately 5.8%. The Company
uses derivative financial instruments primarily for the purposes of hedging exposures to fluctuations in interest
rates. The Company does not enter into derivative contracts for trading ar speculative purposes. In 2007 and
2006, the Company entered into interest rate swaps in order to fix a portion of its variable rate debt. The swaps
had a combined notional value of $35.0 million and $25.0 million and a fair value of $(1.1) million and $0.1
million at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The counterparties to the swaps are major
financial institutions. See the information included under the caption “Derivatives” in Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements which appears in Item 8 of this Report and is incorporated herein by
reference. In February 2007, the Company completed a refinancing of its existing industrial development bonds
to fix the interest rate of an additional $5.0 million of debt,

Foreign Exchange Risk. A significant portion of Quaker’s revenues and earnings is generated by its
foreign operations. These foreign operations alse hold a significant portion of Quaker’s assets and liabilities, All
such operations use the local currency as their functional currency, Accordingly, Quaker’s financial results are
affected by risks typical of global business such as currency fluctuations, particularly between the U.S. dollar, the
Brazilian real, the Chinese renminbi and the E.U. euro. As exchange rates vary, Quaker’s results can be
materially affected.

The Company generally does not use financial instruments that expose it to significant risk involving
foreign currency transactions; however, the size of non-U.S. activities has a significant impact on reported
operating results and the attendant net assets. During the past three years, sales by non-U.S. subsidiaries
accounted for approximately 55% to 58% of consolidated net annual sales.

In addition, the Company often sources inventory among its worldwide operations. This practice can give
rise to foreign exchange risk resulting from the varying cost of inventory to the receiving location, as well as
from the revaluation of intercompany balances. The Company mitigates this risk through local sourcing efforts.

Commodity Price Risk. Many of the raw materials used by Quaker are commodity chemicals, and,
therefore, Quaker’s earnings can be materially affected by market changes in raw material prices. In certain
cases, Quaker has entered into fixed-price purchase contracts having a term of up to one year. These contracts
provide for protection to Quaker if the price for the contracted raw materials rises, however, in certain limited
circumstances, Quaker will not realize the benefit if such prices decline.

Credit Risk. Quaker establishes altowances for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the
inability of its customers to make required payments, If the financial condition of Quaker’s customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
Downturns in the overall economic climate may also exacerbate specific customer financial issues. A significant
portion of Quaker’s revenues is derived from sales to customers in the U.S. steel and automotive industries,
where a number of bankruptcies occurred during recent years and companies have experienced financial
difficulty. When a bankruptcy occurs, Quaker must judge the amount of proceeds, if any, that may ultimately be
received through the bankruptcy or liquidation process. In addition, as part of its terms of trade, Quaker may
custom manufacture products for certain large customers and/or may ship product on a consignment basis. These
practices may increase the Company’s exposure should a bankruptey occur, and may require write-down or
disposal of certain inventory due to its estimated obsolescence or limited marketability. Customer returns of
products or disputes may also result in similar issues related to the realizability of recorded accounts receivable
or returned inventory.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
of Quaker Chemical Corporation:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Quaker Chemical Corporation and its subsidiaries at December 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearing under Item 9A. Qur responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements and on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated aundits. We conducted our audits in
accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statemenls are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
cvidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinions.

As discugsed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner for which it
accounts for uncertainty in income taxes in 2007. As discussed in Note 11 and Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for defined benefit pension and other
postretirement plans effective December 31, 2006 and the manner in which it accounts for share-based
compensation in 2006.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate,

s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, PA
March 7, 2008
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,
2607 2006 2005
(In thousands, except
per share amounts}
£ 1 =1 U $545,597 $460,451 $424,033
Costs and expenses:
Costofgoodssold ........ o oo 377,661 317850 294,219
Selling, general, and administrative expenses .................c.... 139429 120,969 116,340
Environmental charges .. ........ ... i 3,300 —_ —
Restructuring and related activities, net .. ......... .. ..o it —_ — 10,320
520,390 438,819 420,879
Operating iNCOME . . . .....oi ittt iiiaaas 25,207 21,632 3,154
Other INCOME, ML . . . ..ot ettt e e aas 2,578 1,259 6,120
INLErESt EXPENSE .. .. vttt ettt i i (6,426) (5,520) (3,681)
INEETESE INCOIMIE © o v vttt e et ittt e et et e ettt e s aaeraaaneanenssns 1,376 1,069 1,022
Income before taxes, equity income and minority interest ................ 22,735 18,440 6,615
TaXES OMANCOMIE .« o vt v v vt e et e e e an e eam et e aan e naanrrres 6,668 6,224 3,336
16,067 12,216 3,279
Equity in net income of associated companies .......... ... . oo 783 773 618
Minority interest in net income of subsidiaries ................ ... {1,379) (1,322) (2,209)
N IDICOIIE - o vttt ettt e ettt am e e et ia e $ 15471 $ 11,667 $ 1,688
Per share data:
Net income—basic . .. ... oot i it e $ 155 % 119 §$ 017
Netincome—diluted . ....... ...ttt iiineneiiiens $ 153 $ 118 § 0O.17
Weighted average shares outstanding:
23T L2 0,986 9,779 9,679
Diluted ... e 10,107 9,854 9,816

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,

2007

2006

{In thousands, except
par value and
share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets
Cashand cash equivalents . ... ... ..t ieeaaeeens $ 20,195 $ 16,062
Accounts receivable, met .. ... L e e e 118,135 107,340
FE 1R 110 T o L 60,738 51,984
Deferred inCOmMe LAXeS . . . ... e e e e e 4,042 4,379
Prepatd expenses and other currentassets ............... ... ... . i eii.an. 10,391 6,476
Total CUITENt ASSELS ...\ttt vttt it s ettt rres 213,501 186,241
Property, plant and equipment, niet . ... .. ... ... e e 62,287 60,927
Goodwill .. . 43,789 38,740
Other intangible assels, DB . ... ... ... i e e 7,873 8,330
Investments in associated COMPANIES ... ... ..o irt ittt i iie e een 7,323 7,044
Deferred INCOmME taXeS . . .. o e e e e 30,257 28,573
L 13Tt YT 34,019 27,527
Total A88BLS . ..ot e $399,049 $357,382
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-termdebt . .................. $ 4,288 3 4950
Accounts payable . ... ... e e 65,202 54,212
Dividends payable . ... .. ... e 2,178 2,133
Accrued COMPENSAON . .. .. ...t e e 17,287 15,225
Other current liabilities . ... ... . i i e e e e 17,396 13,659
Total current liabilities ... ...... ... ottt it e 106,351 90,179
Long-termdebt ... ... . . ... e e 78,487 85,237
Deferred INCOME taXeS . . ... . i et e e e e 7,583 5,317
Accrued pension and postretirement benefits ............ . L o oL 30,699 38,430
Other non-current liabilities ... ... .. ... . i i i i i s 41,023 23,353
Total Habilities ... .. ...\t e e e 264,143 242516
Minority interest in equity of subsidiaries ....... ... ... ... ... . o i 4,513 4,035
Commitments and contingencies . ............. . .coiiiiiiii it -— —
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, $1 par value; authorized 30,000,000 shares;

Issued: 2007-10,147,239 shares, 2006-9.925,976shares ..................... 10,147 9,926
Capital inexcessof parvalue . ........ .. ... . ... i i 10,104 5,466
Retained earnings ... ... ... .. e e 115,767 114,498
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ... . .. . . i e (5,625 (19,059

Total shareholders” equity .. ... ... it e 130,393 110,831
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .......... e $399,049 $357,382

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006

2005

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Nt IO « . . oottt ettt ettt ettt e et ettt aer e e e e e e $15471 $11667 5 1,688
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
DEPreciation . ... ..u.uutiiueeiatt et 11,686 10,136 9,163
AMOMIZALION ..ottt t et a et it e e aaa it taiatir e raaaaaaeens 1,197 1,427 1,368
Equity in net income of associated companies, net of dividends ................ (219) (348 (384)
Minority interest in earnings of subsidiaries ......... ... ... oo 1,379 1,322 2,209
Deferred INCOME LAXES . . . ..ottt ittt iae s rermntecaaenacaannraasass (354) 404 (4,476)
Uncertain tax positions (non-deferred portion) ......... ..o iiani 1,577 — —
Deferred compensationandother,net . ........ ..o i i (85) (507 (747)
Stock-based cOmMPensation ...........oie et e 1,550 857 771
Restructuring and related activities, net ............. ... i — — 6,018
Environmental charges . .......c.c.ovviiiviiiane i e 3,300 — —
Gain on sale of partnership assets ... ... it e — — (2,98%)
{Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment . .................... (40) 34 —
Insurance settlementrealized .. ..... ... . .. i i (1,854) (544) —
Pension and other postretirement benefits ... ... .o (3,596) (4,247 439)
Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in current assets and current liabilities, net of
acquisitions:
ACCOURLS TECEIVADLE . . .. .. i i i e e (4,093} (8,947) (9,600)
R 110 1= A PPN (5,182 (4,146)  (5.821)
Prepaid expenses and other CUITENT ASSEIS ... oo v v i v e s e nee e 122 (140} 161
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . .. .......... ... ... ... o 7,612 5,440 15,726
Change in restructuring liabilities .............. ... .. .. oo oL — (4,033) (2,798)
Estimated taXxes ON IICOIME & ..o vttt v e s e e e e maemraaa et annnaanns 970) (192) 1,722
Net cash provided by operating activities ................... ... ..., 27,501 8,183 11,572
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expendilires .. ... .. .ooonei i s (9,165) (12,379) (6,989)
Payments related 10 acquisilions .. ........ ... it i s (2.373) (1,684) {6,700)
Proceeds from partnership dispositionof assets ............. .o i —_ — 2,989
Proceeds from disposition of assets .. ... oo i i 259 64 1918
Insurance settlement received and interestearned . ........... ... ... Lo 5,705 7,836 7,508
Change inrestricted €ash, NEL . ... . v vt vi e i e (3,851) (7,292) (7.508)
Net cash used in investing activities ............ ... ... v, (9,425) (13,455) (8,782)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from short-termdebl . ..., . oot i e e 2,250 1,897 —
Net decrease in short-term boImowings . ... ... .. ... i iiiiin i (3,198) (3.384) (52,703)
Proceeds from long-termdebt .. ... ... ... e — 15,283 59,525
Repaymentof long-termdebt . ... ... ... e (8.,345) (940) (9,566)
Dividends paid . ... ... u vttt e i (8.654) (8,444} (8,340)
Stock options exercised, other .. ..., .. ... e 3,309 1,235 387
Distributions to minority shareholders ... ... .. ... . i e (1,265) (14900  (4,198)
Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities ...................... (15,903) 4,157  (14.895)
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .. ... ... ... ... ... ... i 1,960 1,056 (852)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............... ... ... 4,133 59 (12,957
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period . ................... ... 16,062 16,121 20,078
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theperiod ............... ... ... ... $20,195 316,062 $§ 16,121
Supplemental cash flow disclosures
Cash paid during the year for:
IDCOMIE LAKES o\ v v vt eea et o ee et e e ee et $ 6819 3 6315 $ 5584
5 =2 5,716 4,944 3,354
Non-cash activities:
Restricted insurance receivable (See also Note 18 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
SHALEITIENIE) .« « ottt ittt e et ias s ettt me e ettt m e e $ 5000 § 7500 % 7.500

The accompanying notes are an integral of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Accumulated
Capital in other
Common excess of Retained Unearned comprehensive
stock  parvalue earnings compensation income (loss) Total

Balance at December 31,2004 .................. S 9669 $ 2632 3117981 $(355) $ (7,340 122,587
Netincome . ..........c.oiiiiiiiiinnnnn. —_ —_ 1,688 — — 1.688
Currency translation adjustments . ........... — — — — (7.897) (7,897
Minimum pension liability ..............._, — —_ - — (3,449) (3.449)
Current period changes in fair value of

derivatives ............ ... . ciiiiiinn. —_ — —_ — (71) an
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale

SECUMIES ... .ttt ineenineenns — — — — 47 47

Comprehensiveloss . .................. — _ — — — (9,682)

Dividends ($0.86 pershare) ................ — — (8.352) — — (8.352)
Shares issued upon exercise of options ........ 3 273 — — — 306
Shares issued for employee stock purchase

plan ... 17 260 — — —_ 277
Equity-based compensation plans . ........... 7 409 — — — 416
Amortization of unearned compensation . . . .. .. — — — 355 — 355

Balance at December 31,2005 .................. 9,726 3,574 111,317 — (18,710) 105,907
Netincome . ....oovni ittt — — 11,667 — —_ 11,667
Currency translation adjustments ............ — — — — 7.396 7.396
Minimum pension liability ................. — _ —_ — 1,250 1,250
Current period changes in fair value of

derivatives .........coiiiiiii i — — — — 155 155
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale

SECUMtIES ... e i e — — — — 143 143

Comprehensive income ................ — — -— — — 20,611

Adjustment to initially apply FASB Statement

No. 158 .. — — — — (9,293) (9,293)
Dividends ($0.86 per share) ................ — —_ (8,486) — — (8,486)
Shares issued upon exercise of options . ....... 104 942 — _ — 1,046
Shares issued for employee stock purchase

plan .. ... 11 178 — — — 189
Equity-based compensation plans . ........... 85 772 —_— -— — 857

Balance at December 31,2006 .................. 9,026 5466 114,498 — (19.059) 110,831
Netincome . ... i —_ — 15,471 e 15,471
Currency translation adjustments ............ — — — — 10,861 10,361
FASB Statement No. 158: ................., — — _ —_

Net gain (loss) arising during the period,
other ... ... .. i — —_ -— — 2,555 2,555
Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss . . .. .. — —_ — — 1,049 1,049
Amortization of prior service cost
{eredit) ... ... oo — -— — — (1) (11}
Amortization of initial net asset ......... —_ — _— — (138) (138)
Current period changes in fair value of
derivatives ... ....... .. ivreririanae.s —_ — — — (799 (799)
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale
SECUNLIES ..oyt ie e in i ennnnnns — — —_ — (83) (83)
Comprehensiveincome ................ 28,905
Adjustment to initially apply FIN48 ... ... .. — — (5,503) — — (5.503)
Dividends (30.86 per share} ................ — — (8,699) — — (8.699)
Shares issued upen exercise of options . ....... 170 2,909 — — — 3,079
Shares issued for employee stock purchase
plan ... .. 12 218 — — —_— 230
Equity-based compensation plans . ........... 39 1,511 — — — 1.550
Balance at December 31,2007 .................. $10,147 $i0,104 §115.767 35— 5 (5.625) $130393

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{Dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

Note 1—Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of consolidation: All majority-owned subsidiaries are included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, with appropriate elimination of intercompany balances and transactions. Investments in
associated (less than majority-owned) companies are accounted for under the equity method. The Company’s
share of net income or losses of investments is included in the consolidated statement of income. The Company
periodically reviews these investments for impairments and, if necessary, would adjust these investments 1o their
fair value when a decline in market value is deemed to be other than temporary.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™}, issued FASB Interpretation No. 46
(“FIN 46"}, “Consolidation of Certain Variable Interest Entities, (“VIEs™), which is an interpretation of
Accounting Research Bulletin (“ARB™) No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” FIN 46, as revised by FIN
46 (revised December 2003), addresses the application of ARB No. 51 to VIEs, and generally would require that
assets, liabilities and results of the activities of a VIE be consolidated into the financial statements of the
enterprise that is considered the primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the Company and all of its subsidiaries in which a controlling interest is maintained and would include any
VIEs if the Company was the primary beneficiary pursuant to the provisions of FIN 46 (revised December 2003).
The Company determined that its real estate joint venture, which was always accounted for under the equity
method, was a VIE but that the Company was not the primary beneficiary. In February 2005, the Venture sold its
real estate assets, which resulted in $4,187 of proceeds to the Company after payment of the partnership
obligations. The proceeds included, a gain of $2,989 related to the sale by the Venture of its real estate holdings
as well as $1,198 of preferred distributions. These proceeds are included in other income. See also Note 5 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Translation of foreign currency: Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries and associated
companies are translated into U.S. dollars at the respective rates of exchange prevailing at the end of the year.
Income and expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates prevailing during the year. Translation
adjustments resulting from this process are recorded directly in shareholders’ equity and will be included in
income only upon sale or liquidation of the underlying investment. All non-U.S. subsidiaries use their local
currency as its functional currency.

Cash and cash equivalents: The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Inventories: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market value. Inventories are vatued using the
first-in, first-out (“FIFQ”) method. See also Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Long-lived assets: Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the
straight-line method on an individual asset basis over the following estimated useful lives: buildings and
improvements, 10 to 45 years; and machinery and equipment, 3 to 15 years. The carrying value of long-lived
assets is periodically evaluated whenever changes in circumstances or current events indicate the carrying
amount of such assets may not be recoverable. An estimate of undiscounted cash flows produced by the asset, or
the appropriate group of assets, is compared with the carrying value to determine whether an impairment exists.
If necessary, the Company recognizes an impairment loss for the difference between the carrying amount of the
assets and their estimated fair value. Fair value ts based on current and anticipated future undiscounted cash
flows. Upon sale or other dispositions of long-lived assets, the applicable amounts of asset cost and accumulated
depreciation are removed from the accounts and the net amount, less proceeds from disposals is recorded to
income. Expenditures for renewals and betterments, which increase the estimated useful life or capacity of the
assets, are capitalized; expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred.
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QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(Dollars in thousands except per share amounts)

Capitalized software: The Company applies the Accounting Standards Executive Committee Statement
of Position (SOP) 98- 1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal
Use.” This SOP requires the capitalization of certain costs incurred in connection with developing or obtaining
software for internal use. In connection with the implementation of the Company’s global transaction system,
approximately $1,685 and $3,817 of net costs were capitalized at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
These costs are amortized over a period of five years once the assets are placed into service.

Goodwill and other intangible assets: On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The standard requires that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets no longer be amortized. In addition, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for
impairment at least annually. These tests will be performed more frequently if there are triggering events.
Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally for periods ranging
from 5 to 20 years. The Company continually evaluates the reasonableness of the useful lives of these assets. See
also Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue recognition: The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with the terms of the underlying
agreements, when title and risk of loss have been transferred, collectibility is reasonably assured, and pricing is
fixed or determinable. This generally occurs for product sales when products are shipped to customers or, for
consignment arrangements, upon usage by the customer and when services are performed. License fees and
royalties are recognized in accordance with agreed-upon terms, when performance obligations are satisfied, the
amount is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured, and are included in other income. As
part of the Company’s chemical management services, certain third-party product sales to customers are
managed by the Company. Where the Company acts as a principal, revenues are recognized on a gross reporting
basis at the selling price negotiated with customers. Where the Company acts as an agent, such revenue is
recorded using net reporting as service revenues, at the amownt of the administrative fee eamned by the Company
for ordering the goods. Third-party products transferred under arrangements resulting in net reporting totaled
$52,702, $62,777 and $38,840 for 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Research and development costs: Rescarch and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research
and development expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expenses, and during 2007, 2006
and 2005 were $14,608, $12,989 and $14,148, respectively.

Concentration of credit risk: Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to a
concentration of credit risk, principally consist of cash equivalents, short-term investments, and trade receivables.
The Company invests temporary and excess funds in money market securities and financial instruments having
maturities typically within 90 days. The Company has not experienced losses from the aforementioned
investments. See also Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Environmental liabilities and expenditures: Accruals for environmental matters are recorded when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. If no
amount in the range is considered more probable than any other amount, the Company records the lowest amount
in the range in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Accrued liabilities are exclusive of
claims against third parties and are not discounted. Environmental costs and remediation costs are capitalized if
the costs extend the life, increase the capacity or improve safety or efficiency of the property from the date
acquired or constructed, and/or mitigate or prevent contamination in the future.

34




QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

(Doflars in thousands except per share amounts)

Comprehensive income (foss): The Company presents comprehensive income (loss) in its Statement of
Shareholders’ Equity. The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2007 include:
accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments of $13,264, minimum pension liability of
$(18,399), unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities of $226, and the fair value of derivative
instruments of $(716). The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2006 include:
accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments of $1,848, minimum pension liability of $(21,300),
unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale securities of $308 and the fair value of derivative instruments of
585.

Income taxes and uncertain tax positions: The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset
and liability approach of accounting for income taxes. Under this approach, deferred taxes represent the future
tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. The
provision for income taxes represents income taxes paid or payable for the current year plus the change in
deferred taxes during the year. Deferred taxes result from differences between the financial and tax bases of the
Company’s assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax rates and tax laws when changes are enacted.
Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit
will not be realized. The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48™) on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 applies to all
income tax positions taken on previously filed tax returns or expected to be taken on a future tax return. FIN 48
prescribes a benefit recognition model with a two-step approach, a more-likely-than-not recognition criterion,
and a measurement attribute that measures the position as the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than
50% likely of being realized upon effective settlement. FIN 48 also requires that the amount of interest expense
and income to be recognized related to uncertain tax positions be computed by applying the applicable statutory
rate of interest to the difference between the tax position recognized in accordance with FIN 48, including timing
differences, and the amount previously taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company’s continuing
practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense.

Derivatives: The Company uses derivative financial instruments primarily for purposes of hedging
exposures to fluctuations in interest rates. The Company does not enter into derivative contracts for trading or
speculative purposes. In accordance with SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” as amended and interpreted, all derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet at fair value, For
derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of any hedge is reported in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) until it is cleared to earnings during the same period in which
the hedged item affects eamings. The Company uses no derivative instruments destgnated as fair value hedges.

The Company has entered into seven interest rate swaps in order to fix a portion of its variable rate debt.
The swaps had a combined notional value of $35,000 and $25,000 and a fair value of $(1,102) and $85 at
December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The counterparties to the swaps are major financial
institutions.

Recently issued accounting standards:

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (SFAS No. 157). SFAS
No. 157 establishes a common definition for fair value to be applied to U.S. GAAP guidance requiring use of fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about such fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities Including an Amendment of FASB No. 115”7 (SFAS No. 159). SFAS No. 159 permits
entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not
currently required to be measured at fair value. This statement also establishes presentation and disclosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparison between entities that choose different measurement attributes for
similar types of assets and liabilities. SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007. The application of SFAS No. 159 is elective and the Company has chosen not to measure any additional
financial instruments or any other items at fair value. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this
standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In September 2007, EITF Issue 06-11 “Accounting for Income Tax Benefits of Dividends on Share-Based
Payment Awards” (EITF 06-11) was issued. EITF 06-11 should be applied prospectively to the income tax
benefits that result from dividends on equity-classified employee share-based payment awards that are declared
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2007, and interim periods within those years. The Company is
currently assessing the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements,

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations (FAS 141(R))”
and SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, as amendment of ARB
No. 51 (FAS 160).” FAS 141(R) will significantly change how business acquisitions are accounted for and wili
impact financial statements both on the acquisition date and in subsequent periods. Some of the changes, such as
the accounting for contingent consideration, will introduce more volatility into earnings. FAS 160 will change
the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and
classified as a component of equity. FAS 141(R) will be applied prospectively. FAS 160 requires retroactive
adoption of the presentation and disclosure requirements for existing minority interests. All other requirements of
FAS 160 shall be applied prospectively. FAS 141(R} and FAS 160 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after December 15, 2008, The Company is currently assessing the impact of these standards on its financial
statements,

Accounting estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, and disclosure of contingencies at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of net sales and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from such estimates.

Reclassifications: Certain reclassifications of prior years’ data have been made to improve comparability.

Note 2—Qut-of-Period Adjustments

During the third quarter of 2007, the Company identified errors of a camulative $993 overstatement of its
consolidated income tax expense for the years 2004, 2005 and 2006. These errors were related to the deferred tax
accounting for the Company’s foreign pension plans and intangible assets regarding one of the Company’s 2002
acquisitions. The Company corrected these errors in the third quarter 2007, which had the effect of reducing tax
expense by $993, and increasing net income by $993 for the three and nine-month period ended September 30,
2007. The Company does not believe this adjustment is material to the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006 or 2007 and, therefore, has not restated any prior period amounts.
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Note 3—Restructuring and Related Activities

In the first quarter of 2005, Quaker's management approved a restructuring plan (2005 1% Quarter Program).
Included in the first quarter 2005 restructuring charge were provisions for severance for 16 employees totaling
$1,408. At December 31, 2005, ali severance payments were completed. The Company reversed $96 of unused
restructuring charges related to this program, which completed all actions contemplated by the 2005 1% Quarter
Program.

In the fourth quarter of 2003, Quaker’s management approved a restructuring plan (2005 4% Quarter
Program} with the goal of significantly reducing operating costs in the U.S. and Europe. The restructuring plan
included involuntary terminations, a freeze of the Company’s U.S. pension plan, a voluntary early retirement
window to certain UJ.S. employees, with enhanced pension and other postretirement benefits. Included in the
restructuring charges were provisions for severance (voluntary and involuntary) of 55 employees. Restructuring
and related charges of $9,344 were recognized in the fourth quarter of 2005. The charge comprised $4,024
related to severance for involuntary terminations, $1,017 related to one-time payments for voluntary early
retirement, $2,668 related to the U.S. pension plan freeze, and $1,635 for the enhanced pension and other
postretirement benefits related to voluntary early retirement participants. The Company completed the initiatives
contemplated under this program during 2006. The charges related to the U.S. pension plan freeze and the
enhanced pension and other postretirement benefits were included as part of the accrued pension and other
postretirement balances. See also Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 4—Uncertain Tax Positions

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting
for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 prescribes
the recognition threshold and measurement attributes for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. FIN 48 requires the determination of whether the benefits
of tax positions will be more likely than not sustained upon audit based upon the technical merits of the tax
position. For tax positions that are determined to be more likely than not sustained upon audit, a company
recognizes the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement
in the financial statements. For tax positions that are not determined to be more likely than not sustained upon
audit, a company does not recognize any portion of the benefit in the financial statements.

FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, penalties and interest, accounting in interim
periods, disclosure, and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The
Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, effective January 1, 2007.

As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a $5,503 increase in reserves for
uncertain tax positions. This increase was accounted for as an adjustment to the beginning balance of retained
earnings on the balance sheet. Including the cumulative effect increase, at the beginning of 2007, the Company
had approximately $8,902 of total gross unrecognized tax benefits. Of this amount, $5,479 (net of the Federal
benefit of state taxes and other offsetting taxes) represents the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if
recognized, would affect the effective income tax rate in any future periods. The Company had accrued $592 for
penalties and $728 for interest at January 1, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company’s cumulative liability for gross unrecognized tax benefits was
$10,861. The Company had accrued $809 for penalties and $1,211 for interest at December 31, 2007. The
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Company continues to recognize interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as a component of
Taxes on Income in its Consolidated Statement of Income. The Company has recognized $160 for penalties and
$443 for interest on its Consolidated Statement of Income for the twelve-month peried ended December 31,
2007.

The Company estimates that during the year ended December 31, 2008 it will reduce its cumulative liability
for gross unrecognized tax benefits by approximately $600 to $700 due to the expiration of the statute of
limitations with regard to certain tax positions. This estimated reduction in the curnulative liability for
unrecognized tax benefits does not consider any increase in liability for unrecognized tax benefits with regard to
existing tax positions or any increase in cumulative liability for unrecognized tax benefits with regard to new tax
positions for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. Federal income tax, as well as the income tax of
various state and foreign tax jurisdictions. Tax years that remain subject to examination by major tax
jurisdictions include the United Kingdom from 2001, Brazil from 2002, the Netherlands and Spain from 2003,
Italy, India and the United States from 2004, China from 2005, and various domestic state tax jurisdictions from
1993,

In 2007, the Internal Revenue Service commenced a routine examination of the Company’s U.S. corporate
income tax returns for the tax years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006. Based on the outcome of
this examination, the Company may recognize changes to its unrecognized tax benefit.

In addition, the Company is currently under audit by French taxing authorities for tax years 2000 through
2004. As of December 31, 2007, the French tax authorities have proposed certain adjustments to the Company’s
transfer pricing transactions. Management is currently evaluating the proposed adjustments. While the outcome
of such adjustments would cause the Company to recognize changes to its unrecognized benefits, the Company
does not anticipate that the adjustments would result in a material change to its financial position.

Tabular Reconciliation

December 31, 2007
Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1,2007 ................... ...t $ $ 8,902
Increase unrecognized tax benefits taken in priorperiods ........ ... ool 367
(Decrease) unrecognized tax benefits taken in priorperiods . .................... (51
Increase—foreign exchange rates . ........ ... o i e 880
737
Increase unrecognized tax benefits taken in current period ...... ... ... ool 1,333
(Decrease) unrecognized tax benefits taken in currentperiod .. ....... ... ... —
Increase—foreign exchangerates . ........... . . i i 9%
1,428
Increase unrecognized tax benefits due tosettlements . .............. ... ... —
(Decrease) unrecognized tax benefits due tosettlements .. ....................... —
Increase (Decrease)—foreign exchangerates ............ ... ... ... .. L, —
{Decrease} in unrecognized tax benefits due to lapse of statute of limitations . ....... (206)
Increase (Decrease)——foreign exchangerates ......... ..o e, —
(206)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31,2007 ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ol 510,861
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Note 5—Investments in Associated Companies

Investments in associated (less than majority-owned) companies are accounted for under the equity method.
Summarized financial information of the associated companies, in the aggregate, is as follows:

December 31,
2007 2006
LTy (= (LA LT - S O $28,130 324,129
Ja 0T T T 5 =) 1 R L =2 U RO 5,351 5,400
Current Habilities . . ...ttt e e e 11,320 13,062
Noncurrent abilities . . ... ...t e e e, 247 233
Year Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
N SALES o vttt e e et e et e et e e e e e e e e e $51,248 $46,062 $44,507
GrOSS MIATZIN & vttt ettt et e e e e e e e e et et 18,660 17,662 17,677
Operaling INCOME . ... ... ..ttt it ettt e e aens 3,735 3,920 3,430
LT A1 a5 ¢ 1 T 1,658 1,574 1,202

In January 2001, the Company contributed its Conshohocken, Pennsylvania property and buildings (the
“Site”) into a real estate joint venture (the “Venture™) in exchange for a 50% interest in the Venture. The Venture
did not assume any debt or other obligations of the Company and the Company did not guarantee nor was it
obligated to pay any principal, interest or penalties on any of the Venture’s indebtedness. The Venture renovated
certain of the existing buildings at the Site, as well as built new office space. In December 2000, the Company
entered into an agreement with the Venture to lease approximately 38% of the Site’s available office space for a
15-year period commencing February 2002, with multiple renewal options. The Company believes the terms of
this lease were no less favorable than the terms it would have obtained from an unaffiliated third party. In
February 2005, the Venture sold its real estate assets to an unrelated third party, which resulted in $4,187 of
proceeds to the Company after payment of the Venture’s obligations. The proceeds include a gain of $2,989
related to the sale by the Venture of its real estate holdings as well as $1,198 of preferred distributions. These
proceeds are included in other income.

Note 6 —Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recerded at the invoiced amount and generally do not bear interest. The
aliowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in
existing accounts receivable. Reserves for customers filing for bankruptcy protection are generally established at
75-100% of the amount owed at the filing date, dependent on the Company’s evaluation of likely proceeds from
the bankruptcy process. Large and/or financially distressed customers are generally reserved for on a specific
review basis while a general reserve is established for other customers based on historical experience. The
Company performs a formal review of its allowance for doubtful accounts quarterly. Account balances are
charged off against the allowance when the Company feels it is probable the receivable will not be recovered.
The Company does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers. During 2007, the
Company's five largest customers accounted for approximately 29% of its consolidated net sales with the largest
customer {Arcelor-Mitial Group) accounting for approximately 10% of consolidated net sales.
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At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had gross trade accounts receivable totaling $121,207 and
$110,525 with trade accounts receivable greater than 90 days past due of $5,178 and 35,565, respectively.

Following are the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.

Charged Effect of
Balanceat to Costs Write-Offs Exchange Balance
Beginning and Charged to Rate at End

of Period Expenses Allowance Changes of Period

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Year ended December 31,2007 ..................... $3,185 $ 41 § (413)  $259 33,072
Year ended December 31,2006 ...........00vunnnn. $4066 § — $ (961) $ 80  $3,185
Year ended December 31,2005 ..................... $6,773  $1,216  $(3,828) $(95) $4,066

Note 7—Inventories

Total inventories comprise:

December 31,
2007 2006
Raw materials and sUPPlIes . . .. ...ttt it et e e $24,447 $21,589
Work inprocess and finished goods ......... ... o 36,291 30,395

$60,738 $51,984

Note 8—Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise:

December 31,
2007 2006

Land ..o e e $ 6630 $ 5768
Building and improvements . ... ... . e e 50,530 40,446
Machinery and eqUIpment .. ........ ... e 116,325 104,427
CONSIUCHON IN PIOBIESS . oo vt i ettt ettt a e ae et e aan e aaeas 2,393 8,293

175,878 158,934
Less accumulated deprecialion . ........... ittt iiieann iy (113,591) (98,007)

$ 62287 $ 60927
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The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases in Europe and the U.S., including its
manufacturing facility in Tradate, Italy. Gross property, plant, and equipment includes $3,736 and $3,398 of

capital leases with $947 and $672 of accumulated depreciation at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
following is a schedule by years of future minimum lease payments:

For the year ended December 31,

2008 e e e $ 431
2009 . e e e $ 369
2000 e e s $ 558
20 I T $ 17
11 $ —
20013 and beyond ... ... e $ —
Total net minimum lease payments . .............. i 1,375
Less amount representing interest .. ...... ... ... ... it (174)
Present value of net minimum lease payments . ..............ci i $1,201

Note 9—Asset Retirement Obligations

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations™ (“SFAS
No. 143”). SFAS No. 143 addresses accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets and the associated retirement costs. The Company adopted the standard as of
January 1, 2003 and there was no material impact to the financial statements. In March 2005, the FASB issued its
FASB interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 143. The interpretation clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation
{“CARO") as used in SFAS No.143, refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which
the timing and (or) method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may not be within the
control of the entity. A liability is recorded when there is enough information regarding the timing of the CARO
to perform a probability weighted discounted cash flow analysis.

The Company’s CAROs consist primarily of asbestos contained in certain manufacturing facilities and
decommissioning costs related to its aboveground storage tanks. In the fourth quarter of 2005, due to a change in
facts and circumstances at one of its manufacturing facilities, the Company determined enough information
regarding the timing of cash flows was available to record a liability for $250. During 2007 and 2006, the
Company accrued interest on this liability, which is included in other non-current liabilities, of $15 and $15,
respectively.
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Note 10—Taxes on Income

Taxes on income consist of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
Current:
Federal . . ..ot e s $1,577 § — § (443)
] 2 1= A P 20 21 20
FOTEIgN . i e e 5425 5,799 8,235
7022 5,820 7,812
Deferred:
Federal . oot et e 950 792 (3,194)
FOTEIEI e e 597 (388) (1,282)
B~ 72 [ U A $6,668 $6,224 $ 3,336

The components of earnings (losses) before income taxes were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
DIOIMIESIIC .« . vttt e e e e et e e e e $(1,259) § 395 %(12,249
BOTEIEN ...t e e 23,994 18,045 18,864
10 ) N $22,735 $18440 § 6,615

Domestic earnings (losses) before income taxes do not include foreign earnings that are included in U.S.
taxable income. During the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company elected to repatriate substantial accumulated
foreign earnings and implemented other tax planning strategies, which enabled the Company to utilize all
domestic operating loss carryforwards, and improved its global capital structure. This repatriation was the
primary reason for the increase in the Company’s effective tax rate in 2005 and resulted in a net $1,000 charge to
tax expense.
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Total deferred tax assets and liabilities are composed of the following at December 31:

2007 2006
Current Non-current Current Non-current

Retirement benefits . ... . ..ov ittt e e e $ 582 $ 7771 § 609 $10918
Allowance for doubtful accounts . ........................... 403 — 628 —
Insurance and litigation reserves . ..................iiiunnn. 539 700 826 —
Postretirementbenefits .. ....... .. i i i e — 2,467 — 2,634
Supplemental retirement benefits ., ............. ... ... .. .. —_ 1,692 — 1,460
Performance incentives . . ....o.ot it iiniiie i 1,830 1,301 1,884 1,204
Equity-based compensation ................ .. ... ... 132 591 — 332
Altemnative minimum tax carryforward ... ... .. .. . L oL — 2,092 — 2,092
Vacatlon PAY . ..o oottt ettt e e 452 — 432 —
Insurance settlement .. ..... ... . i i e — 6,524 — 5,176
Operating loss carryforward ....... ... ... ... ... . ... — 4,908 — 35,098
Foreigntaxcredit ........... ... ... ... . i, e —_ 3,237 —_ 2,161
Deferred compensation .. ........... ... i, — 429 — 352
Uncertain tax positions .............cc. ottt 104 2,406 — —_—
Other .. — 300 — 45

4,042 34418 4,379 31,472
Valuation allowance . .........o it iiirinin i iiiinnnannns — {4,161) — (2,899)
Total deferred income tax assets, NEL . . . ..ot nt s vnenn.. $4,042  $30,257 $4,379  $28,573
Depreciation ... ...t e $ 2,056 $ 1,275
Europe pensionandother .......... ... ... .. .. oL, 5,527 4,042
Total deferred income tax liabilities .. ................. .. .... $ 7,583 $ 5,317

The following is a reconciliation of income taxes at the Federal statutory rate with income taxes recorded by
the Company for the years ended December 31:

2007 2006 2005

Income tax provision at the Federal statutory taxrate .................covuvnnn $7.957 $6454 $ 2315
State income tax pProvisions, DEL .. ... ..o it 13 i3 13
Non-deductible entertainment and business meal expense . .. ................... 213 136 151
Differences in tax rates on foreign earnings and remittances .. .................. (169 59 391
Uncertain tax Positions . . ... ... .. it e e e 458 — —
Out-of-period adjustment . ...... ... it i e s (993) — —
Foreigntaxrefunds .. ... ... . ... i (665) (425 —
Excess FTC utilization . ...t ue i e e e et —_— — (2,429)
Settlement of tax contingencies . ... ... ..ottt i s —_ —_ (446)
Miscellaneous items, NeL . .. ... ... it i it et e e e (146) (3 45
TAXES QM ANCOMIE - -« o e e e o e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s $6,668 $6,224 § 3,336

At December 31, 2007, the Company domestically had a net deferred tax asset of $16,773 inclusive of
alternative minimum tax (AMT) credits of $2,092. Additionally, the Company has foreign tax credit carryovers
of $3,237 which have the following expiration dates; $100 in 2012, $763 in 2013, $535 in 2014, $762 in 2016
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and $1,077 in 2017. A full valuation ailowance has been taken against these foreign tax credits. Finally, the
Company has foreign tax loss carryforwards of $14,206 of which $676 expires in 2011; the remaining foreign tax
losses have no expiration dates. A partial valuation allowance has been established with respect to the tax benefit
of these losses for $924.

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S, subsidiaries because it
is the Company's intention to continue to reinvest these earnings in those subsidiaries to support growth
initiatives. U.S. and foreign income taxes that would be payable if such earnings were distributed may be lower
than the amount computed at the U.S, statutory rate due to the availability of tax credits. The amount of such
undistributed earnings at December 31, 2007 was approximately $57,000. Any income tax liability which might
result from ultimate remittance of these earnings is expected to be substantially offset by foreign tax credits.

Note 11—Pension and Qther Postretirement Benefits

The Company maintains various noncontributory retirement plans, the largest of which ts in the U.S.,
covering substantially all of its employees in the U.S. and certain other countries. The plans of the Company’s
subsidiaries in The Netherlands and in the United Kingdom are subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 87,
“Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.” The plans of the remaining non-U.S. subsidiaries are, for the most part,
either fully insured or integrated with the local governments’ plans and are not subject to the provisions of SFAS
No. 87. The Company’s U.S. pension plan year ends on November 30, which serves as the measurement date.
The measurement date for the Company’s other postretirement benefits is December 31.

As part of the Company’s 2005 fourth quarter restructuring program, the Company implemented a freeze of
its U.S. pension plan for non-union employees and offered a voluntary early retirement window with enhanced
pension and other postretirement benefits. The freeze of the Company’s U.S. pension plan resulted in a plan
curtailment charge of $2,668. The pension and other postretirement benefits enhancements resulted in special
termination benefits charges of $1,205 and $430, respectively. See also Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans” (SFAS No. 158). SFAS No. 158 requires that employers recognize on a
prospective basis the funded status of their defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans on their
consolidated balance sheet and recognize as a component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or
losses and prior service costs or credits that arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net
periodic benefit cost. SFAS No. 158 also requires additional disclosures in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been incorporated below.
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The following table shows the Company plans’ funded status reconciled with amounts reported in the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006
Foreign Domestic  Total Foreign Domestic Total Domestic Domestic

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ........ $46.639 565958 3$112,597 $44464 $66207 $110.671  $10283 § 10,902
Service cost ... ... 1913 660 2,573 2,025 586 2,611 25 15
Interestcost ..., . i 2,295 3629 5,924 1.920 3.575 5495 522 551
Employee contributions .................... 138 — 138 1 -_— 111 — —
AMENAMENTS . ..o v v e v it ey — —— —_ _ {111) iy — —
Cunailment (gain)loss .. ................... — — —_ (2,748) — (2,748) — —
Benefitspaid ... ............. ... ... (1.296) (4422) (5718) (L,132) (5756)  (6,888) (1.20M (1,153)
Plan expenses and premiums paid ............ (370) (80) (450) (285) (80) (365) — —
Actuarial (gain)/loss .. ............ ... ... (4,917) 456 4,461y (2.875) 1,537 (1,338) (443) (32
Translation difference . .. ..............0us 4,151 — 4,151 5.159 — 5.159 — —
Benefit obligation atend of year ............. $48,553 $66,201 3$114,754 $460,639 $65958 $112,597 § 9,180 35 10,283
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ... $41,160 $ 40,861 82,021 $34514 $37873 $72387 § — § —
Actual returnon planassets ................. 1.174 3435 4,609 1,187 3,838 5.025 — _
Employer contributions . ................... 1,359 5947 7,306 2,553 4,906 7.459 1.207 1,153
Employee contributions .................... 138 — 138 111 — 111 — —_
Benefitspaid . ... i (1.296)  (4.422) (5,718  (1,132) (5756) (6888} (1,207) (1,153)
Pian expenses and premiums paid ............ (370) (80 (450) (285) — (285) — —
Translation difference , ..., ................, 4,038 — 4,038 4212 —_ 4212 — —
Fair vatue of plan assets atend of year ..., ..., $46,203 $45741 $ 91944 $41.160 $40861 582021 $ — $ —
Fundedstatus ....... ... ... .............. $(2,350) $(20460) $(22,810) $ (5479 $(25097) $(30,576) $(5.180) $(10,283)
Adjustments for contributions in December .. .. — 1,250 1,250 — 1,119 1.119 — —
Net amount recognized .. .. ......... ... ... $(2.350) $(19.210) $(21.560) $ (5479) $(23.978) $(29.457} $(9.180) $(10,283)
Amounts recognized in the balance sheet consist
of:

Non-current asset/Prepaid benefit cost .. . .. $1685 $§ — % 1685 % 430 $ — $ 430 $§ — 5 —

Current fiabilities ..................... (231) (495) (726) (145) (495) (640)  (1.000) (1,100)

Non-current liabilities . . ................ (3.804) (18,715) (22.519) (5.764) (23483) (29.247) (8.180) (9.183)
Net amount recognized ................... .. $(2,350) $(19.210) $(21.560) $ (5.479) $(23,978) $(29.457) $(9,180) $(10,283)

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic benefut
costs and included in accumulated other
comprehensive income:

Transition asset {obligation) ............. $ 401 § — § 401 § 538 % — § 538 % - $ —
Prior service credit (cost) ............... (244) (106) (3500 (252) (119 (371) 93 159
Accumulated gain (loss) . ............... (7,565) (18,070) (25,635) (11,602) (18,435 (30,037y (1.802) (2,328)
Accumulated other comprehensive income

(ADCD ... e (7.408) (18,176) (25,584) (11,316) (18,554) (29.870} (1.709) (2,169)
Cumulative employer contributions in

excess of net period benefitcost . ..... .. 5,058 (1,034) 4,024 5,837 (5.424) 413 (7471 (8,114)

Net amount recognized . . ................... $(2,350) $(19,210) $(21.560) $ (5.479) $(23,978) $(29,457) $(0.180) $(10.283)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $108,324 ($65,722 Domestic,
$42,602 Foreign) and $105,210 ($64,560 Domestic, $40,650 Foreign) at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively,
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Information for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

2007 2006
Foreign  Domestic Total Foreign  Domestic Total
Projected benefit obligation ................. $11.944 $66,201 $78,145 $13,142 $65,958 $79,100
Accumulated benefit obligation .............. 10,500 65,722 76,222 10,556 64,560 75,116
Fair value of planasseis .................... 7,909 45742 53,651 7.233 40,861 48,094

Information for pension plans with a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

2007 2006
Foreign  Domestic Total Foreign  Domestic Total
Projected benefit obligation ............ ... .. $11,944 $66,201 $78,145 §13,142 $65958 $79,100
Fair valueof planassets .................... 7,909 45742 53,651 7,233 40,861 48,094

Components of net periodic benefit cost—pension plans:

2007 2006
Foreign  Domestic Total Foreign  Domestic Total
SEIVICE COBL o v e e e e e et et e e $1913 % 660 $2573 $2025 $ 586 $26)1
Interest COSt . ..o vt e i 2,295 3,629 5,924 1,920 3,575 5,495
Expected return onplan assets .. ............... (1,802) {(3,556) (5,358) (1,596) (3,222) (4,818)
Pension plan curtailment ..................... — — —_ (983) — (983)
Other, amortization, net . ............. ... 365 955 1,320 679 ’31 1,510
Net periodic benefitcost .............. ... ..., $2771 $1.688 $4459 §$2045 $ 1,770 $ 3,815
2005
Foreign Domestic Total
S EIVICE COBL &+ vt e st s e e e e e s $2025 $1,735 § 3,760
INEeTESE OBt ottt ittt e e e e e 1,808 3,394 5,292
Expected return on planassets ...................... (1,529 (2,888) 4417
Pension plan curtailment . .. .................... ..., — 2,668 2,668
Special termination benefits .. ........ ... . ......... — 1,205 1,205
Other, amortization, net .. ...ttt neennnn 656 855 1,511
Net periodic benefitcost ............... ... ... ... .. $3050 $6969 $10,019
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Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income:
2007 2006
Foreign Domestic  Total Foreign Domestic  Total
Net (gain} loss arising during period . ............... $(428) § 578 $371Hy — § — & —
Recognition of amortizations in net periodic benefit cost
Transition (obligation) asset ................... 185 — 185 — — —
Prior service (cost)credit ..................... (32) {13 45) — — —
Actuartal gain (loss) . ........ ... ... ... (518) (943) (1,461) — — —
Effect of exchange rates on amounts included in
AOCT ... o e 746 — 746 — — —
Total recognized in other comprehensive income ... ... (3,908) (378) (4,286) 9,312 318 9.630
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other
comprehensive income . .......... ... ... ... ... $(1,137) $1,310 $ 173 $11,357 $2,088 $13,445
Components of net periodic benefit cost—other postretirement plan:
2007 2006 2005
Service CoSt .......... ... $25 $15 §$ 20
Interestcostand other .......... ... .. ... .. i 539 570 616
Special termination benefits ......... ... ... ... L — — 430
Net periodic benefitcost .......... ... ... ... .. ... ...... $564 $585  $1.066
Other changes recognized in other comprehensive income:
ﬂ 2006
Net (gain) loss arising during period ............ ... iiviiiiinn.. $(444) § —
Recognition of amortizations in net periodic benefit cost
Prior service (cost) credit ... ... .. . . ... .. e, 67 -_—
Actuarial gain (loss) . ... ... .. (84 —
Total recognized in other comprehensive income . .................. (461) 2,169
Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive
IMCOMIE . . L e e e e $103 $2,754

Estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss over the next

fiscal year:

. Oth
Pension Plans Postreli:el;nem
Foreign Domestic  Total Benefits
Transition obligation (asset) .. ... ...t iiet i enannnn. $(198) S$— $(198) $—
Actuarial (gain) loss .. ... ... .. e 194 804 908 70
Prior service cost (Credil) ... ..ot e e it i 34 11 45 (70)
$ 30 8815 $845 3—
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Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006

U.S. Plans:

Discountrate . . ... i et e 575% 5.50% 5.75% 5.50%
Rate of compensation inCrease .........ovt i inin i 3.375% 3375% N/A N/A
Foreign Plans:

DisSCOUNt rate « . ..o e 555% 4.81% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase ... ..........couiii i iinninnnnnennnnnnn 395% 3.19% N/A N/A

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for years ended
December 31:

Other
Postretirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2007 2006 2007 2006

U.S. Plans:

DiscoURtrate .. ... .. . e e 5.500% 5.500% 5.500% 5.50%
Expected long-term return on planassets ........... ... .. i i 8.500% 8.500% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation INCrease . ..........ovviiiiiiinnrnnn e, 3.375% 3375% N/IA N/A
Foreign Plans:

DHSCOUNE TALE L. ot e e e 481% 4.35% NA NA
Expected long-term retun onplanassets ....... ... . i 4.19% 4.17% NA N/A
Rate of compensation INCrease . .. .......covviiniiininn e, 319% 3.10% N/A N/A

The long-term rates of return on assets were selected from within the reasonable range of rates determined
by (a) historical real returns for the asset classes covered by the investment policy and (b) projections of inflation
over the long-term period during which benefits are payable to plan participants.

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:

2007 2006
Health care cost trend rate formextyear . ......... ... ... ... .. ... ... . 8.75% 9.5%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate trend rate) .. .. 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate .......... ... .. .. . .o ion. 2014 2014

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the health care
plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

1% point 1% point
Increase Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost . ... ... ... ... ... ... ... ........ $ 23 $ 20
Effect on postretirement benefit obligations ................ ... ... ..., 430 (390)
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Plan Assets

The Company’s pensicn plan target asset allocation and the weighted-average asset allocations at
December 31, 2007 and 2006 by asset category were as follows:

Plan Assets at December 31,
Target 2007 2006

Asset Category

U.S. Plans

Equity securities ......... .. ..o 61% 60% 62%

Debtsecunities .. . ...t e 2% 14% 12%

Other ..o e 1% 26% @ 26%
Total ... e e 100%  100% 100%

Foreign Plans

Equity securities ......... ..o i e 14% 15% 11%

Debtsecurities . . ...ttt e B6%  85%  89%
Total ... .. 100%  100%  100%

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, “Other” consisted principally of hedge funds {approximately 5% of
plan assets) and cash and cash equivalents (approximately 21% of plan assets). Based upon prevailing inicrest
rates available for money market funds, a temporary addendum to the investment policy was approved in May
2006. This addendum allowed for a greater range of the mix between debt securities and cash and cash
equivalents around the stated long-term target allocation percentages presented in the above table. The Company
was in compliance with all approved ranges of asset allocations.

The general principles guiding investment of U.S. pension assets are those embodied in the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). These principles include discharging the Company’s
investment responsibilities for the exclusive benefit of plan participants and in accordance with the “prudent
expert” standard and other ERISA rules and regulations. The Company establishes strategic asset allocation
percentage targets and appropriate benchmarks for significant asset classes with the aim of achieving a prudent
balance between return and risk. The interaction between plan assets and benefit obligations is periodically
studied to assist in establishing such strategic asset allocation targets. The Company’s pension investment
professionals have discretion to manage the assets within established asset allocation ranges approved by senior
management of the Company.

The total value of plan assets for the Company’s pension plans is $91,944 and $82,021 as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively. U.S. pension assets include Company common stock in the amounts of $220 (less
than 1% of total U.S. plan assets), and $221 (less than 1% of total U.S. plan assets) at December 31, 2007 and

2006, respectively.

Cash Flows
Contributions

The Company expects to make minimum cash contributions of $6,669 1o its pension plans ($3,595
Domestic, $3,074 Foreign) and $1,000 to its other postretirement benefit plan in 2008.
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Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be
paid:

Pension Benefits Other

Postretirement

Foreign Domestic Total Benefits
2008 ... $ 1,370  $ 4,165 $ 5,535 $1,000
2009 .. 1,547 4,059 5,606 950
2010 ... 1,616 4,377 5,993 960
2000 L 1,785 5,050 6,835 930
2012 e 1,846 5,129 6,975 910
2013andbeyond ....... ... ... ..., 10,503 26,996 37,499 3,930

The Company maintains a plan under which supplemental retirement benefits are provided to certain
officers. Benefits payable under the plan are based on a combination of years of service and existing
postretirement benefits. Included in total pension costs are charges of $1,297, $1,076 and $725 in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, representing the annual accrued benefits under this plan.

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan with an employer match covering substantially all domestic employees.
Effective January 1, 2006, the plan added a nonelective contribution on behalf of participants who have
completed one year of service equal to 3% of the eligible participants’ compensation. Total Company
contributions were $1,634, $1,402 and $625 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Note 12--Debt

Debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2007 2006
Industrial development authority monthly 5.10% fixed rate demand bonds maturing 2018 .. $ 5,000 5 5,000
Credit facilities (5.8% weighted average borrowing rate at December 31,2007} .......... 73,848 79,212
Other debt obtigations (including capital leases) ................. .. ... ... ... 3,927 5,975

82,775 90,187
Short-term debt . .. .. e (2,533) (3.261)
Current portion of long-termdebt . ......... ... i i e (1,755 (1,689)

$78,487 $85,237

The long-term financing agreements require the maintenance of certain financial covenants with which the
Company is in compliance. During the next five years, payments on the Company’s debt, including capital lease
maturities, are due as follows: $4,288 in 2008, $1,467 in 2009, $537 in 2010, $21 in 2011, $71,462 in 2012 and
$5,000 beyond 2012.
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On August 13, 2007, Quaker and certain of its wholly owned subsidiaries entered into a second amendment
to the syndicated multicurrency credit agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing
line lender and letter of credit issuer, and certain other financial institutions as lenders. The amendment increased
the maximum principal amount available for revolving credit borrowings from $100,000 to $125,000, which can
be increased to $175,000 at the Company’s option if lenders agree to increase their commitments and the
Company satisfies certain conditions. The amendment also extended the maturity date of the credit facility from
2010 to 2012. In general, borrowings under the credit facility bear interest at either a base rate or LIBOR rate
plus a margin based on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. In February 2007, the Company completed a
refinancing of its existing industrial development bonds to fix the interest rate on an additional $5,000 of debt.

The provisions of the agreements require that the Company maintain certain financial ratios and covenants,
all of which the Company was in compliance with as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. Under ils most restrictive
covenants, the Company could have borrowed an additional $67,583 at December 31, 2007. At December 31,
2007 and 2006, the Company had approximately $73,848 and $79,212 outstanding on these credit lines at a
weighted average borrowing rate of 5.8% and 5.69%, respectively. The Company has entered into interest rate
swaps in order to fix a portion of its variable rate debt and mitigate the risks associated with higher interest rates.
The combined notional value of the swaps was $35,000 at December 31, 2007.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the amounts at which the Company’s debt are recorded are not materially
different from their fair market value.

Note 13—Shareholders’ Equity and Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has 30,000,000 shares of common stock authorized, with a par value of $1, and 10,147,239
shares issued as of December 31, 2007.

Holders of record of the Company’s common stock for a period of less than 36 consecutive calendar months
or less are entitled to 1 vote per share of common stock. Holders of record of the Company’s common stock for a
period greater than 36 consecutive calendar months are entitled to 10 votes per share of commeon stock.

The Company is authorized to issue 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $1 par value, subject to approval
by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may designate one or more series of preferred stock and the
number of shares, rights, preferences, and limitations of each series. No preferred stock has been issued.

On March 6, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a new Rights Plan and declared a dividend
of one new right (the “Rights™) for each outstanding share of commen stock to shareholders of record on
March 20, 2000.

The Rights become exercisable if a person or group acquires or announces a tender offer which would result
in such person’s acquisition of 20% or more of the Company’s common stock.

Each Right, when exercisable, entitles the registered holder to purchase one one-hundredth of a share of a
newly authorized Series B preferred stock at an exercise price of sixty-five dollars per share subject to certain
anti-ditution adjustments. In addition, if a person or group acquires 20% or more of the outstanding shares of the
Company’s common stock, without first obtaining Board of Directors’ approval, as required by the terms of the
Rights Agreement, each Right will then entitle its holder (other than such person or members of any such group)
to purchase, at the Right’s then cusrent exercise price, a number of one one-hundredth shares of Series B
preferred stock having a total market value of twice the Right’s exercise price.
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In addition, at any time after a person acquires 20% of the outstanding shares of common stock and prior to
the acquisition by such person of 50% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock, the Company may
exchange the Rights (other than the Rights which have become null and void), in whole or in part, at an exchange
ratio of one share of common stock or equivalent share of preferred stock, per Right.

The Board of Directors can redeem the Rights for $.01 per Right at any time prior to the acquisition by a
person or group of beneficial ownership of 20% or more of the Company’s common stock. Until a Right is
exercised, the holder thereof will have no rights as a shareholder of the Company, including without limitation,
the right to vote or to receive dividends. Unless earlier redeemed or exchanged, the Rights will expire on
March 20, 2010.

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)

No. 123 (revised 2004}, Share-Based Payment, (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires the recognition of the fair
value of stock compensation in net income. The Company elected the modified prospective method in adopting
SFAS 123R. Under this method, the provisions of SFAS 123R apply to all awards granted or modified after the
date of adoption. In addition, the unrecognized expense of awards not yet vested at the date of adoption is
recognized in net income in the periods after the date of adoption using the same valuation method (e.g. Black-
Scholes) and assumptions determined under the original provisions of SFAS 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” as disclosed in the Company’s previous filings.

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for employee stock option grants using the intrinsic
method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25 “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.” As such, no compensation cost was recognized for employee stock options that had exercise prices
equal to the fair market value of our common stock at the date of granting the option. The Company also
complied with the pro forma disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation,” and SFAS No. 148 “Accounting for Stock—Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure.”

SFAS 123R requires the Company to present pro forma information for the comparative periods prior to the
adoption as if the Company had accounted for all employee stock options under the fair value method of the
original SFAS 123. The following table illustrates the effect on net income and net income per common share if
the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based employee
compensation in the prior-year pericd:

December 31,
s
Net Income—as reported ... .. i e e e $1,688
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in net income, net of related tax
3 3 (= S O 347
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under the fair value based
method for all awards, net Of taX . ... .. .. e (832)
Pro forma NELINCOIME . ... .o it ettt ettt et ittt e ta e et iaa e s $1,203
Earnings per share:
Basic—as reported .. ... ... e e $ 017
Basic—pro forma . ... ..ottt e e 5012
Diluted—as reported . . . .. ..ot e $ 017
Diluted—pro forma ... ... e i $ 0.12
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The Company recognized approximately $1,550 of share-based compensation expense and $543 of related
tax benefits in our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2007. The compensation
expense was comprised of $408 related to stock options, $980 related to nonvested stock awards, $41 related to
the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and $121 related to the Company’s Director Stock Ownership
Plan. The Company recognized approximately $857 of share-based compensation expense and $300 of related
tax benefits in our consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2006. The compensation
expense was comprised of $224 related to stock options, $474 related to nonvested stock awards, $34 related to
the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and $125 related to the Company’s Director Stock Ownership
Plan.

Approximately $91 of the amount of compensation cost recognized in 2006 for stock option awards reflects
amortization relating to the remaining unvested portion of stock option awards granted prior to January t, 2006.
The estimated fair value of the options granted during prior years was calculated using a Black-Scholes model.
The Black-Scholes model incorporates assumptions to value stock-based awards. The Company will continue to
use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock-based awards. The estimated fair value of the
Company’s stock-based awards is amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the awards. The
risk-free rate of interest for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on U.S. Government
Securities Treasury Constant Maturities over the contractual term of the equity instrument. Expected volatility is
based on the historical volatility of the Company’s stock. The Company uses historical data on exercise timing to
determine the expected life assumption. The assumptions used for stock option grants made in the first quarter of
2005 include the following: dividend yield of 3.4%, expected volatility of 22.6%, risk-free interest rate of 3.9%,
an expected life of 5 years, and a forfeiture rate of 8% over the remaining life of these options.

Based on our historical experience, we have assumed a forfeiture rate of 13% on the nonvested stock. Under
the true-up provisions of SFAS 123R, we will record additional expense if the actual forfeiture rate is lower than
we estimated, and will record a recovery of prior expense if the actual forfeiture is higher than we estimated.

The adoption of SFAS 123R had an impact of $91 due to the accrual of compensation expense on the
unvested stock options for the year ended December 31, 2006.

No compensation expense related to stock option grants had been recorded in the condensed consolidated
statement of income for 2005, as all of the options granted had an exercise price equal to the market value of the
underlying stock on the date of grant. Accordingly, results for prior periods have not been restated.

The Company has a long-term incentive program (“LTIP") for key employees which provides for the
granting of options to purchase stock at prices not less than market value on the date of the grant. Most options
become exercisable between one and three years after the date of the grant for a period of time determined by the
Company not to exceed seven years from the date of grant for options issued in 1999 or later and ten years for
options issued in prior years. Beginning in 1999, the LTIP program provided for common stock awards, the value
of which was generally derived from Company performance over a three-year period. In the fourth quarter of
2007, the Company recorded equity-based compensation expense of $378 as it became probable that the
performance condition regarding the Company’s 2005 grant would be achieved. Common stock awards issued in
2006 and 2007 under the LTIP program are subject only to time vesting over a three to five-year period. In
addition, as part of the Company’s Global Annual Incentive Plan (“GAIP”), nonvested shares may be issued to
key employees, which generally vest over a two to five-year period.
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Stock option activity under all plans is as follows:

2007 2006
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average Average
Exercise Remaining Exercise Remaining
Number of Price Contractual  Number of Price Contractual
Shares per Share  Term (years) Shares per Share  Term (years)
Options outstanding at January 1, ... .. 1,092420 20.69 1,183,485 19.88
Options granted . . ................. 166,065 23.13 120,600 19.98
Options exercised ................. (183,335) 18.46 (175,750) 14.57
Options forfeited ... ............... (29,956) 23.16 (2.375) 23.08
Optionsexpired . .................. (12,019) 24.04 (33,540 21.77
Options outstanding at
December 31, .................. 1,033,175 21.36 3.1 1,092,420  20.69 32
Options exercisable at
December 31, .................. 808,035 21.16 2.3 948,010  20.65 2.8
2005
Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Number of Exercise Price  Contractual
Shares per Share Term (years)
Options outstanding at Janvary 1, ......... .. ... ... .. ... ..... 1,237,425 19.49
Options granted ... ... i e e e 158,360 21.97 |
Optionsexercised . ... ... i e (156,775) 17.97 \
Options forfeited ........... ... i i (2,500) 2322 ‘
Options expired . ... ... .. e (53,025) 22.38 i
Options outstanding at December 31, .......... ... ... . .t 1,183,485 19.88 3.3 |
Options exercisable at December 31, . .. ... .. .. .. .. ... ... ... 1,066,274 19.55 3.2 ‘

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2007 was approximately $735. Intrinsic value is
calculated as the difference between the current market price of the underlying security and the strike price of a
related option. As of December 31, 2007, the total intrinsic value of options outstanding was approximately

$1.,411, and the total intrinsic value of exercisable options was approximately $1,263.

A summary of the Company’s outstanding stock options at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Number Weighted Weighted Number Weighted
Range of Outstanding at Average Average Exercisable at Average
Exercise Prices 12/3172007 Contractual Life Exercise Price 12/31/2007 Exercise Price

$13.30—%15.96 1,000 1.25 14.13 1,000 14.13
15.97— 18.62 127,600 0.20 17.55 127,600 17.55
18.63— 21.28 437,075 2.56 20.10 362,675 20.12
21.29— 2394 318,700 4.94 22.46 167.960 21.85
23.95— 26.60 148,800 2.88 26.06 148,800 26.06
1,033,175 3.10 21.36 808,035 21.16
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As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation expense related to options granted in 2006 was $208
and for options granted during 2007 was $517.

During the second quarter of 2006, the Company granted 120,600 stock options under the Company’s LTIP
plan, that are subject only to time vesting over a three-year period. The options were valued using the Black-
Scholes model with the following assumptions: dividend yield of 4.1%, expected volatility of 27.1%, risk free
interest rate of 5.0%, an expected term of 6 years, and a forfeiture rate of 3% over the remaining life of the
options. Approximately $209 and $133 of expense was recorded on these options during 2007 and 2006,
respectively. The fair value of these awards is amortized on a straight-line basis over the awards vesting period.

During the first quarter of 2007, the Company granted 166,065 stock options under the Company’s LTIP
plan subject only to time vesting over a three-year period. The options were valued using the Black-Scholes
model with the following assumptions: dividend vield of 4.4%, expected volatility of 27.0%, risk [ree interest
rate of 4.7%, an expected term of 6 years, and a forfeiture rate of 3% over the remaining life of the options.
Approximately $199 of expense was recorded on these options during 2007. The fair value of these awards is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the awards.

Under the Company’s LTIP plan, 49,550 shares of nonvested stock were outstanding at December 31, 2006.
In the first quarter of 2007, 38,240 shares of nonvested stock were granted at a weighted average grant date fair
value of $23.13. None of these awards vested, 15,680 shares were forfeited and 72,110 shares were outstanding
as of December 31, 2007, The fair value of the nonvested stock is based on the trading price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. The Company adjusts the grant date fair value for expected forfeitures based
on historical experience for similar awards. As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation expense
related to these awards was $836, to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period of 1.9 years.

Under the Company’s GAIP plan, 42,500 shares of nonvested stock were granted during the second quarter
of 2005 at a weighted average grant date fair value of $20.12 per share. At December 31, 2006, 40,250 shares
were outstanding. Through December 31, 2007, 12,750 shares vested and were issued, no shares were forfeited
and 27,500 shares were outstanding. As of December 31, 2007, unrecognized compensation expense related to
these awards was $126 to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period of 1.6 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2000, the Board adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) whereby employees may purchase
Company stock through a payroll deduction plan. Purchases are made from the plan and credited to each
participant’s account at the end of each month, the “Investment Date.” The purchase price of the stock is 85% of
the fair market value on the Investment Date. The plan is compensatory and the 15% discount is expensed on the
Investment Date. All employees, including officers, are eligible to participate in this plan. A participant may
withdraw all uninvested payment balances credited to a participant’s account at any time by giving written notice
to the Committee. An employee whose stock ownership of the Company exceeds five percent of the outstanding
common stock is not eligible to participate in this plan.

2003 Director Stock Ownership Plan

In March 2003, our Board of Directors approved a stock ownership plan for each member of our Board to
encourage the Directors to increase their investment in the Company. The Plan was effective on the date it was
approved and remains in effect for a term of ten years or until it is earlier terminated by the Board. The maximum
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number of shares of Common Stock which may be issued under the Plan is 75,000, subject to certain conditions
that the Committee may elect to adjust the number of shares. As of December 31, 2007, the Committee has not
made any elections to adjust the shares under this plan. Each Director is eligible to receive an annual retainer for
services rendered as a member of the Board of Directors. Currently, each Director who owns less than 7,500
shares of Company Common Stock is required to receive 75% of the annual retainer in Common Stock and 25%
of the annual retainer in cash. Effective as of the 2007 annual meeting, each Director who owns 7,500 or more
shares of Company Common Stock received 20% of the annual retainer in Common Stock and 80% of the annual
retainer in cash with the option to receive Common Stock in lieu of the cash portion of the retainer. Currently, the
annual retainer is $28. The number of shares issued in payment of the fees is calculated based on an amount
equal to the average of the closing prices per share of Common Stock as reported on the composite tape of the
New York Stock Exchange for the two trading days immediately preceding the retainer payment date. The
retainer payment date is June 1. The Company recorded approximately $121, $125 and $116 of expense in 2007,
2006 and 2005, respectively,

Restricted Stock Bonus

As part of the Company’s 2001 Global Annual Incentive Plan (“GAIP”), approved by shareholders on
May 9, 2001, a restricted stock bonus of 100,000 shares of the Company’s stock was granted to an executive of
the Company. The shares were issued in April 2001, in accordance with the terms of the GAIP, and registered in
the executive’s name. The shares vested over a five-year period, with the first installment vesting at the end of
2001 on achieving certain performance targets and the four remaining installments vesting annually in January
thereafter, subject to the executive’s continued employment by the Company. In 2005, 20,000 shares were earned
and $355 was charged to selling, general, and administrative expenses, respectively.

Note 14—Earnings Per Share

The following table sammarizes earnings per share (“EPS”) calculations for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005:

December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Numerator for basic EPS and diluted EPS—netincome ............ $ 15471 $ 11,667 $ 1,688
Denominator for basic EPS—weighted average shares ............. 9,986,347 9,778.745 9,679,013
Effect of dilutive securities, primarily employee stock options ....... 120,571 75,355 136,572
Denominator for diluted EPS—weighted average shares and assumed

COMVEISIONS o ottt et e e et e et e et ettt e 10,106,918 9,854,100 9,815,585
BasiC EPS ... e e $ 1.55 $ 1.19 § 0.17
Diluted EPS . .. e $ 1.53 % 1.18 § 0.17
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The following number of stock options are not included in dilutive earnings per share since in each case the
exercise price is greater than the market price: 413,753, 787,020 and 769,670 in 2007, 2006 and 2005,

respectively.

Note 15—Business Segments

The Company’s reportable segments are as follows:

(1) Metalworking process chemicals—industrial process fluids for various heavy industrial and

manufacturing applications.

(2) Coatings—temporary and permanent coatings for metal and concrete products and chemical milling

maskants.

(3) Other chemical products—other various chemical products.

Segment data includes direct segment costs, as well as general operating costs, including depreciation,
allocated to each segment based on net sales. Inter-segment transactions are immaterial.

The table below presents information about the reported segments for the years ended December 31:

Metalworking Other
Process Chemical
Chemicals Coatings  Products Total

2007

NetSalES .. .vt it it ie e e e $506,033  $36,646 $2,918 $545,597

Operating income . ... ... iineeainaeernenns 74,285 8,305 102 82,692

Depreciation ........... .. ... i 9,747 706 56 10,509

Segment assels ... ... ..o e 377,770 20,012 1,267 399,049
2006

Nt SalES oottt e e e e e $425,777  $32,684 $1,990 $460451

Operating inCome .. ... ... . iiiiiiiinininneenns 61,944 7,818 71 69,833

Depreciation ............oiiiriiii i 8,458 649 40 9,147

Segmentassets ......... ... .. i 337,329 19,055 998 357,382
2005

NEESAlES vttt ettt e e e $393,762  $26,486 $3,785 $424,033

Operaling iNCOME . .....vvunnneeennrrreriirnenneens 49,357 6,574 470 56,401

Depreciation . ........ .. iitrr i 7,346 404 71 7911

Segment ASSELS .. ...t i e 312,776 18,196 1,023 331,995

Operating income comprises revenue less related costs and expenses. Nonoperating expenses primarily
consist of general corporate expenses identified as not being a cost of operation, interest expense, interest

income, and license fees from non-consolidated affiliates.
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A reconciliation of total segment operating income to total consolidated income before taxes for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

2007 2006 2005

Total operating income for reportable segments ......................... $ 82,692 $69,3833 § 56401
Restructuring and related charges, net .. ........ ... .. ... ... . oL — — (10,320)
Environmental charges ... ... ... i s (3,300) — —
Non-operating charges .. ...ttt e . (51,811) (45,785) (40,307)
Depreciation of corporate assets and amortization . ...................... (2,374) (2,416) (2,620)
Interest eXPenSe . ..ottt e (6,426)  (5,520)0 (3,681
Interest INCOME . ... i e e 1,376 1,069 1,022
Other INCOMIE, NEE & . vttt et e e et et e e et ittt e 2,578 1,259 6,120
Consolidated income before taxes ............ ... i $22735 $18440 § 6,615

Net sales and long-lived asset information is by geographic area as of and for the years ended December 31
is as follows:

2607 2006 2005
Net sales
NOMh AMEIICA . . .ot it et et e e e et $232,550 $202,979 $190,735
BUrODE it e e e 168,982 141,444 130,080
ASIaPaci I ... e e e e 82,059 63,600 53,763
SOUtH AIDEIICA ..ottt e ittt st e e e e 58,538 49,281 43,939
SOUT AITICA .. i e e e e e 3,468 3,147 5,516
ConSOlIdAted . . . . . o oo e $545,597 $460,451 $424,033

2007 2006 2005
Long-lived assets
North America . ... ... . i ettt e $ 80,170 $ 79,206 §$ 80,555
Burope ... e 40,701 36,455 41,553
AT PACITIC o i e e e 13,687 10,203 5,283
SOUth AMBIICa ...t i et e 20,694 16,671 14,181
South Africa .. .. e e e e 39 33 45
Consolidated .. ................. S $155,291 $142,568 $141,617

Note 16—Business Acquisitions and Divestitures

In May 2007, the Company’s Q2 Technologies, (“Q2T”) joint venture acquired the oil and gas field
chemical business of Frontier Research and Chemicals Company, Inc., for $527 cash. The acquisition of this
business is compatible with the products provided by Q2T and represents an attractive market addition. In
connection with the acquisition, $394 of intangible assets were recorded to be amortized over five years.

In the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company acquired the remaining interest in its Chinese joint venture. In
accordance with the purchase agreement, payments for the acquisition occur as follows: $614 within five
business days of closing, $825 one year from the closing date, $825 two years from the closing date, and $889
three years from the closing date. The Company recorded the present value of the remaining payments as debt.
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The Company made the first payment in the fourth quarter of 2006; the second payment in the fourth quarter of
2007. In addition, the Company allocated $797 to intangible assets, comprising customer lists to be amortized
over ten years and a non-compete agreement to be amortized over two years. The Company also recorded $230
of goodwill, which was assigned to the metalworking process chemicals segment. The following table shows the
allocation of purchase price of assets and liabilities recorded at the acquisition date. The pro forma results of
operations have not been provided because the effects were not material:

December 31, 2006

CUITENL A5SCLS .+ v v e et e e ettt et ettt i e i e $3,114
Fixed a888S oottt ittt et e 237
Intangibles ... ... ...t e 197
Goodwill ... . . e 230
Other NON CUITENL 855818 .+ v\ o vttt it ettt ettt aaa e naeeasaan 34
LI 0T =1 (P 4,412
Current LHabilities . .. ... i e e 1,538
Current portion of long-termdebt .............. i 1,393
Long-termdebt .. ... ... e 1,481
Total Habilities . . . oo vt ottt et e e et et e 4,412
Cash Paid .. .. e e e $ -

In March 2005, the Company acquired the remaining 40% interest in its Brazilian joint venture for $6,700.
In addition, annual $1,000 payments for four years will be paid subject to the former minority partners’
compliance with the terms of the purchase agreement. In connection with the acquisition, the Company allocated
$1,475 to intangible assets, comprising customer lists of $600 to be amortized over 20 years and non-compete
agreements of $875 to be amortized over five years. The Company also recorded $610 of goodwill, which was
assigned to the metalworking process chemicals segment. The first $1,000 payment was made in March 2006,
and the second payment of $1,000 was made in February 2007. Both payments were recorded as goodwill and
assigned to the metalworking process chemicals segment.

Note 17—Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The Company completed its annual impairment assessment as of the end of the third quarter of 2007 and no
impairment charge was warranted. The changes in carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

Metalworking
Process
Chemicals Coatings Total
Balance as of December 31,2005 ....... ... v, $28,149 $7.269  $35418
Goodwill additions .. .....cv i in i e 1,535 — 1,535
Currency translation adjustments . ............ ... ... ..., 1,787 — 1,787
Balance as of December 31,2006 ........... .. c0ueeuennn. $31,471 $7,269  $38,740
Goodwill additions . ....... ...ttt 1,016 — 1,016
Currency translation adjustments and other ................. 3,221 812 4,033
Balance as of December 31,2007 ... ... it $35,708 $8.081 $43,789
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Gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization for definite-lived intangible assets as of
December 31 are as follows:

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amaortization
2007 2006 2007 2006
Amortized intangible assets
Customer lists and rights to sell ..................... $ 8391 $ 7682 $3340 $2.812
Trademarks and patents . . .. ... o i aans 1,788 1,788 1,788 1,781
Formulations and product technology ... .............. 3,278 3,278 1,931 1,645
Other ... . e 3,384 3,143 2,509 1,923
Total .. e e $16,841 $15,891  $9,568  $8,161

The Company recorded $1,197, $1,427 and $1,368 of amortization expense in 2007, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Estimated annual aggregate amortization expense for the subsequent five years is as follows:

For the year ended December 31,2008 . ... .. ... ... . .. .. .. oL $1,143
For the year ended December 31,2009 ... ............ciiuiireeneean.n, $1,079
For the year ended December 31,2010 ..., .. ... ... it $ 879
For the year ended December 31,2018 .. ... ... ... . i $ 814
For the year ended December 31,2012 .. ... ... ... o i i it $ 716

The Company has one indefinite-lived intangible asset of $600 for trademarks.

Note 18—OQther Assets

Other assets comprise:

December 31,
2007 2006
Restricted insurance settlement . . .. ... ..ot e $18,651 $14,800
Pension a88E15 .. ... ... ..t 1,684 430
Deferred compensalion assets . . .......... i i e 5214 5,489
Supplemental retirement income program . .............. ..o i, 3,915 3,323
Uncertain tax positions ... ....... .. ittt 1,860 —
O her .. e e 2,695 3,485
B $34,019  $27,527

In December 20085, an inactive subsidiary of the Company reached a settlement agreement and release with
one of its insurance carriers for $15,000. In accordance with the agreement, the subsidiary received $7,500 cash
in December 2005 and the remaining $7,500 in December of 2006. In the first quarter of 2007, the subsidiary
reached a settlement agreement and release with another one of its insurance carriers for $20,000 payable in four
annual installments of $5,000, the first of which was received in the second quarter of 2007. Under the latest
settlement and release agreement, the subsequent installments are contingent upon whether or not Federal
asbestos litigation is adopted by the due date of each annual installment. If Federal asbestos legislation is so
enacted, and such legislation eliminates the carrier’s obligation to make the installment payment and requires the
carrier to contribute into a trust or similar vehicle as a result of the policies issued to the subsidiary, then the
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insurance carrier’s obligation to make the subsequent installments will be cancelled. The proceeds of both
settlements are restricted and can only be used to pay claims and costs of defense associated with the subsidiary’s
asbestos litigation. The proceeds of the settlement and release agreements have been deposited into an interest
bearing account which earned approximately $705 and $336 in 2007 and 2006, respectively, offset by $1,854 and
$544 of payments in 2007 and 2006, respectively. Due to the restricted nature of the proceeds, a corresponding
deferred credit was established in “Other non-current liabilities” for an equal and offsetting amount, and will
remain until the restrictions lapse or the funds are exhausted via payments of claims and costs of defense. See
Notes 19 and 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,

Note 19—Other Non-Current Liabilities

December 31,
2007 2006
Restricted insurance seftlement ... ... .ueev vt iae i iiia e $18,651  $14,800
Uncertain tax positions .. .. .uuvuuuuerrervrrnnrrreeaanneeresaenns 11,872 —
Environmental T8SeIVES . . . .. oottt et e eaa i 2,000 800
Fair value of interest rate SWaps ... ... ....vvvineiinieninnnnroeenn sns 1,102 —
Other (primarily deferred compensation agreements) ............eouuevoos 7.398 7,753
5] ) R USRS $41,023  $23,353

See also Notes 18 and 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Note 20—Commitments and Contingencies

In April of 1992, the Company identified certain soil and groundwater contamination at AC Products, Inc.
(“ACP™), a wholly owned subsidiary. In voluntary coordination with the Santa Ana California Regional Water
Quality Board, ACP has been remediating the contamination, the principal contaminant of which is
perchloroethylene (“PERC). On or about December 18, 2004, the Orange County Water District (“OCWD") filed a
civil complaint in Superior Court, in Orange County, California against ACP and other parties potentially
responsible for groundwater contamination. QCWD was seeking 1o recover compensatory and other damages
related to the investigation and remediation of the contamination in the groundwater. Effective October 17, 2007,
ACP and OCWD settled all claims related to this litigation. Pursuant to the settlement agreement with OCWD, ACP
agreed to pay $2,000 in two equal payments of $1,000 (the first payment paid October 31, 2007 and the second
payment paid on February 15, 2008). In addition to the $2,000 payment, ACP agreed to operate the two existing
groundwater treatment systems associated with its extraction wells P-2 and P-3 so as to hydraulically contain
groundwater contamination emanating from ACP’s site until such time as the concentrations of PERC are below the
Federal maximum contaminant level for four consecutive quarterly sampling events. During the third quarter, the
Company recognized a $3,300 charge made up of $2,000 for the settlement of the litigation, plus an increase in its
reserve for its soil and water remediation program of $1,300. As of December 31, 2007, the Company believes that
the range of potential-known liabilities associated with ACP contamination including the water and soil remediation
program, is approximately $3,700 to $5,600, for which the Company has sufficient reserves.

The low and high ends of the range are based on the length of operation of the two extraction wells as
determined by groundwater modeling with planned higher maintenance costs in later years if a longer treatment
period is required. Costs of operation include the operation and maintenance of the extraction wells, groundwater
monitoring, one-time expenses to insure P-3 is hydraulically containing the PERC plume and program
management. The duration of the well operation was estimated based on historical trends in concentrations in the
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monitoring wells within the proximity of the applicable extraction wells. Also factored into the model was the
impact of water injected into the underground aquifer from a planned recharge basin adjacent to the ACP site as
well as from an injection well to be installed and operated by OCWD as part of the groundwater treatment system
for contaminants which are the subject of the aforementioned litigation. Based on the modeling, it is estimated
that P-2 will operate for three and half years to up to five years and P-3 wilt operate for six years to up to nine
years. Operation and maintenance costs were based on historical expenditures and estimated inflation. As
mentioned above, a significantly higher maintenance expense was factored into the range if the system operates
for the longer period. Also included in the reserve are anticipated expenditures to operate an on-site soil vapor
extraction system and amounts owed in basin fees for extracted water.

The Company believes, although there can be no assurance regarding the outcome of other unrelated
environmental matters, that it has made adequate accruals for costs associated with other environmental problems
of which it is aware. Approximately $159 and $134 was accrued at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006,
respectively, to provide for such anticipated future environmental assessments and remediation costs,

An inactive subsidiary of the Company that was acquired in 1978 sold certain products containing asbestos,
primarily on an installed basis, and is among the defendants in numerous lawsuits alleging injury due to exposure
1o asbestos. The subsidiary discontinued operations in 1991 and has no remaining assets other than the proceeds
from insurance settlements received in late 2005, late 2006 and in the second quarter of 2007. To date, the
overwheiming majority of these claims have been disposed of without payment and there have been no adverse
judgments against the subsidiary. Based on a continued analysis of the existing and anticipated future claims
against this subsidiary, it is currently projected that the subsidiary’s total liability over the next 50 years for these
claims is approximately $13,800 (excluding costs of defense). Although the Company has also been named as a
defendant in certain of these cases, no claims have been actively pursued against the Company, and the Company
has not contributed to the defense or settlement of any of these cases pursued against the subsidiary. These cases
were handled by the subsidiary’s primary and excess insurers who had agreed in 1997 to pay all defense costs
and be responsible for all damages assessed against the subsidiary arising out of existing and future asbestos
claims up to the aggregate limits of the policies. A significant portion of this primary insurance coverage was
provided by an insurer that is now insolvent, and the other primary insurers have asserted that the aggregate
limits of their policies have been exhausted. The subsidiary has challenged the applicability of these limits to the
claims being brought against the subsidiary. In response to this challenge, two of the three carriers entered into
separate settlement and release agreements with the subsidiary in late 2005 and in the first quarter of 2007 for
$15,000 and $20,000, respectively. The payments under the latest settlement and release agreement are structured
to be received over a four-year period with annual installments of $5,000, the first of which was received early in
the second quarter of 2007. The subsequent installments are contingent upon whether or not Federal asbestos
legislation is adopted by the due date of each annual installment. If Federal ashestos legislation is so enacted, and
such legislation eliminates the carrier’s obligation to make the installment payment and requires the carrier to
contribute into a trust or similar vehicle as a result of the policies issued to the subsidiary, then the insurance
carrier’s obligation to make the subsequent installments will be cancelled. The proceeds of both settlements are
restricted and can only be used to pay claims and costs of defense associated with the subsidiary’s asbestos
litigation. During the third quarter of 2007, the subsidiary and the remaining primary insurance carrier entered
into a Claim Handling and Funding Agreement, under which the carrier will pay 27% of defense and indemnity
costs incurred by or on behalf of the subsidiary in connection with asbestos bodily injury claims for a minimum
of five years beginning luly 1, 2007. At the end of the term of the agreement, the subsidiary may choose to again
pursue its claim against this insurer regarding the application of the policy limits. The Company also believes,
that if the coverage issues under the primary policies with the remaining carrier are resolved adversely to the
subsidiary and all settlement proceeds were used, the subsidiary may have limited additional coverage from a
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state guarantee fund established following the insolvency of one of the subsidiary’s primary insurers.
Nevertheless, liabilities in respect of claims may exceed the assets and coverage available to the subsidiary. See
also Notes 18 and 19 of Notes o Consolidated Financial Statements,

If the subsidiary’s assets and insurance coverage were to be exhausted, claimants of the subsidiary may
actively pursue claims against the Company because of the parent-subsidiary relationship. Although asbestos
litigation is particularly difficult to predict, especially with respect to claims that are currently not being actively
pursued against the Company, the Company does not believe that such claims would have merit or that the
Company would be held to have liability for any unsatisfied obligations of the subsidiary as a result of such
claims. After evaluating the nature of the claims filed against the subsidiary and the small number of such claims
that have resulted in any payment, the potential availability of additional insurance coverage at the subsidiary
level, the additional availability of the Company’s own insurance and the Company’s strong defenses to claims
that it should be held responsible for the subsidiary’s obligations because of the parent-subsidiary relationship,
the Company believes it is not probable that the Company will incur any material losses. All of the asbestos cases
pursued against the Company challenging the parent-subsidiary relationship are in the early stages of litigation.
The Company has been successful in the past having claims naming it dismissed during initial proceedings. Since
the Company may be in this early stage of litigation for some time, it is not possible to estimate additional losses
or range of loss, if any.

The Company is party to other litigation which management currently believes will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.

The Company leases certain manufacturing and office facilities and equipment under non-cancelable
operating leases with various terms from one to 15 years expiring in 2016. Rent expense for 2007, 2006 and 2005
was $4,239, $4,475 and $5,165, respectively. The Company’s minimum rental commitments under
non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2007, were approximately $4,220 in 2008, $3,060 in 2009,
$2,376 in 2010, $1,864 in 2011, $1,822 in 2012, and $5,846 thereafter.

Note 21—Quarterly Results (unaudited)

First Second Third® Fourth
2007
NetSales .. ..vvvvrreiiamaaei s $124,891 $137,598 $140,715 $142,393
Gross profit ........ ... . ..ol 38,546 42612 43,168 43,610
Operating inCome . ............oovivene 6,627 7,203 3,266 8,111
NEtINCOME .ottt i e e iereemee e 3,537 4,151 3,160 4,623
Net income per share—basic .............. $ 036 $ 042 $ 032 $§ 046
Net income per share—diluted . ........... $ 035 $§ 041 $ 031 §$ 046
2006
Netsales ..., .vverieenniiinnnnnnnnns $109,816 $118,683  $116425 $115,527
Grossprofit ...... ... iieiinanns 32,485 36,065 36,775 37,276
Operating income .. ..............c..u.n 5,123 6,276 5,290 4,943
NetinCOmE .. ..ot iitrier it eaieannnnes 2,542 2,992 3,139 2,994
Net income per share—basic.............. $ 026 $ 031 $ 032 $ 030
Net income per share—diluted ............ $ 026 $ 030 $ 032 $ 030

{1} See Note 2 of Notes to Conselidated Financial Staternents.
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Item 9, Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures.
Conclusion regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive
officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“1934 Act”). Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this
annual report.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Quaker is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated under the 1934 Act. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In
making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSQ") in Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Based on its
assessment, Quaker's management has concluded that as of December 31, 2007, the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in
their report which is included in “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Changes in Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting

The Company is in the process of implementing a global ERP system, At the end of 2007, subsidiaries
representing more than 75% of consolidated revenue were operational on the global ERP system. Additional
subsidiaries and CMS sites are planned to be implemented during 2008. The Company is taking the necessary
sleps to monitor and maintain the appropriate internal controls during this period of change.

Item9B.  Other Information.

None.




PARTIII

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Incorporated by reference is (i) the information beginning immediately following the caption “Proposal 1—
Election of Directors and Nominee Biographies” in the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 7, 2008 to be filed-with the SEC no later than 120 days after the
close of its fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 (the “2008 Proxy Statement”) to, but not including the caption
“Corporate Governance,” (ii) the information appearing in Item 4(a) of this Report, (iii) the information in the
2008 Proxy Statement beginning with and including the sub-caption, “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” to, but not including the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions,” and
(iv) the information in the 2008 Proxy Statement beginning with and including the sub-caption “Code of
Conduct” to, but not including the caption “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Incorporated by reference is the information in the 2008 Proxy Statement beginning with and including the
caption “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” to, but not including the caption “Stock
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management.”

Item 12, Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matrters.

Incorporated by reference is the information in the 2008 Proxy Statement beginning immediately foliowing
the caption “Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” to, but not including the
sub-caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

The following table sets forth certain information relating to the Company’s equity compensation plans as
of December 31, 2007, Each number of securities reflected in the table is a reference to shares of Quaker
common stock.

Equity Compensation Plans

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities remaining

Number of securities available for future issuance
to be issued upon under equity
exercise of Weighted-average exercise compensation plans
outstanding options, price of cutstanding (excluding securities reflected
Plan Category warrants and rights  options, warrants and rights in column (a))

(a) (b) (€)
Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders ............. 1,033,175 21.36 1,096,626

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders .. ... e

Total ...... ..o 1,033,175 21.36 1,096,626

(1) As of December 31, 2007, 359,750 of these shares were available for issuance as restricted stock awards
under the Company’s 2001 Global Annual Incentive Plan, 690,550 shares were available for issuance upon
the exercise of stock options and/or as restricted stock awards under the Company’s 2006 Long-Term
Performance Incentive Plan, and 46,326 shares were available for issuance under the 2003 Director Stock
Ownership Plan.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence.

Incorporated by reference is the information in the 2008 Proxy Statement beginning immediately foltowing
the sub-caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” to, but not including, the caption “Proposal 2—
Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” and the additional information in the 2008
Proxy Statement beginning with and including the sub-caption “Director Independence” to, but not including the
sub-caption “Governance Committee Procedures for Selecting Director Nominees.”

Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Incorporated by reference is the information in the 2008 Proxy Statement beginning with and including the
sub-caption “Audit Fees” to, but not including the statement recommending a vote for ratification of the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

1. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Page
Financial Statements:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . ........ ... ... . o i i, 28
Consolidated Statement of INCOME . . . ... ..ot it i ittt et i e 29
Consolidated Balance Sheel . ... ..o vri i i ittt e e e e 30
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows . . ... .. . i ittt ittt aaenees 31
Consolidated Statement of Shareholders” Equity . ... o i e 32
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ... .. ... ... ettt e e anaas 33

2. Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto. Financial statements of 50% or less owned companies have been omitted
because none of the companies meets the criteria requiring inclusion of such statements.

3. Exhibits (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation 8-K)

3G)— Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation dated July 16, 1990. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3(a) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 1996.

3(i) — By-laws as amended through May 6, 1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(b) as filed by
Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 1998.

4— Shareholder Rights Plan dated March 6, 2000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to Form 8-K as
filed by the Registrant on March 7, 2000.

10.1 — Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan as approved May 5, 1993. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(a) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 1993 *

102 — Employment Agreement by and between the Registrant and Ronald J. Naples dated August 14, 1995.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10¢i) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 1995 *

103 — Amendment to the Stock Option Agreement dated October 2, 1995 by and between the Registrant
and Ronald J. Naples. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(j) as filed by Registrant with Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1995.*

10.4 — Employment Agreement by and between Registrant and Jos Luiz Bregolato dated June 14, 1993,
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(k) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 1995.*

10.5— Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated January 1, 1997 by and between Registrant and
Ronald J. Naples. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(0) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K
for the year 1997.*

10.6 — Amendment No. | to 1995 Naples Restricted Stock Plan and Agreement dated January 21, 1998 by
and between Registrant and Ronald J. Naples. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(p) as filed by
Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 1997.*
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10.7 —

10.8 —

10.9 —

10.10 —

10.11 —

10,12 —

10.13 —

10.14 —

10.15 —

10.16 —

10,17 —

10.18 —

10.19 —

10.20 —

Employment Agreement by and between Registrant and Ronald J. Naples dated March 11, 1999,
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(1) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year
1998.*

Employment Agreement by and between Registrant and Michael F. Barry dated November 30,
1998. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(u) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year
1968 *

1999 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan as approved May 12, 1999, effective January 1, 1999,
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{dd) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the
year 1999.*

Deferred Compensation Plan as adopted by the Registrant dated December 17, 1999, effective July
1, 1997. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ff) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the
year 1999.%

Supplemental Retirement Income Program adopted by the Registrant on November 6, 1984, as
amended November 8, 1989. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(gg) as filed by Registrant
with Form 10-K for the year 1999.*

2001 Global Annual Incentive Plan as approved May 9, 2001, effective January 1, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit10(hh) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year
2001 .*

2001 Long-Term Performance Incentive Flan as approved May 9, 2001, effective January 1, 2001.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ii) as filed by Registrant with Form 10-K for the year
2001.*

Agreement of Lease between Quaker Park Associates, L.P. and Quaker Chemical Corporation
dated Pecember 19, 2000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(jj) as filed by Registrant with
Form 10-K for the year 2001.*

2003 Director Stock Ownership Plan as approved May 14, 2003. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10{ww) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 2003.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and D. Jeffry Benoliel dated June 10,
2004, effective May 14, 2004, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(yy) as filed by the
Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and Mark Featherstone dated June 10,
2004, effective May 14, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(zz) as filed by the Registrant
with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and Jose Luiz Bregolato, dated June 23,
2004, effective May 14, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(aaa) as filed by the
Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

Amendment No. 1 to Employment Agreement dated March 11, 1999 between Registrant and
Ronald J. Naples, effective July 21, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ccc) as filed by
the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 *

Employment Agreement by and between Registrant and Neal E. Murphy, effective July 22, 2004,
Incarporated by reference to Exhibit 10(ddd) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004 *
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10.21 —

1022 —

10.23 —

10.24 —

10.25 —

10.26 —

10.27 —

10.28 —

10.29 —

10.30 —

10.31 —

10.32 —

10.33 —

10.34 —

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and Neal E. Murphy, effective July 22,
2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(eee) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

1995 Naples Supplemental Retirement Income Program and Agreement (as amended and restated
effective May 14, 2004) between Registrant and Ronald J. Naples dated August 4, 2004.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(fff) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and Michael F. Barry, effective May 14,
2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(hhh) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2004.*

Credit Agreement between Registrant and Bank of America, N.A. and ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.
and Banc of America Securities, in the amount of $100,000,000, dated October 14, 2005.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(jjj) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 2005.

Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan (Amended and Restated as of May 5, 2004). Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10(kkk) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 2005.*

Amendment One to Registrant’s 2001 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan, effective February
22, 2005. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 as filed by Registrant with Form 8-K filed on
March 15, 2005.*

Form of Stock Opticn Agreement for associates under Registrant’s 2001 Long-Term Performance
Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 as filed by Registrant with Form 8-K filed
on March 15, 2005.*

Settlement Agreement and Release between Registrant, an inactive subsidiary of the Registrant,
and Hartford Accident and Indemmity Company dated December 12, 2005. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(nnn) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K for the year 2005.

Amendment to Registrant’s Deferred Compensation Plan for key officers dated December 20,
2005. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 as filed by Registrant with Form 8-K filed on
December 22, 2005.%

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for executive ofticers and other employees under
Registrant’s 2001 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
as filed by Registrant with Form 8-K filed on March 6, 2006.*

2001 Global Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated incorporated by reference to
Appendix D to the Corporation’s definitive proxy statement filed on March 31, 2006.*

2006 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix E to the
Corporation’s definitive proxy statement filed on March 31, 2006.*

Form of Stock Option Agreement provided for associates under the Registrant’s 2006 Long-Term
Performance Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 as filed by Registrant with
Form 8-K filed on May 12, 2006.*

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for executive officers and other employees under
Registrant’s 2006 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10
as filed by Registrant with Form 8-K filed on June 27, 2006.*
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10.35 —

10.36 —

10.37 —

10.38 —

10.39 —

10.40 —

1041 —

10.42 —

10.43 —

10.44 —

10.45 —

10.46 —

1047 —

21 —

Employment Agreement by and between Quaker Chemical Limited, a UK company and a
subsidiary of Registrant, and Mark A. Harris, dated Aungust 8, 2006. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10 as filed by the Registrant with Form 8-K filed on August §, 2006.*

Employment Agreement by and between L. Willem Platzer and Quaker Chemical B.V., a
Netherlands corporation and a subsidiary of Registrant, dated August 21, 2006. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10 as filed by the Registrant with Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2006.*

2006 Long-Term Performance Incentive Plan (amended and restated effective November 8, 2006).
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(www) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K for the
year coded 2006.*

Amended and Restated Supplemental Retirement Income Program approved on November 8, 2006,
1o be effective January 1, 2005. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(xxx) as filed by the
Registrant with Form 10-K for the year ended 2006.*

Financing Agreement by and among Montgomery County Industrial Development Authority and
Registrant and Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. dated Febrvary 1, 2007. Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(yyy) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-K {for the year ended 2006.

Settlement Agreement and Release between Registrant, an inactive subsidiary of Registrant and
Federal Insurance Company dated March 26, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(zzz) as
filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and L. Willem Platzer dated April 2,
2007, effective January 1, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(aaaa) as filed by the
Registrant with Form 10-Q for the guarter ended March 31, 2007.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Quaker Chemical Limited, a UK company and a
subsidiary of Registrant, and Mark A. Harris dated April 10, 2007, effective January 1, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(bbbb) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2007.*

Change in Control Agreement by and between Registrant and Jan F. Nieman dated June 27, 2007,
effective January 1, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 (cccc) as filed by the Registrant
with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007.*

Memorandum of Employment dated June 28, 2007 between Registrant and Mark A. Featherstone,
effective April 9, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 as filed by the Registrant with
Form 8-K filed on July 2, 2007.*

Second Amendment to Syndicated Multicurrency Credit Agreement between Registrant and Bank
of America, N A. and certain other financial institutions. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10{eeee) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2007.

Claim Handling and Funding Agreement between SB Decking, Inc., an inactive subsidiary of
Registrant, and Employers Insurance Company of Wausau dated September 25, 2007. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10(ffff) as filed by the Registrant with Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2007.

Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release entered into between AC Products, Inc., wholly owned
subsidiary of Registrant, and Orange County Water District, effective November 8§, 2007.

Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Registrant

70




23— Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31— Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

31.2 — Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Company pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

21— Cenrtification of Ronald J. Naples pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

322 — Centification of Mark A. Featherstone pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

* This exhibit is a management contract or compensation plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit
to this Report.

(b) Exhibits required by Regulation 601 S-K
See (a) 3 of this Item 15

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

See (a) 2 of this Item 15
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thercunto duly
authorized.

QUAKER CHEMICAL CORPORATION
Registrant

By: /s!  RONALD J. NAPLES

Ronald J. Naples
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 7, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures Capacity D_ats
/s/ RONALD J. NAPLES Principal Executive Officer and March 5, 2008
Ronald J. Naples Director

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ MARK A. FEATHERSTONE Principal Financial Officer March 5, 2008

Mark A. Featherstone
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

/s/  GEORGE H. HILL Principal Accounting Officer March 5, 2008

George H. Hill
Globat Controller

fsf  JOsErH B. ANDERSON, JR. Director March 5, 2008
Joseph B. Anderson, Jr.

fs/ PATRICIA C. BARRON Director March 5, 2008

Patricia C. Barron

/s/ DoNALD R. CALDWELL Director March 5, 2008
Donald R. Caldwell

Director March , 2008
Robert E. Chappell
fs/  WiLLIaM R, CooK Director March 5, 2008
William R. Cook
/s/ EDWIN J. DELATTRE Director March 5, 2008
Edwin J. Delattre
/5! JEFFrRY D. FRISBY Director March 5, 2008
Jeffry D. Frisby
fs/ RoBERT H. Rock Director March 5, 2008

Robert H. Rock

72




SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES OF THE REGISTRANT

EXHIBIT 21

Percentage of

voting securities
owned directly or

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation indirectly by Quaker
*Quaker Chemical Corporation ........................ Delaware, U.S.A. 100%
+*Quaker Chemical ManagementInc. .................. Delaware, U.S.A. 100%
+5B Decking, Inc. (formerly Selby, Battersby &Co.) ....... Delaware, U.S.A. 100%
¥ACProducts, Inc. .. ... . e California, U.S.A. 100%
*Epmar Corporation ..............uuriiiriaernnnennn. California, U.S.A. 100%
+*Quaker QP Inc. .......... ... . ... e Pennsylvania, U.S.A. 100%
*Quaker Automotive Italia, Srl. ... Lo Ttaly 100%
*Quaker Chemical Europe B.V. ... ... ... .. ... Holland 100%
*Quaker Chemical BV, ..., ... .. ., Holland 100%
*Quaker Chemical (China) Co. Ltd. .................... China 100%
*Quaker China Holdings B.V. ........................ Holland 100%
*Quaker Chemical Canada Limited ..................... Ontario, Canada 100%
*Quaker Chemical Hungary Ltd.  ...................... Hungary 100%
*Quaker Chemical Limited ... ......................... United Kingdom 100%
*Quaker Chemical S.A. ... ... . . e France 100%
*Quaker Chemical, S.A. ... ... ... o ooiiila Spain 100%
+¥QuakerDenmark ApS ........ ... .l Denmark 100%
*Quaker Chemical S.A. ... ... .. i Argentina 100%
+*Quaker Chemical Participacoes, Lida.  ..............., Brazil 100%
*Quaker Chemical Limited ... ...... ... ... ......., .. Hong Kong 100%
*Quaker Chemical Holdings South Africa (Pty) Limited . . . .. Republic of South Africa 100%
*Quaker Italia, S.ell. . Italy 100%
*Quaker Australia Holdings Pty. Limited . .. .............. Victoria, Australia 100%
*Quaker Shanghai Trading Company Limited ............. China 100%
*Q2 Technologies, LLC ....... ... ... ..o, Nevada, U.S.A. 0%
*Quaker Chemical Industria e ComercioLtda. ........... Brazil 100%
*Quaker Chemical Operacoes, Lida.  ................... Brazil 100%
*Wuxi Quaker Chemical Co., Ltd, ..................... China 100%
*Quaker Chemical India Limited ....................... India 55%
*Quaker Chemical (Australasia) Pty. Limited ............. New South Wales, Australia 51%
*Quaker Chemical South Africa(Pty)Led. ... Lo Republic of South Africa 51%
*Quaker Chemical Corporation Mexico, S.A.de C.V. ...... Mexico 100%
*Quaker Chemical HR Mexico, S.A.deC.V. ... . ....... Mexico 100%
**Quaker Park Associates, LP ................ ... .. ... Pennsylvania, U.S.A. 50%
**Nippon Quaker Chemical, Ltd. ...................... Japan 50%
**Kelko Quaker Chemical, S A, ....................... Venezuela 50%

40%

**TecniQuimia Mexicana S.A, de C.V, ................. Mexico

+ A non-operating company.
*  Included in the consolidated financial statements.
**  Accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method.




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3
(Registration No. 333-19957) and on Form S-8 (Registration Nos. 002-57924, 033-54158, 333-26793,
333-88229, 333-48130, 333-58676, 333-65400, 333-104354, 333-115713 and 333-136648) of Quaker Chemical
Corporation of our report dated March 7, 2008 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of
internal control over financiat reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

fs/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Philadelphia, PA
March 7, 2008




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF THE COMPANY PURSUANT TO RULE

13A-14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Ronald J. Naples, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual repert on Form 10-K of Quaker Chemical Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)} and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such interna! control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

{d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2008

/s/ RONALD J. NAPLES

Ronald J. Naples
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF THE COMPANY PURSUANT TO RULE
13A-14(A) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Mark A. Featherstone, certify that:
1. 1have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Quaker Chemical Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
exlernal purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal contro! over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likety to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

{b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 7, 2008

/s/ MARK A. FEATHERSTONE

Mark A. Featherstone
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Form 10-K Annual Report of Quaker Chemical Corporation (the
“Company”) for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2008
/s/ RONALD J. NAPLES

Ronald J. Naples
Chief Execative Officer of Quaker Chemical Corporation




EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

The undersigned hereby certifies that the Form 10-K Annual Report of Quaker Chemical Corporation (the
“Company”) for the annual period ended December 31, 2007 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: March 7, 2008

/sf MARK A. FEATHERSTONE

Mark A. Featherstone
Chief Financial Officer of Quaker Chemical Corporation
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